# Contemporary Vocal Pedagogy and the Singer-Songwriter: Towards a Toolkit of Physical Approaches to Performance Training

**Katherine Blair** 

**MA by Research** 

**University of York** 

Music

**August 2022** 

# Abstract

'The body and music are intrinsically bound together, especially within the live performance context.'

(Davidson, 2017, p. 223)

The 'singer-songwriter' is unique as the only category of singer to create and perform their own music, the broader sense of this term including solo performers and those who sing as part of a band. Since the rise of the popular music degree in the 1990s, questions of what and how we should teach the popular musician have been present. This practitioner research asks how we might address the training needs of the singer-songwriter and what those needs might be. Although the roles of the singer-songwriter are 'performance-centred' (Moir & Medbøe, 2015, p.147), higher popular music education does traditionally focus on performance skills (Pipe, 2018). As a vocal teacher, I am involved in a constant process of developing my practice in order to best serve the needs of the singer in front of me. This research highlights and responds to a lack of performance pedagogy within popular singing discourse. It explores the performance roles of the singer-songwriter as popular artist and how relevant skills might be developed in training. Through the practical exploration of the movement techniques of Rudolf Laban and Michael Chekhov, this research looks to other performance disciplines in search of physical approaches to the development of performance skills in the singer-songwriter and suggests tools that teachers and singers might apply. Themes emerging from this practical research include the interrelationship between the physical, the vocal, and the emotional and the ways in which it is possible to embody performance. Drawing on primary, practical research and secondary knowledge sources from a range of fields, the centrality of the body to the communication of meaning and how this might impact singer-songwriter performance pedagogy is explored.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract				
Table o	f Contents	3		
List of	Tables	5		
Chapte	r One: Introduction	7		
1.1	The Background	7		
1.2	Terminology	11		
1.3	Aims and Objectives	11		
1.4	Methodology	12		
1.5	Value	12		
1.6	Limitations	13		
1.7	Structure	13		
Chapte	r Two: Literature Review	14		
2.1	Vocal Pedagogy – Towards a Definition	14		
2.2	The Emergence of Popular Singing Training	15		
2.3	A Genre in its own Right?	16		
2.4	Teacher Training	17		
2.5	The Development of Contemporary Vocal Pedagogy — Where are we now?	18		
2.6	Holistic Approaches: Training the Body	19		
2.7	Physical Tools	21		
2.8	Performance Pedagogy	22		
2.9	The 'Authentic' Popular Artist	24		
2.10	Singer-Songwriter Training	26		
2.11	Future Pathways	28		
Chapte	r Three: Practice Review	32		
3.1	Rudolf Laban	32		
3.2	Lineage and Development	34		
3.3	Michael Chekhov	38		
3.4	Reflections	42		
Chapte	r Four: Research Design and Methodology	44		
4.1	Research Approach	44		
4.2	The Survey Strategy	45		
4.3	Survey Design	46		

4.4	Aims and Questions	51
4.5	Practitioner-Research	51
4.6	Methodology	53
4.7	Studio Research	54
4.8	The Reflective Process	57
4.9	Data	58
4.10	Issues and Limitations	59
4.11	Research Integrity and Ethics	60
4.12	Summary	62
Chapte	r Five: Study One	63
5.1	The Teacher Survey	63
5.2	The Singer Survey	66
Chapte	r Six: Study Two	71
6.1	Introduction	71
6.2	Exploratory Sessions	71
6.3	The Participants	72
6.4	The Warm-Up	74
6.5	The Practical Sessions	77
6.5	.1 SESSION ONE: Free Movement	77
6.5	.2 SESSION TWO: Laban's Effort Actions	79
6.5	.3 SESSION THREE: Whole-body Gesture	81
6.5	.4 SESSION FOUR: Chekhov Practice	84
6.6	Reflections	87
6.7	Towards a Toolkit	98
Chapte	r Seven: Conclusions	102
7.1	What Now?	103
7.2	The Wider Context	105
7.3	Final Thoughts	107
Append	dices	109
Appei	ndix 1: Evaluation of Studio Sessions Questionnaire/Completed Questionnaires	109
Appei	ndix 2: Info Sheet	109
Appei	ndix 3: Consent Form	109
Appei	ndix 4: Survey Data	109
Арреі	ndix 5: Link to Video Recordings	109
Refere	nces	110

# List of Tables

Table 1: Laban's Effort Actions	33
Table 2: Toolkit of Physical Approaches	99

# **Declaration**

I declare that this thesis is a presentation of original work and I am the sole author. This work has not previously been presented for an award at this, or any other, University. All sources are acknowledged as References.

# **Chapter One: Introduction**

# 1.1 The Background

I am a singing teacher working with undergraduate vocalists on a music (songwriting and performance) degree course. The institution at which I teach is a HE-level provider of performing arts and creative courses with a practical focus. I work with singer-songwriters in a one-to-one tutorial setting across the three years of the degree course. All the students I currently teach aim to work professionally as singersongwriters/artist-songwriters and span a range of contemporary styles including pop, rock, soul and country. They perform in a range of contexts including solo and as part of a band. An hour-long weekly vocal tutorial is provided for students in each year of the degree course, alongside a range of group classes focusing on other areas of the curriculum, including songwriting/music creation, music production, musicianship skills and business skills. When working with first and second year students my role as vocal tutor has various aspects within the overarching areas of vocal technique and performance technique. I do not teach songwriting. My initial aim is to ensure that vocal use is safe and healthy. Any significant vocal habits in the individual singer with the potential to negatively impact vocal health would be tackled as a priority. If I observe there to be an existing vocal health issue I advise the singer to immediately seek a referral to a voice clinic in order to be checked by a medical professional. I consider knowledge of vocal health and rehabilitation to be an important part of my practice and have completed a number of courses led by speech therapists and rehabilitation coaches. This knowledge allows me to more easily recognize vocal issues so that I am able to direct individual singers to the relevant professional and also informs the way I approach singing technique within my teaching practice.

My goal over the three years of training is for students to develop a healthy and efficient vocal technique, which can be integrated with their own individual vocal style. Having a recognizable or unique vocal sound is particularly important to many singersongwriters (Reinhert, 2019) and this can be developed and supported through healthy vocal practices. Alongside my focus on functional singing training there are many other elements of my practice within the vocal tutorial, dependent on individual need. This includes exploration of the stylistic features and requirements of different genres of popular singing such as various onsets and offsets of sound, vocal embellishments such as riffs, improvisation and different vocal set ups. I also integrate the study of scales and modes within this work on style and improvisation.

The other major aspect of my work within the vocal studio is the development of performance skills. Depending on individual need this can involve building performance confidence, applying performance anxiety strategies and the exploration of performance from various perspectives such as storytelling, communication of emotion and physical and vocal expression. For singer-songwriters microphone technique also features within training. I view this as separate from the fundamentals of vocal technique, as a microphone amplifies and may add effects to the voice but it is the vocal mechanism that produces the sound. The use of amplification is an established part of popular singing however, and good microphone technique can greatly enhance a vocal performance. Many singer-songwriters also perform whilst playing an instrument and this is an additional aspect of performance training. Whilst work in the vocal studio may initially focus on the fundamentals and vocal and performance technique, by the final year of training the work centres on the realization of the singer-songwriter's individual vision as popular artist.

Bringing these aspects of the singer-songwriter together requires a holistic approach to training. I aim to facilitate an awareness and understanding of the ways in which lifestyle choices can impact the voice and the performer. I consider physical and mental well-being to link directly to vocal health and this is a major reason for the centrality of physical approaches to my practice. My vocal tutorials begin with a sequence of exercises targeting areas such as tension release, physical awareness, energy flow, positive alignment and breath connection. I encourage singers to build on this work outside of the studio by providing tension release sequences and encouraging physical practices such as yoga.

The physical aspects of my practice are also influenced by my own training background as an actor, in which I was introduced to movement-based practices such as those of Laban and Chekhov, whose work is explored within this research. This background is important in terms of my positionality as researcher. Acting training assumes the body to be vital as an expressive tool within performance and I believe this to be true of all forms of performance, including singer-songwriter performance. This does not mean that I expect a singer to necessarily use the body in the same way as an actor. There are many forms of performing art and many styles of performance within the overarching category of popular music. The performance requirements of the singer-songwriter will depend on factors including style of music, artist persona and gig type and setting, ranging from intimate acoustic gigs to festival and arena gigs. However, having experienced varied performance types as both

performer and audience member, I have observed that emotion and energy can be communicated to the audience through the body, even when the body is still. Artistsongwriter Yungblud has expressed that, for them, live performance is about the connection to the audience, which they describe as a wire (Barrow, 2022). Yungblud's energetic performance style, influenced by artists such as Lady Gaga and Marilyn Manson (Johnston, 2019) is highly physical and the role of the body is therefore clear. I would argue, however, that the physical presence and energy of a performer is always a central part of connecting with an audience. The type of energy will depend on the artist and style but even in electronic dance music where performance is likely to be limited, the producer or DJ connects with the audience and influences their experience through their physicality and energy. The question of how we might develop this kind of communication between artist and audience is at the root of this research project. In the search for tools I looked to my own cross-disciplinary performance training. Having personally experienced the effects of the techniques of Laban and Chekhov in creating physical and emotional connection, I began this research project from a position of expectation that they might be effectively modified for use with singer-songwriters.

Alongside this enthusiasm of practice this research also responds to the limited discourse around performance pedagogy for the singer-songwriter, particularly the physical aspects of training. This may be linked to the perception that because the singer-songwriter is telling a story that is likely to be personal to them they do not require the performance techniques and tools utilized by the classical singer and musical theatre performer (Edwards, 2018). Certainly the performance context of the singer-songwriter differs from other singers and this is one of the reasons for my specific focus on this category of singer. Musical Theatre is typically included within contemporary styles of singing in the pedagogical literature. As a practitioner working with both popular and Musical Theatre singers, I am very aware of the different training needs of these categories of singer. Although Musical Theatre encompasses some popular styles of singing, it also encompasses a large catalogue of work that shares greater similarities with classical styles of singing. Perhaps more significant is the difference in performance medium. The style of performance on a musical theatre stage is typically very different from that of a popular singing gig. Musicals are theatrical productions in which the singers are usually actors playing a character within a story. Although some popular artistes may tour shows which could be described as 'theatrical' in style, this is not necessarily typical of the singer-songwriter

gig, which can be naturalistic by comparison, depending on the artist and venue. Popular singers are likely to use a handheld microphone, whereas the microphone is usually worn by a musical theatre singer. This means that there is less need for microphone technique within Musical Theatre training. It is common for singersongwriters to also play an instrument in performance and this is less associated with musical theatre singers. However, there are many different forms and styles of Musical Theatre and some productions do use handheld microphones, for example, 'Six', 'Spring Awakening' and numerous 'Juke Box' musicals. Actor-musicians also feature in some musicals, such as 'Once', 'Return to the Forbidden Planet' and 'Amelie'. Although there may be some cross-over in the skills needed by musical theatre singers and popular singers, I would argue that the broader differences in performance style warrant different and specific approaches to training. Musical Theatre performers are generally playing a role and must bring the words and story of the librettist and lyricist to life. The singer-songwriter performs their own words and music and are more likely to move away from a theatrical style of performance, which might be perceived as diminishing their authenticity (Chalfin, 2017). The singersongwriter is, however, required to create, communicate and evoke an emotion or response (Hughes, 2014). This research aims to explore the specific performance needs of the singer-songwriter and possible methods for addressing these needs.

Research into this specific group of singers is also important in light of the rise of degree level training specific to the songwriter. A search on the Universities and Colleges Admissions Service in the UK (UCAS) website using the word 'songwriter' returns details of 18 undergraduate courses in the UK from 11 providers with the word 'songwriting' in the title for 2023 entry (UCAS). A search for 'contemporary music' at undergraduate level brings up 113 courses from 14 providers and it is likely that some of these courses also offer songwriting training. There may be many singer-songwriters who have not trained as performers and do not consider that they need such training. With training now increasingly being offered specific to singer-songwriters, however, it is vital for practitioners, such as myself, to continue to develop tools and methods geared towards this specific group. Whilst the performance style and context of the singer-songwriter may differ from other singers, training methods should address the development of the skills required to 'share and create music with the desired expressive output'. (Reinhert, 2019, p.131).

## 1.2 Terminology

Within the context of this research the term 'pedagogy' refers to the methods or practice of teaching. Within my specific teaching context and in this dissertation, the singer-songwriter or artist-songwriter is defined as a singer who writes and performs their own music. This includes the more traditional solo singer-songwriter and also the broader sense of the singer performing their own music as part of a band. The term 'contemporary' refers to non-classical styles of singing such as pop, rock, R & B, soul, gospel, hip-hop, jazz and country. The terms 'popular' and 'CCM' (Contemporary Commercial Music) will be used interchangeably with the term 'contemporary' and with the same meaning to reflect the terminology used within the discourse. All of these terms have associated issues. 'Contemporary' is a term also used to describe classical music, which is a possible source of confusion. 'Popular' has various meanings and could relate to culture or appeal. The term 'Contemporary Commercial Music', which emerged to replace the term 'non-classical', is often used within the literature but the use of the word 'commercial' has been questioned due to its potentially negative connotations. Although often included within the umbrella of CCM singing, I view Musical Theatre as an entirely different performance medium with its own specific training needs. Musical Theatre is therefore not included as a CCM style for the purposes of this research, which focuses specifically on the development of my practice with singer-songwriters. Within the context of this dissertation 'Performance skills' are defined as any skills associated with the communication of music within live and recorded performance settings. 'Performance technique' refers to ways of approaching performance that can be taught or replicated. 'Physical approaches' is used within this research to describe any form of exercise, technique or practice that involves active engagement of the body or some form of bodily movement. Individual exercises are also described as 'physical tools', which can form part of a 'toolkit' for use in the development of performance skills.

#### 1.3 Aims and Objectives

As practitioner research, the main aim of the project was the development of my own practice and related knowledge. The question underpinning the research was: how can physical approaches be used to develop performance skills in the singer-songwriter? Through the exploration of practice associated with other performance disciplines, specifically the physical approaches of Rudolf Laban and Michael Chekhov chosen due to my own prior training in their techniques as an actor, the aim

was to move towards the development of specific tools for use with singer-songwriters within a HE context. The objectives relating to this aim were:

- To explore the current state of contemporary vocal pedagogy through engagement with a range of discourse
- To explore the specific training needs of the singer-songwriter through engagement with a range of discourse
- To explore the physical approaches of Rudolf Laban and Michael Chekhov with singer-songwriters within a practical setting
- To reflect upon the potential uses of these approaches within singersongwriter performance training
- To examine discourse from a range of related fields as part of a wider reflective process in order to develop knowledge and understanding relating to my teaching practice

# 1.4 Methodology

In the initial stages of the project information was gathered via survey of singers and teachers regarding the content of HE level training for contemporary singers. This aided in focusing the research and establishing context and justification for the specific area chosen for exploration within the practical research study. The core of the research involved a series of practical studio sessions. The sessions were exploratory and collaborative in nature and qualitative feedback from participants was key. Engagement with a range of secondary knowledge sources informed my reflective process, which drew on frameworks such as Gibbs' reflective cycle (Gibbs, 1988) and Brookfield's critical lenses (Brookfield, 2017). Within this reflective process I aimed to understand why and how physical approaches might be effective within performance training, drawing on resonances between my area of teaching and other related areas of theory and research.

# 1.5 Value

The process was of value in the development of my own practice and knowledge and therefore it was also of benefit to my students. The participants were able to begin to develop physical tools for use in their own practice as performers. It is hoped that the suggested tools will also provide a useful starting point for other practitioners and singers in the development of their own physical approaches. My findings will also

highlight the need for further discourse and research specific to singer-songwriter performance training.

# 1.6 Limitations

Due to Covid restrictions at the time of the practical research, the number of participants was limited. The sessions took place in a one-to-one online setting, rather than the intended face-to-face group setting, which would have allowed for a greater number and more representative range of participants.

# 1.7 Structure

The literature review begins with a focus on vocal pedagogy and aims to establish the current context of contemporary singer training. It then moves to discourse relating specifically to the singer-songwriter and the wider context of popular music education. A practice review has also been included due to the cross-disciplinary nature of the research. This focuses on the work of Laban and Chekhov, whose physical approaches are explored within the practical research. Chapter four discusses the research design and methodology of the initial survey as 'Study one' and the practical research as 'Study two'. Chapter five discusses the Study one findings. Chapter six gives an account of Study two, detailing the practical research process and data with a focus on the voice of the participants. My own reflections draw on the experiences of the participants and my own observations in order to identify emerging themes and resonances with other areas of practice and research. A toolkit of exercises, which might be explored by singers and teachers is suggested. Conclusions are drawn regarding the impact of the research on my own practice and how this research might be taken further alongside reflections on future pathways within the wider field of singer-songwriter training.

# Chapter Two: Literature Review

This chapter reviews discourse relating to the wider field of vocal pedagogy and also literature specific to the popular singer and singer-songwriter. The main aim is to place this practitioner-research project within the current international context of popular singing pedagogy and singer-songwriter training. The term 'popular' is used interchangeably within the literature with other terms including contemporary, CCM (Contemporary Commercial Music) and pop/rock.

#### 2.1 Vocal Pedagogy – Towards a Definition

'Of all the musical instruments, the voice is the most holistic.' (Hoch, 2020, p.16)

Hoch advocates an holistic approach to vocal pedagogy and argues that, with the aim of singing authentically, the singer's whole being must be considered (Hoch, 2020). Classical pedagogues such as Sell also promote an approach that does not simply focus on vocal training (Sell, 2017), suggesting that the term 'vocal pedagogy' may be simplistic in that voice building is not the only aspect of a singer's training. In order to give a more rounded definition of 'vocal pedagogy', it is necessary to explore current thinking on the broad areas comprising singer training across all styles of singing.

The topic of vocal pedagogy and the roles of the vocal teacher is discussed by Gill and Herbst in their Logopedics Phoniatrics Vocology article, Voice Pedagogy what do we need? (Gill & Herbst, 2016). In it, they summarise the discussion of the final keynote panel of the 10th Pan-European Voice Conference (PEVOC). PEVOC is a series of highly regarded, biannual European conferences established in 1995 as an interdisciplinary voice forum through which to exchange findings and research. The panel consisted of five prominent scientists and voice pedagogues from the UK, USA, Germany and Austria. This included LoVetri, who is perhaps the most wellknown CCM pedagogue and whose work spans both musical theatre and popular styles of singing. They proposed the three main areas of vocal pedagogy to be rehabilitation, coaching and voice building. 'Voice building' was described as primarily comprising the 'functional and physiological aspects of singing' and 'Coaching' as mostly concerned with performance skills (Gill & Herbst, 2016, p. 169). Rehabilitation and retraining of the singing voice were discussed within the contexts of vocal damage or injury and voice disorder. Gill and Herbst report that these were seen as three distinct areas of vocal pedagogy.

Organisations such as the British Voice Association (BVA) also support a similar three-part model to that discussed at PEVOC. The BVA describes its role as providing education and advice on vocal technique, performance and vocal health (British Voice Association).

Vocal health is a closely related area to vocal rehabilitation but is a better fit within the singing teacher's role. Vocal rehabilitation is arguably outside of the remit of the singing teacher and falls within the roles of professionals such as the Speech and Language Therapist or Rehabilitation Coach.

#### 2.2 The Emergence of Popular Singing Training

This three-part model is not genre-specific and this particular PEVOC panel included classical and contemporary singing pedagogues Chapman and LoVetri. The inclusion of LoVetri suggests a recognition of non-classical vocal pedagogy. The growth of popular singing training and the emergence of courses at Higher Education level in the UK, the United States and Australia is evidenced within the literature. Schindler highlights the growth of music courses within popular styles, particularly from the mid-1990s onwards (Schindler, 2014) and Bartlett identifies a rapid growth in demand for singing training across contemporary styles due, in part, to the influence of social media and reality TV (Bartlett, 2020). Chandler also discusses popular singing within its context as the newest of singing styles to be introduced to music institutions and considers genre-specific pedagogy to be in its early days (Chandler, 2014).

Following this emergence of popular music courses and the increased demand for contemporary singing training, how have institutions dealt with staffing and teacher training within a relatively new area? LoVetri and Weekly's research is able to shed some light on this. In their 2003 Contemporary Commercial Music survey and 2009 follow-up, the question of 'Who's Teaching What in Nonclassical Music?' is addressed (LoVetri & Weekly, 2003, p. 207). Responses were gathered via survey from singing teachers throughout the United States and several other countries. The first survey had 139 respondents and the follow-up survey had 145 respondents. Although there is a focus on Musical Theatre, which is included as a contemporary style, it is significant that the 2003 survey found that: 'Of those teaching this style of CCM, 96% were also teaching classical' (LoVetri & Weekly, 2003, p. 211). LoVetri and Weekly also reported that a number of teachers were conflicted about the disciplines of classical and CCM in various ways. They suggest that this is because of a lack of

agreement amongst experts on basic vocal functions for CCM.

LoVetri and Weekly's research suggests, then, that as the demand for different styles of singing training grew, teachers of classical singing began to teach contemporary styles. This had implications for the effectiveness of teaching as classical teachers may have lacked specific knowledge and experience of contemporary singing and methods of teaching relating to classical singing may therefore have been employed. The traditional mentor-student model of voice instruction, for example, was brought from the classical tradition into other genres. Edwards and Meyer assert that, due to the influence of this model, most singing teachers teach in the manner in which they themselves were taught and that this approach may prevent teachers from adapting to best serve singers' needs (Edwards & Meyer, 2014). This has significant implications for the quality and suitability of training offered to contemporary singers at this time. Classical teachers using the same techniques that their own teachers had used were unlikely to adequately address the needs of popular singing students. The classical sound, and therefore vocal set up, is different from that of the popular singer. Classical singers also do not generally use amplification and the classical technique is designed in order that the voice can carry over an orchestra. This is not appropriate for most popular vocalists who use microphones and do not want to sound like a classical singer. Of course 'stylistic pluralism' is possible and many singing teachers now teach across classical and non-classical genres (Fahey, 2021). However, I would suggest that, at this time, there was a bias towards classical pedagogy, which was seen as 'proper' or 'good' technique. The bias towards classical approaches within the wider field of music education has been highlighted within the popular music discourse (Marrington, 2016; Bennett, 2017).

#### 2.3 A Genre in its own Right?

The bias towards classical pedagogy is perhaps understandable at a time when there was limited consensus regarding the parameters of contemporary voice. In fact, during the late nineties and early 2000s, contemporary singing pedagogy, arguably, did not exist. It was not until 2008 that The American Academy of Teachers of Singing published a position paper, *In Support of Contemporary Commercial Music (Nonclassical) Voice Pedagogy* (Addison et al., 2008). The decision to publish this paper suggests that, even as this time, there was opposition within the field of voice to the idea that popular singing was a distinct area worthy of a specific pedagogy.

The term CCM (Contemporary Commercial Music) was coined by pedagogue LoVetri in 2000 to replace the term 'non-classical' (Winter). LoVetri has since continued her campaign for greater recognition of contemporary pedagogy and the term CCM is now used widely. The 2008 AATS paper did acknowledge the requirement for a systematic and specific approach for CCM voice training and Bartlett and Naismith assert that today 'there is wide acceptance that the sound production inherent in contemporary commercial music (CCM) singing styles differs greatly from accepted, classical vocal practice', including vocal quality/tone and style-related elements (Bartlett & Naismith, 2020, p. 273).

#### 2.4 Teacher Training

If contemporary singing is now accepted as a distinct genre in its own right, has this resulted in the development of a CCM-specific vocal pedagogy? At the time of LoVetri and Weekly's 2003 research they report that it had recently become possible in the US to acquire an undergraduate or postgraduate qualification in vocal performance and in vocal pedagogy (LoVetri & Weekly, 2003) However, these courses were 'primarily aimed at classical vocal music' (LoVetri & Weekly, 2003, p. 208). Their research suggested that this situation was changing as schools of music and conservatories were beginning to add commercial music departments. However, there were no schools offering contemporary commercial vocal pedagogy courses at this time. LoVetri and Weekly's follow-up research in 2009 found no significant changes.

LoVetri and Weekly's research suggests that in 2009 there was very little HE level training available to contemporary singers and teachers. Moving forward to De Silva's survey in 2016, it was found that, at this time, there were three schools in the US offering advanced degrees in CCM Vocal Pedagogy. De Silva surveyed 62 singing teachers as a follow-up to the surveys of 2003 and 2009. The questions were drawn largely from LoVetri and Weekly's 2009 survey with some rewording to place greater focus on CCM vocal pedagogy. De Silva's research found an increase in pedagogical training in CCM at the graduate level. He also reported an increased number of contemporary singing teachers with both graduate-level training and performance experience. This increase was small, however, and the majority of training had been undertaken via private tuition or independent study. Reinhert asserts that, at the time of writing in 2019, only one programme in the United States offered a graduate degree in contemporary vocal pedagogy and that most vocal programmes in higher education

have been rooted in classical pedagogy since its emergence in the nineteenth century (Reinhert, 2019). Reinhert also states that there are 'few avenues in the United States for developing popular music pedagogies for voice or more broadly' (Reinhert, 2019, p. 135). This suggests that a bias towards classical pedagogy still exists in relation to both vocal training and wider field of music education. Benson states that there are only two university programmes in the US with graduate degrees in non-classical voice pedagogy, of which one centres on popular singing and one on musical theatre (Benson, 2020). Although the growth in demand for CCM training resulted in many universities adding courses in popular music and contemporary voice it would seem that, 'many of these same educational institutions have been slow to develop complementary training programs for singing voice teachers' (Bartlett, 2020, p. 3). There is a situation, then, where demand for specialist CCM teachers has increased but postgraduate training for non-classical teachers has not increased sufficiently to meet this demand and there is currently a lack of effective pedagogy programmes for CCM teachers (Bartlett, 2020).

#### 2.5 The Development of Contemporary Vocal Pedagogy — Where are we now?

Following their 2003 survey, LoVetri and Weekly drew conclusions as to what was now needed in order to provide sufficient training to contemporary vocal teachers. This included consistent vocal production information, increased knowledge of voice science and voice medicine and more research into efficacy and safety of methodology. So are we now at a stage where there is consistency of CCM-specific information based on reliable research?

Bartlett's 2020 *Voice and Speech Review* article tackles the subject of CCM teacher training. She states that 'much has been written concerning the differences in voice production parameters for singers of classical and contemporary commercial music (CCM)' (Bartlett, 2020, p. 185). She sets out the differences between classical and contemporary styles in areas including larynx setting, abdominal release, width of pharynx, phrasing, register use, language use and vibrato. Similarly, in her chapter on teaching popular music styles in *Singing Teaching in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century*, Chandler includes a table of fundamental differences between classical and contemporary singing. She details some similar areas to Bartlett and also additional issues such as onset, diction, rhythm and amplification (Chandler, 2014). So, does this type of classification constitute the 'availability of clearly organized and consistent vocal production information for CCM' that LoVetri and Weekly deemed necessary in 2003

for the development of an effective pedagogy (LoVetri & Weekly, 2003, p. 215)?

There are several recent books profiling prominent contemporary pedagogues. Benson's Training Contemporary Commercial Singers, (2020) has 26 contributing authors, identified as exemplary CCM pedagogues via an anonymous survey conducted in 2017. The pedagogues included are practising in countries throughout the world, including Australia, the UK, the US, Spain and Denmark. A number of established teaching methodologies are represented within this group, including Estill Voice Training, Somatic Voicework, Speech Level Singing and Complete Vocal Technique, alongside independent pedagogical approaches. Each chapter contains interviews with the pedagogues on a particular topic relating to the training of contemporary singers. Much of the discussion centres around vocal technique. What becomes clear is that there is no consensus amongst these pedagogues in terms of what CCM technique consists of and how it should be taught. Many differing views are expressed within this text on areas such as registration, vocal set up and the terminology and science surrounding aspects of contemporary voice production. The pedagogues have their own views and methods for teaching various aspects of technique. The chapter on 'Belt', for example, arguably one of the most researched areas within contemporary voice, reveals a range of opinions surrounding how belt is produced and how it should be taught. This variety of approach to teaching contemporary singing could be viewed as positive. However, what also becomes clear is that 'there is not enough research on contemporary singers' (Chalfin, cited in Benson 2020, p. 124). This is a view expressed within the book by Dane Chalfin, whose clinical research into the laryngopharyngeal gestures of primal sounds and contemporary singing has been ongoing since 2006. It is also a view expressed by others within this text and other literature reviewed.

#### 2.6 Holistic Approaches: Training the Body

A review of Benson's book suggests that, in terms of the consistent vocal production information, knowledge of voice science and research into efficacy and safety of contemporary techniques that LoVetri and Weekly called for in 2003, we are not there yet. If, then, the 26 contributors to Benson's text differ in their views on the science and technique behind contemporary voice styles, are there any aspects of vocal pedagogy where a general consensus can be found? Benson reports that every pedagogue addresses alignment or posture in some way. Chandler advocates a body-stretch routine. Other contributors suggest practices including Yoga, The

Alexander Technique, The Feldenkrais method and Body Mapping. There are several reasons discussed within the text as to why physical training is beneficial to the singer. One aim of such work is tension release and Benson found in interviewing her contributors that there was 'a large amount of consensus regarding the importance of releasing unnecessary tension' (Benson, 2020, p. 90). Chalfin, for example asserts that 'addressing tension is foundational to everything' (Chalfin in Benson, 2020, p. 97). The most commonly encountered negative tensions cited in Benson's book are: jaw, neck/throat, tongue, full body, breath and emotional/stress. Failure to address such tension could have vocal health implications. According to Saunders-Barton, physical tensions interrupt the flow of communication and therefore pose a risk to vocal health (Saunders-Barton, cited in Benson, 2020).

It is widely accepted in the literature reviewed that a tension-free body is beneficial to all styles of singing and this is therefore a good example of an element of pedagogy that is relevant across singing genres. Another linked reason for incorporating physical approaches within the contemporary singer's training is in order to develop a balanced alignment. According to prominent singing pedagogue Dayme, 'resolution of problems of alignment and posture can evoke startling improvement in voice production' (Dayme, 2005, p. 5). Other leading voice pedagogues, such as Janice Chapman, also acknowledge and detail the foundational relationship between posture and sound (Chapman & Morris, 2021). Work within the areas of alignment and tension is interrelated as postural habits can lead to tension and excess tension can affect alignment. The seminal works of Dayme and Chapman are centred around the classical voice. However, alignment is another area of voice training which is relevant across genres. In Vocal Health for The Contemporary Commercial Singer, LeBorgne advises singers to 'train like an athlete for vocal longevity' (LeBorgne, 2018, p. 63). She argues that alignment is an essential building block within basic pedagogical training. The acceptance of this view is reflected in pedagogical texts such as *Teaching Singing in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century* (Harrison & O'Bryan, 2014) in which the importance of physical work is emphasized through the inclusion of chapters discussing Body Mapping and Feldenkrais. There is also some discussion around the merits of the Alexander Technique and Yoga. This type of movement practice has become an established part of training across performance disciplines. Alexander technique, for example, has long been included within actor-training and the benefits to musicians are also well-established. The preliminary findings of Bartlett's doctoral research also support physical work as

an important element of CCM pedagogy, with all nine pedagogues interviewed addressing alignment within their current practice (Bartlett & Naismith, 2020).

How, then, does this aspect on singer training fit into the three-part approach to vocal pedagogy advocated at PEVOC? Certainly, this type of physical training is relevant to voice building, with both classical and contemporary discourse supporting the impact of alignment on vocal production. A clear relationship has also been established between alignment and vocal health. Alignment issues and tensions may impact negatively on the efficiency and safety of vocal production. Such physical habits can lead to vocal health issues requiring medical treatment. Balancing alignment and tension release also forms a core part of the work done by professionals such as speech therapists in the rehabilitation of the voice (Harris & Howard, 2017). Physical approaches to training therefore fit easily within both the voice building and vocal health and rehabilitation areas of vocal pedagogy. Less obvious however, and largely absent from the discourse, is the link between physical approaches and the third area of vocal pedagogy: performance technique.

#### 2.7 Physical Tools

Whilst CCM pedagogues agree on the importance of addressing tension and alignment within singer training, there is no consensus as to the best method of doing so. In her chapter on Body Mapping in *Teaching Singing in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century*, Buchanan discusses how teachers of singing are often aware of the postural problems or challenges affecting individuals and may use a 'quick fix' approach in order to correct what is observed in the moment in the hope of establishing something more functional (Buchanan, 2014). The necessity of such an approach is one that many teachers, including myself, will recognise. Vocal lessons within educational settings are typically 30 or 60 minutes over a limited number of weeks, in which a range of voice and performance related skills must be developed. There may simply not be enough time to address the physical aspects of vocal training fully, rendering a 'quick-fix' approach necessary. In interview with her contributors, Benson found that the most important aspects of training beyond the voice studio include bodywork modality, physical fitness and self- care/mental health (Benson, 2020). This suggests this type of physical development could take place outside of the singing studio via cross-training within movement disciplines. This could provide a more consistent and effective alternative to the 'quick-fix'. This also raises interesting questions relating to

curriculum content at HE level and what classes might be included in addition to vocal lessons.

## 2.8 Performance Pedagogy

Within the CCM literature there is a great deal of discussion of different aspects of vocal technique. This includes some discussion of physical training in relation to voice building and vocal health and rehabilitation. However, there is a third area of vocal pedagogy: performance training. There is very little discussion of the development of performance skills specific to contemporary singers. Although the vocal aspects of performance play a key role, expressive performance skills in the singer include the ability to connect with and communicate emotion and story to an audience. Many of the pedagogues in Benson's 2020 book make little or no mention of techniques for developing connection to material and communication on stage. However, microphone technique is acknowledged as being as an important aspect of training and techniques for developing improvisation skills are discussed by some pedagogues. The contributors to Hoch's 2018 text, So You Want to Sing CCM: A *Guide for Performers*, also make little mention of techniques that might be used in order to develop skills such as storytelling and expressive performance. This may be due, in part, to perceptions of contemporary singing and the ways in which it differs from other singing categories. Edwards argues that commercial singers are 'often telling a personal story', as opposed to Musical Theatre performers who will need to call on acting tools and techniques in order to personalise what they are conveying (Edwards, 2018, p. 28). This discounts the majority of gigging singers who are performing cover material and therefore need to communicate words and music written by others. It also does not take into account the need to develop the performance skills of singer-songwriters, who do not necessarily have the innate ability to fully and effectively communicate a story to an audience, even when the material is personal to them.

In reviewing the CCM literature, the lack of discourse around performance pedagogy is clear, particularly by comparison with the much larger discussion of contemporary singing technique. There is a consensus, however, regarding the importance of expressive skills in the contemporary singer. The contributors to Benson's book, for example, agree that the ability to be expressive is vital to the contemporary singer (Benson, 2020). Much of what is discussed regarding the development of these expressive performance skills relates to exploring and breaking

down the lyrics and subtext, however. Riggs's advice on this, for example, is to 'focus on what the words of the song actually mean' (Riggs, cited in Benson, 2020, p. 181). Certainly the singer must understand what they are singing about and lyric analysis is a basic and essential starting point for a singer of any genre. Knowing what the words mean, however, does not necessarily allow the singer to fully connect with the material emotionally or to express meaning and emotion to an audience. There is little mention by Benson's pedagogues of performance techniques or tools for the development of expressive performance. Similarly, although Hoch's 2018 book is titled as a guide for CCM performers, the contributors focus, in the main, on vocal technique and there is limited discussion of methods for developing other aspects of performance skill. Discourse relating specifically to the singer-songwriter and the development of performance skills is notably sparse. However, Chalfin's chapter in *The Singer-songwriter Handbook* does focus on the importance of communicating with the audience and ways of approaching this (Chalfin, 2017).

Chalfin acknowledges the centrality of emotion to singer-songwriter performance, which is ultimately an expression of the human condition. He sees the potentially very personal nature of material as an issue for singer-songwriters, which can lead to an introverted performance. He also acknowledges a feeling from many singersongwriters that if they are too outwardly emotive or 'showy' that this will diminish their authenticity. Chalfin argues that singer-songwriters must consider the audience within their live performance, which is a shared experience. Chalfin acknowledges that there is very little literature on stagecraft for singer-songwriters and offers models and exercises from his own work with singers. Chalfin suggests a series of exercises for detailed interpretation and understanding of a song. These exercises are similar to those used within Stanislavski's acting technique, including the use of an objective (Stanislavski, 1988). Chalfin's ideas on level of address (for example, the singer might be addressing themselves or the world) can also be seen as a modification of Stanislavski's circles of attention (Stanislavski, 1988). Chalfin moves on to discuss physicalizing this interpretation in order that it might translate visually to an audience. He suggests asking the singer to imagine how they would stand or gesture in real life within the context or world of the song, in the same way that an actor might try to recreate the world of a play. However, this does not address the issue of how we might develop this type of physical expression within singer-songwriter training. Interpreting the underlying emotion of a song and directing a singer to gesture as appropriate to that emotion assumes that the singer already has the necessary level

of physical connection and expressive skill. Whilst Chalfin draws attention to the vital role of physical expression within singer-songwriter performance, questions around how we can develop physical awareness and connection within CCM singer-songwriter training also warrant attention. This topic forms the core of my research interest. It is not sufficient to place emphasis on the importance of expressive performance; we must develop creative tools for the development of these performance skills in the singer-songwriter.

The wider field of Popular Music Education is a 'burgeoning' area of research (Smith et al., 2017, p. 5). Questions of what and how we should teach popular musicians are still highly relevant to today's HE context. Much positive work is being done in the exploration of popular music practice and there seems to be a consensus within the discourse regarding the importance of performance skills for the popular musician. Simos, for example, views performance skill as central to the overall artistic role of the singer-songwriter (Simos, 2017). Pipe highlights the importance of visual communication in popular music performance (Pipe, 2019). She also argues that popular music is by its nature performer-centered and is concerned with image, which places greater emphasis on the visual elements of performance, yet few popular musicians receive training in this area (Pipe, 2019; Pipe, 2018).

#### 2.9 The 'Authentic' Popular Artist

In order to understand the specific training needs of the singer-songwriter it is necessary to consider the discourse around perceptions of the popular artist. The lack of literature relating to performance pedagogy for singer-songwriters may be linked to the belief that singer-songwriters do not need to develop performance skills to the same degree as other singers because they are singing about their own experiences and telling their own stories (Edwards, 2018). It may also be linked to the concept of 'authenticity,' which has become synonymous with the singer-songwriter. The discourse around this gives interesting insights into the ways in which the singer-songwriter may be perceived as different from other CCM singers. In *The Cambridge Companion to the Singer-Songwriter*, Till charts the rise of the singer-songwriter in the 1950s and 1960s and how this led to the performance of original material becoming firmly established within popular music (Till, 2016). He goes on to discuss the way in which singer-songwriters began to focus on their own emotions and an 'authenticity of experience' within their work, describing authenticity as a defining characteristic of the singer-songwriter genre (Till, 2016, p. 292). The debate around

authenticity uncovers an opposition between the authentic and the commercial. Moore traces the roots of this debate back to comparisons of the authenticity of the English folk music revival, as opposed to the commercialism of music hall at the start of the last century (Moore, 2002). Till observes that singer-songwriters are considered to be more authentic than acts who do not write their own material, who are considered to be more commercial (Till, 2016). The identifying feature of the genre then: the performance of self-written, original material, affords the singer-songwriter a degree of authenticity in itself. Interestingly, Till also describes the more commercial approach of the non-singer-songwriter as 'professionalised' (Till, 2016, p. 295). This suggests that singer-songwriters are not professionalised or do not require the same level of professional training.

Unfortunately, it seems a view has developed that professional training will somehow lead to a lesser degree of authenticity in an artist. The research of Hughes gives interesting insight into the views of singers and industry professionals on artistry in popular culture music and the interplay between the concepts of artistry, identity and authenticity (Hughes, 2014). Hughes identified individual expression as the most prominent theme within the perspectives on artistry and formal training was not necessarily viewed as beneficial to this (Hughes, 2014). Generally, the ability to read music was not viewed as important to the contemporary artist, with views expressed by some that 'formal training can sometimes get in the way of emotional expression' (Quoted in Hughes, 2014). I would suggest that negative views of formal training may be linked to the high value placed on artist identity and the belief that training is in some way detrimental to this individuality. The concept of music as reflective of identity is well-established with the fields of popular music and musicology. The individual identity of an artist may be forged from any combination of factors including, musical style or tradition, culture, background, identification as part of a particular community and political belief. These different aspects of the individual popular artist are also reflected in the discourse of authenticity. Musicologists such as Middleton, for example, discuss authenticity as related to cultural expression (Middleton, 1990). Bohlman places emphasis on the authenticity of musical style or a particular practice (Bohlman, 1988). Similarly, Taylor argues that artists can acquire authenticity through refusal to sell out to commercial interests, including in terms of musical sound or style (Taylor, 1997). Although the discourse includes a range of aspects of authenticity, is it clear that honest expression is central to all forms of authenticity.

Rubidge views authenticity as something that is ascribed to a performance

(Rubidge, 1996). This highlights the importance of the audience within the shared experience of singer-songwriter performance. Grossberg discusses the authentic rock singer as having the ability to share private and common feelings and experiences with their audience (Grossberg, 2014). Authenticity has also been equated to self-expression (Gracyk, 1996). This includes expression of the individual self but there is also a communal aspect that involves the sharing of universal stories and emotions. The rock discourse relates authenticity to the unmediated expression of emotional content (Moore, 2002). There is a need for the audience to perceive the singer as experiencing real emotion in order that authenticity is ascribed to the performance (Till, 2016). In my view, emotion is the central element that connects all forms of performing art and all performers with their audience.

The expression of emotion within music and its ability to induce an emotional response has been cited as the prime reason for listening to music (Juslin & Laukka, 2004). Many singer-songwriters have discussed the way in which they explore their emotions within their music (Till, 2016). Till uses Adele as a case study for exploring the way in which emotional connection in performance is perceived and felt by an audience as authentic (Till, 2016). Till argues that, in evoking her own feelings, Adele is able to bring about an unconscious emotional response in the listener and highlights the importance of emotion within both songwriting and singer-songwriter performance. This suggests the ability to evoke and communicate feeling is central to the role of the singer-songwriter.

#### 2.10 Singer-Songwriter Training

Within the context of vocal pedagogy, it may be that the importance placed on individual identity and authenticity is what distinguishes the singer-songwriter from other types of CCM singer. How then, does this focus impact the overall training needs of the singer-songwriter and how are these needs currently being addressed at HE level? Although I do not teach songwriting and this research centres around vocal pedagogy, the wider discourse on popular music education, including songwriting pedagogy, was of interest in order to establish the context of singer-songwriter training and how other aspects of the curriculum might relate to and inform my own practice and research questions.

Although there may be a substantial body of literature on songwriting (Marrington, 2016), it has also been argued that there is no established and suitable framework for songwriting within popular music education (Henson & Zagorski-Thomas, 2019).

There are, however, themes that can be identified within the literature. Isherwood's 2014 survey was commissioned by the Higher Education Academy in order to investigate the teaching and assessment of songwriting in Higher Education. The findings were based on 28 responses from individuals teaching at 22 institutions on over 40 programmes. Isherwood found little consensus amongst those surveyed as to what a song is and how songwriting might differ from composition (Isherwood, 2014). The principle approaches adopted by these programmes were songwriting as a creative art (57%) and songwriting as a commercial product (21.5%). Within songwriting modules 100% of respondents stated that song forms/structure and creativity/idea generation are taught. Also included by the majority of programmes were lyric writing (96%), melody writing (92%), communicating specific emotions (83%), and analysis/pastiche (83%). Criteria and factors used by institutions in the assessment of songs included: creativity (100%), relationship to genre/style (95%), originality (86%) and the communication of specific emotions (64%). The most common methods of presentation of songs for assessment were public performance (76%) and recording (75%).

Similar themes emerge within the pedagogical discourse to those highlighted by Isherwood's research. Creative engagement with music is, for example, considered to be central to popular music education (Moir & Hails, 2019). However, there does not appear to be a consensus as to the definition of creativity or how it should be taught and assessed. Isherwood highlights the divide in approach to the song as creative art versus commercial product and this is also reflected within the discourse. Moore and others have argued for a shift towards the song as track in order to differentiate the recorded song or product (Moore 2010). Related to the song as track is the importance of technology within the creative process of the singer-songwriter, which is also highlighted within the literature. Theoretical frameworks such as 'authentic learning' (Wiggins, 2007) and 'informal learning' (Green, 2008) suggest that learning should relate to practices within the industry and this means that arguably songwriting programmes should train students in the skills needed to record and produce their own music. This is particularly important in light of the potential role of technology within the songwriting process and its influence on the recorded form of a song (McIntyre, 2001; Bennett, 2017).

Isherwood's survey (2014) and the wider literature suggests that, whilst the study of song form, structure and style is a vital part the songwriting curriculum, originality is also an important part of song assessment. The way in which the music is

communicated is also important and the development of a 'unique, expressive and individual persona' (Henson & Zagorski-Thomas, 2019) is desirable. In terms of vocal pedagogy, the value places on the original and unique may differentiate the singer-songwriter from other types of CCM singer. This aspect of the popular artist may be difficult to define and therefore is not necessarily easy to address pedagogically (Hughes, 2014). This intangibility may go some way to explaining the gap in pedagogical literature relating to aspects of performance such as stage presence and persona.

The expression of emotion and narrative is also a theme within the literature, which can be related to both songwriting and performance. Popular music may be largely viewed as a recorded medium, despite the roots of the contemporary singersongwriter in performative oral traditions (Till, 2016) but the music industry is evolving and in the age of streaming live performance is now more profitable than record sales (Michaels, 2009). Most singer-songwriters require the necessary skills to communicate their music effectively in both recorded and live performance. This dual performance is another characteristic which may separate the singer-songwriter from other types of CCM singer.

#### 2.11 Future Pathways

This review of literature began with an overview of the wider field of vocal pedagogy, which highlights a need for further research specific to the popular singer and also different types and styles of singer within this category, including research centering on performance pedagogy. This review also raises interesting questions regarding the areas included within vocal pedagogy and the roles and responsibilities of the singing teacher. One such question is whether singing rehabilitation falls under the remit of the singing teacher. Certainly, vocal health education is viewed by pedagogues as part of the role of the singing teacher and this may be seen as preventative of issues that can result in the need for rehabilitation. Rehabilitation does not seem to be a widely accepted, or expected, part of the contemporary singing teacher's role, however, and the PEVOC panel do state that the three areas of pedagogy need not necessarily be the responsibility of one single practitioner. It is significant though, that in his chapter on the future of singing pedagogy in *Teaching Singing in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century*, McCoy highlights a trend involving a new area of study which integrates voice therapy with singing and performance coaching (McCoy, 2014). Practitioners within this area are referred to as Vocologists or Singing Health Specialists. This

suggests that it may be possible for all three areas of responsibility to be covered by one practitioner and that this may become more common in the future.

We have seen that contemporary voice pedagogy is in its very early days; relative to other categories of singing and for those teaching within a HE environment there is comparatively little to draw upon in terms of research and pedagogical discourse specific to singer-songwriter training. There is also a lack of graduate teacher training in contemporary vocal pedagogy, despite the rise in degree level programs. There is, of course, much effective and innovative work being done by individual teachers and teams working in higher education and other environments but the literature suggests that the training background of CCM practitioners is eclectic and that private training has been sought out by individuals in the absence of any cohesive training and in light of the lack of postgraduate CCM pedagogy programmes.

Much of the pedagogical literature, as I have discussed, focusses on singing technique and performance technique is largely omitted. We have also seen, however, that the ability to communicate with an audience via live and recorded performance is central to the role of the singer-songwriter. This research project will therefore focus on ways of developing performance skills in the singer-songwriter. This also responds to a wider need for further discourse around performance coaching, an area of research that is in its infancy, not just within contemporary voice pedagogy, but also within the wider field of voice. There is little peer-reviewed research in this area and the literature suggests that teachers use their own varied backgrounds and experience to develop this area of their practice. Voice Workshop, a UK-based organisation specialising in training for singing teachers, have recently introduced an MA in Performance Coaching, which is described as unique and the first of its kind (Winter, 2021).

Whilst the literature focusses, in the main, on singing technique, rather than performance technique, it is clear that performance skills are considered vital to all groups of contemporary singer. In the chapter entitled Excellence in Training the Contemporary Commercial Singer, Benson identifies a consensus amongst the 26 contributors that great vocals alone are not sufficient (Benson, 2020). Emotion, stage presence and communication are also viewed as essential to effective performance. Effective communication of emotion may be particularly important for the singersongwriter in ensuring an 'authenticity of experience' (Till, 2016, p. 292), for the audience. Perceptions of popular artistry also require the singer-songwriter to embody

individual identity in performance and a strong stage presence forms part of this. In discussion of the importance of stage presence, Howard asserts that 'a top performer knows how to LET IT SHINE' (Howard, cited in Benson, 2020, p. 182, emphasis original). However, we cannot and should not assume that the singer-songwriter has an innate ability to express themselves effectively on stage and, certainly, existing capabilities can be further developed. The way in which the singer-songwriter expresses themselves in performance forms part of their artist identity and this includes vocal expression but also a range of other aspects of performance such as physicality and stage persona.

It is clear then, that performance and the skills associated with it are a central part of the singer-songwriter role. Although the singer-songwriter may not require formal acting technique, they do require the tools to be able to physically, vocally and emotionally connect with the material and to communicate this to an audience. Within HE level programmes singer-songwriters are also typically assessed on performance skills. Teachers therefore need a toolkit of approaches to facilitate the development of performance skills in their students. Looking at the meaning, context and subtext of the lyric, as discussed by pedagogues within the literature, may be a valid and useful activity as a starting point in preparation for performance. However, this technique is not sufficient as a means of developing the full expressive potential of the singer. This sort of activity will not develop, for example, the stage presence that Howard talks of (Howard, cited in Benson, 2020), or the level of expression required to achieve a professional standard of performance. Whereas musical theatre performers and cover and session singers may need to focus on versatility, the singer-songwriter needs to develop an individual sound and style of performance, which includes stage presence and persona and may also involve playing an instrument. Pipe asserts that there is a need for a set of learning tools to help educators within popular music settings in the teaching of this type of expressivity in performance (Pipe, 2018) and this research moves towards the development of such tools, specific to the performance context of the singer-songwriter.

The literature suggests that songwriting is assessed in Higher Education through both recorded and live performance and that the creative processes of songwriting may be intertwined with the expression of music through performance. The ability to convey emotion is central to perceptions of authentic performance and often forms part of songwriting assessment. This research will therefore explore possible tools for the development of emotional connection and communication.

Also specific to the singer-songwriter as popular artist is the concept of individual identity. Physical tools will also be explored in relation to the skills needed to express this identity in performance, including physicality, confidence, energy and presence. The question of whether such tools might be used in the development of this identity, as well as embody it on stage, is also of interest. The specific tools chosen are drawn from my prior training as an actor and this research will therefore explore cross-disciplinary approaches to singer-songwriter training. These approaches will include the techniques of Laban and Chekhov, whose practices will be reviewed in the next chapter. These practitioners have been chosen due to my prior experience of their work and their focus on physical approaches. Although their work forms an established part of many acting and dance programmes and physical approaches to performance training are not new, this approach to singer-songwriter training is not typical. This exploration responds to the gap in performance pedagogy and the need for tools specific to the singer-songwriter training context.

# Chapter Three: Practice Review

My review of literature established that there is a lack of discourse relating to performance skills for the contemporary singer. With the aim of identifying and developing tools for use in singer-songwriter performance training, this research takes an interdisciplinary approach and explores practice associated with other areas of the performing arts. Nelson's method for Practice as Research (PaR) acknowledges the necessity of drawing on a range of knowledge from different fields and includes the location of praxis within a lineage by way of a practice review (Nelson, 2013). This practice review will focus on the work of two practitioners: movement theorist Rudolf Laban and theatre technician Michael Chekhov. This research project centred on the use of physical approaches with singer-songwriters and these two practitioners were chosen due to physical nature of their work and also owing to my own existing knowledge and experience of their practice. This practice review places my research within the context of Laban and Chekhov praxis.

## 3.1 Rudolf Laban

Rudolf Laban (1879-1958) was a dance practitioner and movement researcher born in Slovakia. He has been described as the 'founding father' of expressionist dance (Dörr, 2003, p. 1), and a 'master of movement' (Ewan & Sagovsky, 2018, p. 2). He leaves a legacy of research focussed on movement as a form of artistic expression. However, Laban's research and theories changed and developed over his career and he saw movement as a vital expressive tool, not just for performers, but also for people in other walks of life. He believed that all bodies have expressive capabilities and that through engaging in expressive movement it is possible to perceive more of life (Ewan & Sagovsky, 2018). In this way he argued that movement was an important source of self-knowledge and healing. Later in his career, Laban broadened his research to include the role of movement in industry. He also initiated research within the spheres of education, healthcare and psychotherapy.

Laban produced a large body of written work including: *The World of Dance* (1920), *Children's Gymnastics and Dance* (1926), *Gymnastics and Dance* (1926), *Choreography* (1926), *A Life for Dance* (1935), *Effort* (1947) and *Modern Educational Dance* (1948). He also founded the journal *Dance-Writing* in 1928. *The Mastery of Movement*, however, written in 1950, perhaps gives the most detailed and developed overview of Laban's movement theory and practice and has been the main source for this practice review, alongside literature from other writers and researchers of Laban.

Laban's research was divided into the study of movement form and that of movement quality. Movement form can be seen as the outward manifestation of movement whilst movement quality is related to the inner motivations governing how a movement is executed. Laban described the latter category as a study of Effort (Laban, 1947). Ewan and Sagovsky focus on this aspect of Laban's work in their 2018 text, Laban's Efforts in Action: A Movement Handbook for Actors. In this handbook they explain that this focus on Effort is useful for actors because it is the effort quality with which we move that rules our physical expression. Laban's concept of Effort is a way of describing or categorizing the quality of movement during physical action. Laban analysed movement in terms of the Motion Factors of space, weight and time, which he identified as part of a movement continuum. Weight occurs on a continuum between heavy and light effort. Movement can be direct or flexible in terms of its relationship to space and it can be sudden or sustained in relation to time. In Laban's system all movement can be broken down into a combination of these elements. Laban's motion factors combine in various ways in order to produce eight Efforts of Action Drive - types of effort that are expressed when we are motivated to act (Laban, 1950). Laban's Effort Actions are: pressing, flicking, punching (sometimes called thrusting), floating, slashing, gliding, wringing and dabbing. These effort actions can be broken down as follows:

Action	Space	Weight	Time
Pressing	Direct	Strong	sustained
Flicking	flexible/indirect	Light	sudden
Punching	Direct	Strong	sudden
Floating	flexible/indirect	Light	sustained
Slashing	flexible/indirect	Strong	sudden
Gliding	Direct	Light	sustained
Wringing	flexible/indirect	Strong	sustained
Dabbing	Direct	Light	sudden

Table 1: Laban's Effort Actions

(adapted from Gutekunst & Gillett, 2014, p. 254)

Laban encouraged performers to study the Efforts in life, for example through the observation of animals. In *The Mastery of Movement*, Laban advises performers to extend their palate of expressive choices through both observation and practice

(Laban, 1950).

Within his analysis of movement, Laban also wrote about the concepts of Body, Space and Shape, alongside that of Effort, in order to create a system of movement analysis and notation. The body of knowledge created by Laban and subsequent generations of practitioners is known as Laban Movement Analysis or LMA (Groff, 1995). Within the theoretical framework of LMA there is a recognition that movement is a psycho-physical process: an outward expression of inner intent (Groff, 1995). The focus is on the description of movement, however, in relation to the categories of body, effort, space and shape. The body element of the system identifies locomotor and axial actions such as twisting, turning, falling and balancing (Groff, 1995). The Bartenieff Fundamentals are also included within the body category. This is a set of concepts and exercises, developed by Irmgard Bartenieff, who trained and collaborated with Laban. These exercises provide practitioners with the tools to develop movement skills through specific motor training based on anatomical and kinesiological principles.

Space is the category relating to movement elements such as direction, pathway and proximity. Laban considered there to be a personal kinesphere that travels with us through space. Laban also related three-dimensional space to shape, using the structure of geometric forms in order to define directional structure within space. LMA also refers to shape as a separate category and this relates to the shape of the body within the space. LMA provides a framework of concepts and terminology that allows movement to be categorised and defined, whilst also allowing for the psycho-physical and individual nature of movement. This framework has been utilised within a range of other fields including psychology, sociology and anthropology (Groff, 1995).

#### 3.2 Lineage and Development

Laban's movement research spanned a range of fields and he worked within a community of collaborators. Laban's collaborators, students and their second generation students have expanded and developed this work further. Practitioners such as Bartenieff have continued Laban's work within the field of physical therapy and rehabilitation. Bartenieff trained with Laban, later becoming a physical therapist.

The Bartenieff Fundamentals combine Laban's movement analysis with physiotherapeutic principles to form a set of practical exercises (Bartenieff, 1980). This work, sometimes referred to as Laban/Bartenieff movement practice, is used in

order to develop body-level fundamentals such as core support, breath support and dynamic alignment. Meredith-Jones also furthered Laban's work in this area and has been described as a pioneer in the field of movement rehabilitation (New York Times, 1996). Kestenberg furthered Laban's work within clinical settings and is known for the Kestenberg Movement Profile (KMP). This is a well-established system used within psychoanalysis and gives a method of assessing individuals through the observation and analysis of movement (Kestenberg & Loman, 2018). Kestenberg argues that movement not only reveals the emotions and feelings of an individual but can also give insights into their past (Kestenberg & Loman, 2018). Ullmann and North are amongst those who have focussed on the use of Laban's work within Education. Lisa Ullmann developed modern educational dance, campaigning for its place within school curriculums (Laban & Ullmann, 1968). Marion North was an apprentice of Rudolph Laban and later played a key role in the development of dance training in the UK, including the founding of the Council for Dance Education and Training (Trinity Laban Conservatoire of Music and Dance). Practitioners such as Forsythe and Jooss have continued the work of Laban within the realm of choreography. Kurt Jooss is widely regarded as the founder of Tanztheater, which was further developed by his students, including Pina Bausch (Sanchez-Colberg, 2012). William Forsythe is a ground-breaking choreography who has used the influence of Laban's practice to develop his own style and body of work (Whitney, 2021). Littlewood and Newlove, amongst others, have worked with Laban's techniques within the context of theatre practice. Jean Newlove was Laban's assistant for a period of time and later became movement teacher for Joan Littlewood's Theatre Workshop (Newlove). Newlove published a number of books, including Laban for Actors and Dancers (1993) and Laban for All (2003). Joan Littlewood was one of the most influential theatre practitioners of 20<sup>th</sup> Century and has been described as the mother of modern theatre (Dickens). Littlewood's use of movement classes, based on the work on Laban, has no doubt influenced the inclusion of Laban's techniques within actor training, which is now widespread in the UK and elsewhere (Ewan & Sagovsky, 2018). 'The Opera Singer's Acting Toolkit' (Constantine, 2019), is an example of recent literature which includes Laban's techniques as part of a performer's toolkit. There is also some literature which focusses on Laban as an approach to voice, for example Actor Training the Laban Way: An Integrated Approach to Voice, Speech, and Movement (Adrian, 2008).

It is clear that today Laban's work is being employed and furthered within a wide-

range of settings around the world. It is also clear that this extensive use is not limited to creative environments. Laban's revolutionary ideas bridge the gap between the performing arts and science (Laban/Bartenieff Institute). The Laban/Bartenieff Institute of Movement Studies organises and supports research that utilises Laban Movement Analysis and Bartenieff Fundamentals. They advocate the use of Laban Movement Analysis as a framework for observing the change and evolution of human behaviour and view it as a valuable research tool within diverse fields including the social sciences, neuroscience, healthcare, education, forensics and technology design (Laban/Bartenieff Institute).

Dance Movement Psychotherapy (DMP) is an example of a field that utilises Laban's practice, merging the creative and the scientific. Bernstein's research claims that Dance Movement Therapy can stimulate emotional transformation (Bernstein, 1995). The Meta-analysis of Koch et al. on the therapeutic uses of dance also supports the effects of movement on emotional and psychological state (Koch et al., 2014). Some of the established movement therapy methods work around the psychophysical concept that experiences occur concurrently on physical and psychological levels and the body and psyche impact each other (Tsachor & Shafir 2017). Laban was an early proponent for the use of movement in therapeutic settings and his theories and frameworks are often used within clinical environments today.

Tsachor and Shafir have applied LMA within their research into emotion regulation and emotional resilience. In their 2017 *Frontiers in Human Neuro Science* article, Tsachor and Shafir discuss the field of emotion. They state that the idea that particular postures and movements are associated with certain emotions is well- established and that the concept of expressing emotions through body language dates back to Aristotle. They also argue that movement has long been recognised as an agent of change for emotional state. They go on to discuss research within the field of emotion suggesting that the connection between movement and emotion is bidirectional. Changing posture or movement can therefore affect the emotional state. They relate this back to concepts originating from Darwin (1882) and James (1884), which assume that bodily responses to stimuli are necessary for emotional experience (Tsachor & Shafir, 2017).

More recently, research has concluded that sensory feedback from postural and facial movements has a significant effect on emotional experience. Laird, for example, conducted two experiments with a total of 77 participants, which demonstrated that manipulation of expressive behaviour produced changes in subjective experience of
emotion (Laird, 1974). Izard's work advocates a multisystem model of emotion activation (Izard, 1993). Izard and others proposed that experimenter-manipulated emotion expression can generate emotion experiences. Izard states that 30 published studies suggest that expressive behaviour can generate positive or negative emotion experiences and that it may be possible to activate a specific emotion experience corresponding to the manipulated expression (Izard, 1993). Tsachor and Shafir chart the further development of this theory, including its reformulation in neurophysiological terms by Damasio (Tsachor & Shafir, 2017). Damasio asserted that emotions are induced thorough interoceptive and proprioceptive feedback from the body, supporting the effect of movement on feeling state (Damasio et al., 2000). Further research has provided evidence in support of this hypothesis with the establishment of plausible neurocircuits (Critchley and Harrison, 2013).

The link between emotion and the physical body is well-established then and supported by research across neuroscientific fields. Studies such as Shaffir et al.'s 2013 and 2015 research have shown the effect of specific movements on emotion. The 2013 study tested the effects of movements that are associated with certain emotions on affective state. Movement was found to enhance the corresponding emotional state in the executor. In subsequent research, Shaffir et al. used Laban Movement Analysis in order to identify movement components which can elicit specific emotions (Shaffir et al., 2016). The 2016 study was aimed at the regulation of emotion through movement. The study involved 80 subjects from around the world and used Laban Movement Analysis (LMA) in order to identify the emotions evoked through the execution of specific movements. The study found sets of Laban movement components that stimulated feelings of anger, fear, sadness or happiness. For example, fear was evoked though retreating or enclosing. Anger was elicited via strong, direct movements. Happiness was induced through jumping, spreading and rising. Sadness was elicited through sinking movements (Shaffir et al., 2016). Practitioners such as Newham have also developed a Laban-based approach to therapeutic voice work in which physical actions are used to access emotion in the voice (Newham, 1998).

Although the neuroscientific research is now able to support Laban's theories, his legacy may be described as an embodied knowledge, which can provide an experiential and empowered learning experience. My interest in Laban lies within its potential to educate holistically and to transform on many levels. The possible benefits

of Laban's techniques for singer-songwriters include the development of movement and performance skills but also the opportunity to explore the human experience, connecting more deeply with themselves, with their songs and with others.

### 3.3 Michael Chekhov

Michael Chekhov (1891-1955) was a Russian actor and theatre practitioner who trained with Konstantin Stanislavski. Chekhov is known for his psychophysical approach to actor-training in which imagination and inner and outer gesture are central and his techniques are widely used within actor training today (Michael Chekhov Acting Studio). Michael Chekhov's text *To the Actor: On the Technique of Acting,* was published in 1953. This was a workbook of exercises presenting and exploring the techniques that Chekhov taught. This was republished in 1991 under the title *On the Technique of Acting.* This later version has been used as reference material for this practice review, alongside literature by other Chekhov practitioners and researchers.

It is clear from a review of *On the Technique of Acting*, that physical exercises form the core of Chekhov's acting technique. The book contains exercises aimed at developing the actor's ability to access feelings, which Chekhov approached through physical action. Through the execution of physical actions with a particular quality, Chekhov aimed to stimulate sensation on both physical and psychological levels.

This focus on the quality of movement could be compared to Laban's effort actions, which also addressed the quality of physical action. Chekhov's practice is also synonymous with the use of the imagination. His work requires the use of imagination within the development of a character and Chekhov's physical exercises also require the engagement of the imagination. It is this use of imagination that turns the physical into the psychophysical.

There are a number of other central themes within Chekhov's work. Chekhov believed that the creation of atmosphere within a performance was vital as a means of connecting the actor with the audience. Many of his exercises explore sensitivity to atmospheres. Chekhov encouraged actors to practice creating different atmospheres through the use of imagination. His exercises also aim to develop a high level of concentration. This is in order that the actor can fully engage with their imagination in the creation of a character and also to ensure the level of attention and engagement required within performance. Freeing creativity and creative impulse was also a key aim within Chekhov's practice.

The relationship between the physical and the psychological is further explored through Chekhov's archetypal gesture. On the Technique of Acting details whole-body gestures, which involve expanding to take as much space as possible and contracting in order to take as little space as possible. These gestures were aimed at awakening the muscles and energising the body. Chekhov encourages the use of the imagination within these physical exercises. For example, once the physical limits are reached the imagination can be used to explore expanding or contracting further. Chekhov also places importance on finding a sense of physical ease. He describes other archetypal gestures including beating, throwing, lifting and thrusting (Chekhov, 1991). Chamberlain suggests that Chekhov's archetypal gestures are analogous to Laban's effort actions (Chamberlain, 2003). However, my experience, having trained within both techniques, is that they are different in emphasis and execution. Within his archetypal gesture Chekhov placed emphasis on the engagement of the whole body in a strong and direct way. Laban's effort actions span a range of qualities along a continuum including light and indirect movement as well as strong and direct movement. Laban's effort actions may also be described as free movement. That is, within the boundaries of each effort quality (for example float or wring) there is an element of free and creative movement. Chekhov's archetypal gesture is more prescriptive and involves a specific end goal or shape. These gestures should be clear and bold and lighter qualities do not feature. Chekhov instructs the actor to continue the movement within their imagination after it has reached its physical limit and with the aim of waking the psycho-physical being of the actor.

Impulse is central to Chekhov's physical techniques and his exercises are also aimed at developing the body's sensitivity to the psychological impulses. One of Chekhov's physical exercises imagines the centre of the body to be in different places and that all impulses and energy flow from this centre. Through this work Chekhov wanted the actor to find the impulse which precedes action.

On the Technique of Acting contains another group of psychophysical exercises based around the elements: 'Moulding' (earth), 'Flying' (air), 'Flowing' (water) and 'Radiating' (fire). Chekhov's moulding exercise involves sculpting or moulding the space through broad movements, imagining that the air resists this movement. Chekhov placed emphasis within this exercise on the importance of form, and parallels may be drawn between this work and Laban's ideas on space and shape. My own interpretation of moulding is that it is similar to Laban's effort actions: wringing and pressing, which are strong and sustained in quality (wringing being indirect, whilst

pressing is direct). Within the flying exercise Chekhov instructs us to imagine that the body is lifting from the ground and that movements expand outwards and upwards. Chekhov describes a sense of lightness and ease resulting from this movement, which has some similarities to Laban's effort 'floating'. Floating could also be likened to Chekhov's flowing exercise, which involves continuous flowing movement.

Within the radiating exercise Chekhov instructs the actor to imagine rays of energy emanating from the body. Chekhov's work draws attention to the fact that we possess an energy body or a radiant energy field that is interwoven with the physical body (Chamberlain, 2003). Yogic traditions incorporate this concept of the energy body. Chekhov had an enthusiasm for the techniques of Indian Yoga and conducted experiments with 'Prana', which is the Sanskrit word used to describe energy (Chekhov, 1991). 'Radiating' features strongly within Chekhov's practice and though radiating exercises he expects the actor to develop the ability to radiate out emotions, feelings and will-impulses whilst on stage (Chekhov, 1991).

Chekhov's work encompasses many concepts and techniques that are typically studied by actors within training spanning a number of years. The concept of psychological gesture is particularly worthy of discussion and has been described as Chekhov's 'single most original contribution to twentieth century actor training' (Chamberlain, 2003, p. 73). Psychological gesture featured strongly in my own acting training and I consider it to be a physical representation of the essence of a character. A psychological gesture is similar to an archetypal gesture in that it is a clear and strong whole-body gesture but Chekhov wanted this gesture to represent the main desire of the character, their inner being and psychology. This technique again involves the use of outward gesture as a means of connecting to the inner state. The centrality of this concept to Chekhov's work is the reason that he is known as a psychophysical practitioner.

Much of the literature on Michael Chekhov is, not surprisingly, focussed on the use of his techniques within the discipline of acting, for example, *The Michael Chekhov Handbook: for the Actor* (Petit, 2009) and *Michael Chekhov's Acting Technique: A Practitioner's Guide* (Rushe, 2019). However, *Michael Chekhov Technique in the Twenty-first Century: New Pathways*, addresses this narrow focus and suggests a wider use within other areas of performer training (Cornford & Fleming, 2020). Applied performance and therapeutic uses are also suggested. Oram's chapter on Chekhov's techniques for voice and singing provides some suggestions of exercises that might be used to facilitate expressive voice in

performance (Oram, 2020). These relate to spoken voice, however, rather than sung voice, as Oram is a spoken voice practitioner working in the training of actors. Oram examines the archival evidence and suggests that there was a lack of integration between vocal pedagogy and Chekhov's techniques at the time Chekhov was teaching. He advocates an interdisciplinary approach for ongoing development (Oram, 2020).

Gutekunst and Gillett's work utilises such an interdisciplinary approach. They integrate the psychophysical concepts of Stanislavski and Chekhov within spoken voice pedagogy. Their text Voice into Acting, (2014) is a manual for actors and voice teachers, which explores the integration of mind, body and voice. The text explores ways in which Chekhov's physical techniques might be used within voice training for actors in order to develop vital skills, such as ease and focus, which open the performer creatively. Gutekunst and Gillett advocate the use of Chekhov's archetypal gesture and radiating, moulding, flying and flowing exercises. Psychological gesture also features within their suggested techniques. They explain that Chekhov's techniques arouse truthful feeling by first creating the sensation of it through physical action (Gutekunst & Gillett, 2014). Chekhov's archetypal gestures are explored in some detail, not just in relation to creating the sensation of feeling, but also as a means of developing effective vocal production. Within this technical aspect of Gutekunst and Gillett's pedagogy they seek to develop a balanced alignment in which breath, muscles and spine can work together in harmony. Through the use of Chekhov's physical exercises, they argue that both the technical and the creative aspects of the acting voice may be fostered. Laban's effort actions are also discussed as 'complementary techniques' which can be used in a similar way to those of Chekhov (Gutekunst & Gillett, 2014, p255). This type of focus on the work of Chekhov within vocal pedagogy is unusual. The integration of acting technique within voice training is not new, however, with voice pedagogues such as Linklater advocating a psychophysical approach to training in which acting work and voice work are inseparable (Linklater, 2006). The particular focus of Gutekunst and Gillet on the work of Chekhov is what makes their approach distinctive and paves the way for future practice and research.

## 3.4 Reflections

'In every physical action, unless it is purely mechanical, there is concealed some inner action, some feeling.'

Konstantin Stanislavski, 2013, p. 193

Seminal theatre practitioner Konstantin Stanislavski instinctively understood that the body could provide a direct link to the emotions. His pupil Michael Chekhov took this concept to a new level through acting techniques based around physical action. Neuroscientific research within the fields of emotion and psychotherapy is now able to support the embodied knowledge within the systems of practitioners such as Chekhov and Laban.

In the review of the practice of Rudolf Laban and Michael Chekhov it is possible to find similarities and parallels. The motivation behind Chekhov's movement work was the development of performance skills for actors. Laban also trained performers, exploring movement as a form of expression within the world of dance. Both practitioners placed emphasis on the quality of movement as the link between the physical and the psychological and the key to accessing sensation or emotion.

Laban is known for his system of movement categorisation and notation. Chekhov categorised movement qualities within his exercises, for example flowing and moulding. However, Chekhov's research was rooted within an acting technique advocating movement-based work, rather than within movement itself. Unlike Chekhov, Laban's research of movement moved into a range of different fields, aside from performance training.

Laban's diverse motivations and areas of interest have resulted in a widereaching legacy spanning a diverse range of fields. Chekhov's legacy may be considered to be limited outside of actor-training. However, Michael Chekhov Technique in the Twenty-first Century: New Pathways (Cornford & Fleming, 2020), opens up a discussion around the integration of Chekhov's techniques within other performance disciplines and suggests possible uses within other environments, including therapeutic settings.

Laban's practice is already well-established within clinical settings. He believed that movement was of benefit to all as a form of expression, a therapeutic activity and as a means of better understanding the human condition. Chekhov's work focuses on the technique of acting and therefore may be viewed as less profound. However, there was a clear spiritual element to Chekhov's work and through his practice he sought to

find the true physical and psychological essence of a character. In this way his work was also very much about understanding the human condition.

Within the context of performance training today the physical approaches advanced by Laban and Chekhov are still highly relevant and widely used. Although the term 'physical' is used throughout this dissertation, the work of such practitioners has demonstrated that movement, by its very nature, is embodied. The term 'psychophysical' is used within performance training to describe the interrelationship between the inner and outer state. Similarly, the term 'embodied' suggests the body and mind as one. The increasing reference to embodied practice within the arts is reflective of the rejection of mind-body dualism, or the belief that the mind and body can be separated. Scholars within the field of performance, such as Spatz, argue that embodied technique is a vital area for ongoing exploration rooted within a rich history of practice (Spatz, 2015). Embodiment is also an established area of research within the field of musicology, incorporating aspects of music and music performance including gesture, emotion, interpretation and cognition. Laws, for example, argues for a 'determined focus on embodiment' within her practice-led research (Laws, 2015, p. 131). The approaches explored within this project are, then, well-established.

However, this research reframes the psychophysical or embodied approach within the context of the contemporary singer-songwriter. This approach to singer-songwriter training is not typical and I hypothesise that there is a great deal of scope for the development of genre-specific practice. This research project was designed to take exploratory steps towards the development of this practice and the overall research design and methodology will be discussed in the chapter that follows.

# Chapter Four: Research Design and Methodology

# 4.1 Research Approach

This research project was concerned with the specific context of my teaching practice and the main component, which will be referred to as Study two, involved practical research in the teaching studio. The project can therefore be described as practitioner research. Research within education, a 'social science', is concerned with 'conceptions of social reality' (Cohen et al., 2017, p. 5) and it is important to consider the assumptions that underpin these conceptions. This includes epistemological assumptions around knowledge and its different forms (Cohen et al., 2017). Within my context as teacher and practitioner-researcher I view knowledge as individual and subjective. I consider knowledge to be changeable and to take many different forms. The positivist view assumes knowledge to be objective and tangible and requires a 'disinterested' or detached approach more in line with a 'scientific method' (Thomas, 2009, p. 74). My adoption of a more subjectivist epistemological view may therefore be considered 'post-positivist' (Cohen et al., 2017, p. 5). This viewpoint is well-aligned with the interpretivist paradigm, which influenced my research design. An interpretivist approach is suited to practitioner-research in encouraging the researcher as participant. It accepts that there are many forms of knowledge and that knowledge can be socially constructed (Thomas, 2009). Within the interpretivist paradigm the researcher uses their own understandings and interests to aid in the interpretation of the views and behaviour of others (Thomas, 2009). This means that the researcher cannot claim to be objective and an awareness in the researcher of their own positionality and how this might affect their interpretations is particularly important. Interpretivist research does not claim generalisability but provides possibilities for the development of personal practice within a specific context through interaction with other participants and the interpretation of these interactions (Thomas, 2009). The design of interpretivist research is flexible and methods such as participant observation and unstructured interview are employed with a focus on feelings, perceptions, ideas and actions, which can be analysed by the researcher in order to identify any emergent patterns (Thomas, 2009). Lukenchuk and Kolich describe the interpretivist paradigm as constructivist (Lukenchuk & Kolich, 2013) and Cohen et al. also acknowledge constructivism as one of the traditions within interpretivist research (Cohen et al., 2017). The constructivist view of knowledge is aligned with the focus of the practical research, which centred on the subjective experience of the participants,

including myself, in the exploration of how we as performers construct and communicate meaning.

# **Study One**

During the research design stage of the project I wanted to gain an overview of HElevel training for contemporary singers within an international context, including typical content of this training. My method for gaining this information was a survey aimed at teachers and singers. This preliminary research will be referred to as Study One.

# 4.2 The Survey Strategy

The survey can be used as a strategy to gather information regarding the thoughts of individuals on a particular topic (Robson, 1996) and was chosen as a way of collecting information from individuals with experience of popular singer-training at HE level. This strategy was also chosen due to its capacity to gather data based on 'real-world' observations (Kelley et al., 2003), whilst ensuring anonymity for the participant. Other strategies, such as interviewing individual teachers and singers, do not provide this anonymity, although interviews could potentially provide a far greater depth of gualitative response. Other methods of gathering information regarding the HE popular singing curriculum were also considered. Heads of courses at a number of institutions were contacted via email to gauge willingness to provide curriculum information. In each case I either received no response or the invitation was declined. Given the focus of the research project, anonymity was particularly important in order that participants could be assured that data could not be linked to a particular institution, which was another reason for choosing the survey strategy. Ethical issues were a major consideration in the choice of strategy. The invitation to participate in the survey via online link was made through social media in order to ensure full anonymity and also to safeguard against any form of coercion. The invitation detailed the use of the survey data as part of this research project and all possible future uses and gave the guarantee of anonymity. This information allowed respondents to give informed consent to take part in the research.

There are, however, advantages and disadvantages associated with this research strategy. Bias is inevitably an issue with this method of data collection and respondents may answer in a particular way for a wide range of reasons. Robson asserts that there is likely to be a 'social desirability response bias', and that individuals may respond in a particular way in order to show themselves in a good

light (Robson, 1996, p. 128). Similarly, Thomas acknowledges 'prestige bias', which may result in respondents answering in a way that they view as positive or believe to be the 'right answer' (Thomas, 2009, p. 174). However, one of the positive aspects of the survey strategy is that the anonymity it allows may encourage openness and honesty in the respondent (Robson, 1996). Given the high possibility of bias, the decision was made to survey both teachers and singers in order to potentially gain a more balanced overview than might be achieved from the survey of either group alone. However, this was a very small scale survey with a total of 41 respondents. This means that findings can only be discussed in relation to the respondents and their training or teaching context and cannot be generalized. A greater number of teacher responses than singer responses were also received, further limiting the wider relevance of the singer responses, which numbered 13.

# 4.3 Survey Design

LoVetri and Weekly's 2003 and 2009 research is now well-known within the field of CCM pedagogy. LoVetri and Weekly collected data via survey, covering some similar ground to my own research. It was therefore useful to review their survey design as part of own design process. LoVetri and Weekly's 2003 research, Contemporary Commercial Music (CCM) Survey: Who's Teaching What in Nonclassical Music?, was based on a four-part questionnaire with 21 questions (LoVetri & Weekly, 2003). This survey of singing teachers was designed to investigate their training, education, experience and methods of teaching CCM. The questions were mostly multi-part and open ended and the four sections comprised performing experience, teaching experience, knowledge of voice and medicine and musical theatre. At the end of the guestionnaire there was a section for general comments (LoVetri & Weekly, 2003). The questionnaire was distributed to teachers via events organised by The National Association of Singing Teachers (US) and The British Voice Association. Questionnaires were also circulated at various other events with a total of 139 responses. The 2009 follow-up survey was similar in content and construction to the 2003 survey with a few minor modifications. The 2009 questionnaire was distributed to students at Shenandoah University's CCM Vocal Pedagogy Institute prior to the start of course instruction. There were 145 respondents. The recruitment of respondents from a single institution may have resulted in a limited sample in terms of diversity and representation of the wider community of CCM singing teachers.

LoVetri and Weekly's research project differed from mine in a number of ways.

This included my focus on popular styles, as opposed to Musical Theatre. In the 2003 and 2009 research LoVetri and Weekly defined CCM as any kind of music that was not classical, including Musical Theatre. There was a particular focus on Musical Theatre within their research, following a rise in interest in training within this area at the time. The second half of the questionnaires was directed specifically at those teaching musical theatre. My research did not include Musical Theatre and was designed to investigate popular singing training specific to those outside of the classical and Musical Theatre categories.

I decided not to use the same survey design as LoVetri and Weekly. Although there was some overlap in subject area, my main focus was different. The overall aim of my surveys was to gain insight into the content of HE-level training for popular singers. Similarly, LoVetri and Weekly asked what CCM teachers were teaching. However, the main focus of their surveys was rooted in issues arising within the context of that particular time. This was a time when there was a growth in CCM courses but few CCM- trained teachers and LoVetri and Weekly wanted to find out who was taking on the new role of CCM singing teacher. Their surveys related mainly to Musical Theatre teaching. The aim was to establish who was teaching this style of singing at the time and what training and experience they may or may not have specific to the style. My surveys focussed on popular singing styles as a distinct category, purposefully excluding musical theatre, and served as an initial starting point for my overall research design, rather than the main focus of the research, as was the case with LoVetri and Weekly's surveys. As a result of these differences, much of the content of LoVetri and Weekly's surveys was not relevant.

My surveys had a smaller number of questions, which reflected the specificity of focus and more limited aims as part of a wider research project. They contained five questions, as opposed to 21. Similarly to LoVetri and Weekly however, I did include a section for further comments in order to collect qualitative as well as quantitative data. Individual opinions and experiences of popular singing training were of particular interest, alongside any themes or patterns that might emerge. Another major difference was my design of a separate survey for singers. This was in order to gain insight into popular singing training from the perspective of both students and teachers.

A potential issue with the survey strategy is that once administered the validity of the response relies on the clarity of the questions and any misunderstandings on the part of the respondent may limit reliability of findings (Robson, 1996). It was therefore

important to develop a questionnaire that was clear in focus, structure and wording. The design was that of a 'simple survey', meaning that the same data was collected from a group of respondents over a short period of time (Robson, 1996, p. 130). The first stage of design of a simple survey is identifying the main aim or purpose and further research questions (Robson, 1996). The overall aim of the survey was to gain an insight into the content of popular singer training at HE level. The population targeted was therefore those with experience of this training as teachers and singing students and two separate surveys were designed. The design took into account advice from research scholars, such as Cohen et al. (2017) to keep a survey simple and short to encourage completion by respondents. The survey design also adhered to advice on survey structure to begin with a simple question and leave open ended guestions with comment boxes until the end (Thomas, 2009). Question one in both surveys was a multiple choice screening question to check that respondents had taught or trained at HE level. Teachers were asked whether they taught at degree or postgraduate level or both and singers were asked to state how long ago they completed their HE level training. Question two of the singer survey and question three of the teacher survey asked which specific classes were/are offered to singers at their respective institutions. The following choices were given within a multi-answer guestion: vocal technique, performance skills, vocal rehabilitation, movement skills, acting through song, other (please specify). Vocal technique, performance skills and vocal rehabilitation were areas established within my literature review as forming vocal pedagogy. Movement skills were also included in order to test my hypothesis that specific training in this area is not common within CCM training. I was also interested in the level of acting though song content as my research would potentially draw on other performing arts disciplines, including acting. The 'other' option meant that respondents were not limited to these areas and were able to list other areas or curriculum content. The teachers were also asked in guestion two to state which areas they currently teach, with the same multiple choice options, including the 'other' option with text box. This was in order to find out the typical areas of the singing teacher's practice within the vocal studio, as opposed to question three, which aimed to find out the specific classes that CCM singers receive as part of the curriculum. These early questions were designed to address the main survey focus: curriculum content for popular singers at HE level. Other aims of the surveys were to gain insight into the experience and opinions of singers of this training, particularly in relation to the vocal and performance elements of the curriculum. Question three and question four of the

singer-survey asked participants to rate the development of their vocal and performance skills respectively during training. As these questions measured attitude it was necessary to develop a form of summated rating scale. This form of rating is often referred to as a 'Likert scale' (Likert, 1932). It is common for Likert scales to give five possible expressions of degree of agreement with a given statement: strongly agree, agree, undecided, disagree and strongly agree (Robson, 1996). In order that the respondents fully engaged with the questions and range of responses I designed a scale with four expressions relevant and more meaningful to the question: not at all, a little, a moderate amount, a great deal. The use of four, rather than five options prevented respondents from choosing the middle option, which can be a tendency for some (Thomas, 2009).

One of the aims of the surveys was to gain insights into the singer experience of training. The singer-survey therefore concluded with a comment box question: Are there any comments you would like to make about your answers or the training you received? (e.g. What did you particularly like about your course? What areas would you have liked more training in? What could have been improved?) This question was open ended in order to encourage in-depth response but comment area suggestions were made based on my particular research interests. Further to my literature review, which provided an overview of the current state of CCM vocal pedagogy, I was also interested in the opinions and perspectives of CCM singing teachers on future pathways for teacher training. The final question of the teacher survey was a comment box question designed to gather qualitative data on this subject: Are there any particular areas in which you would like to see more training for CCM singing teachers? The lack of opportunity for further comment by the teachers was a limitation, however. A further comments box would have allowed for expansion. Other areas of the survey could also have been augmented in order to provide greater specificity of data. The invitation to participate specified that respondents should be CCM singers who had trained at HE level, excluding musical theatre. However, it would have been useful to gather further information from participants regarding the orientation and main focus of their HE course. Some respondents did not receive vocal tuition, for example, due to a greater focus on musicianship and theory. This highlights the complexity of the popular music education context and the wide range of institutions and course types now offered.

The design of the surveys allowed for the collection of both quantitative and qualitative data. Attention was given to the need to be clear and concise and to avoid

framing questions as positive or negative. In order to gain feedback on the clarity of questions and ease of completion, the surveys were trialed on two singers and two singing teachers. However, the lack of a larger pilot was a limitation and should be applied to any future research involving surveys.

The platform used for the surveys was Qualtrics, which allows for the secure and anonymous collection of data. It was also chosen for its range of features, including mobile optimization, translation into different languages and compliance with web content accessibility guidelines, allowing those with disabilities to participate. Qualtrics provides a predicted completion time, encouraging survey completion. The surveys were distributed via social media in order to ensure anonymity. Invitations to participate were posted on Facebook groups for professional singing teachers and CCM singers. The use of social media was aimed at the participation of international respondents representing a range of HE institutions.

As the surveys produced both qualitative and quantitative data, varied methods of data analysis were required. Qualtrics provides software that presents quantitative data in the form of percentages. It also presents data reports in visual forms such as pie chart and bar chart. The use of visual representations of data is an established method of exploring a data set (Robson 1996). Graphical displays were used as a data analysis tool in order to count frequency. In the analysis process I was looking to interpret any clear patterns within the responses and how these might be relevant to my research questions. In the exploration of the qualitative data each individual perspective and comment was of interest due to each respondent's experience within the specific context under research. Through tabulation of the responses to an individual question the comments were also compared for any themes that might emerge. Using the 'constant comparative method' which is a basic tool of the interpretative researcher (Thomas, 2009, p. 198), phrases and words were compared in order to identify and map out any themes and how these might interrelate. Both individual comments and themes were then considered in relation to the research questions. Within an interpretative approach this type of analysis can be seen as the construction of meaning involving the participants and researcher (Thomas, 2009).

# Study Two

The practical research forming the core of this research project will be referred to as Study two.

### 4.4 Aims and Questions

Study two explored the development of performance skills in the singer-songwriter as through the use of physical approaches. This particular focus on physical techniques was rooted in an enthusiasm of practice and also my hypothesis that through physical practices it may be possible to address aspects of singer-songwriter performance, such as communication of story, expression and emotional connection. The relationship between physicality and emotion was an area of particular interest and I aimed to gain a deeper understanding of the effects of movement on emotion and related knowledge. As there is little literature on performance technique for contemporary singers and singer-songwriters, I looked to other performance disciplines for approaches. I chose two main practitioners to focus on within my practical research. Michael Chekhov's techniques are associated with actor training and Rudolf Laban's techniques are associated with dancer training. Both practitioners are known for their physical approaches, as discussed in chapter three. These practitioners were also selected due to my previous experience of their work in my own actor training. The main aim of engaging with their work within this research was to explore how creative cross-disciplinary approaches might be used within singersongwriter training and in doing so to deepen my own practice and knowledge, working towards the development of a toolkit for use in the vocal studio.

### 4.5 Practitioner-Research

Within this research project I took on the role of practitioner-researcher. In the development of my research methodology I therefore engaged with literature on practice- based research, including Action Research and Practice as Research.

Action research is often used within educational settings. Stephen Corey, a key figure in its development within education, defined it as research undertaken by practitioners with the aim of improving their practices (Corey, 1953). More recently, action research has been described as self-reflective inquiry conducted by practitioners for the purpose of critically examining and understanding their practices (Carr & Kemmis, 1986). Action research can also be referred to as 'practitioner research' (Denscombe, 2014, p. 177), and it is often associated with small-scale

projects. Action research has traditionally been seen as a facilitator of change, but this change is often on the level of professional self-development (Denscombe, 2014). Action research does not require a particular method of form of data collection but is associated with Lewin's action research cycle (1946). Within this cycle a problem is identified and an action plan is implemented. Results are then observed and the plan is changed as necessary. The cycle can then begin again. Action research is also associated with the qualitative paradigm (Dosemagen & Schwalbach, 2019). Interviews and discussion are viewed as a suitable way of gaining an in-depth understanding of personal experience and feeling and how these are endowed with meaning (Bradbury et al., 2019).

Practice as Research (PaR) has a number of similar elements to action research but has been more specifically developed for the arts and is well-suited to the conservatoire environment in which I teach. PaR is a well- established approach to using creative methods of enquiry within Universities in the UK, Australia, Scandinavia, South Africa and elsewhere and this has been the case for over a decade (Kershaw, 2009). PaR is recognised as a valid form of research by the REF and their 2014 panel report on performing arts stated that 'UK universities and conservatoires maintain a position of international leadership in the development of PaR' (REF, 2014, p. 100). Proponents such as Haseman (2006) view practice- based research as a specific and separate form of research to those traditionally established. Haseman asserts that practice-led research is intrinsically experiential and that research projects often do not commence with a sense of a problem but rather an enthusiasm. He explains that practice-led researchers construct experiential starting points and commence practising to see what emerges (Haseman, 2006). This explorative approach somewhat distinguishes PaR from action research, which traditionally is a response to a problem or issue. Practice- based research has been described using various terms, including creative practice as research, research through practice, studio practice and practice-led research (Haseman, 2006), and the discourse proposes various research designs and methodologies.

Nelson uses the term Practice as Research (PaR) and offers a framework suited to a HE performing arts setting (Nelson, 2013). He defines PaR as a project in which practice is a key method of inquiry and where a practice is submitted as substantial evidence of a research inquiry. He recognizes that performing arts practices may pose difficulties in terms of traditional ideas of measurable knowledge and encourages a multi-mode research enquiry. Nelson's model divides into three areas of knowledge:

'Know-how,' 'Know-what', and 'Know- that' (Nelson, 2013, p. 37). In Nelson's model 'Know-how' covers tacit or embodied knowledge. 'Know-what' is knowledge produced through a process of reflective analysis and 'know-that' is knowledge obtained from outside areas or fields.

Nelson's areas of knowledge provided a useful scaffold for my research process. Other reflective frameworks complement this idea of drawing on different knowledge sources. Brookfield's framework, for example, encourages practitioners to reflect upon their practice through different perspectives, including their own experience, that of the student and theory/research (Brookfield, 2017). My practical studio research explorations produced embodied knowledge or 'know how' forming part of a wider reflective process, which integrated my own experience and insider knowledge and secondary research from outside areas of knowledge. In this way Nelson's PaR model encourages critical thought and theory to emerge through the interaction of arts practices and theoretical discourses (Oram, 2015).

### 4.6 Methodology

Within the process of devising my methodology I reviewed research methods in related areas to my own such as yoga for well-being, Michael Chekhov technique for actors and embodiment in music performance. A strong focus on qualitative data emerged within these research methodologies, often alongside practical exploration. Within research focussing on physical approaches, such as Yoga and Laban practice, the feedback of participants is often the main or sole method of data collection. This supports the validity of the bodily or feeling experience of the individual as a form of data or knowledge. Although the epistemological character of movement-based systems may be viewed as a challenge to the production of valid research, it has been argued that, in the development of human knowledge, practice leads to intellectual understanding, which is only developed after we process an experience (Pears, 1972). Pears categorises this 'know-how' as a form of knowledge (Pears, 1972, p. 5). Polanyi argues that this form of human or tacit knowledge, which cannot be easily expressed through language or mathematics, is crucial to scientific knowledge (Polanyi, 2009). Other similar terms include 'bodily knowledge', which is used within the dance world to describe movement-related knowledge (Hämäläinen, 2007) and 'Embodied knowledge', which conveys the importance of the body as a starting point for forming different types of meaning (Rebay-Salisbury, 2013). The concept of embodied knowledge validates our feeling experience as a form of data. Although

there may be methodological questions as to how research can produce knowledge through subjective feelings, researchers such as Bondi have discussed the ways in which the embodied affective response of the researcher can also be part of the knowledge forming process, alongside that of the participant (Bondi, 2014). This is relevant to my own practical research, in which the observations of the Study two participants, including myself as practitioner-researcher formed research data within a qualitative approach. Much of this qualitative data was rooted within some form of embodied knowledge.

In other methodologies reviewed, such as King and Waddington-Jones' research on Performer's Perspectives on 'Feel' in Music (2018) and the research of Hughes on Contemporary Vocal Artistry (2014), the main methods are interview, placing emphasis on the viewpoints and experiences of the participant as a source of data. This was also the emphasis within my own methodology. The experience and knowledge of the researcher is also important in interpreting this data and this could therefore be described as interpretivist in approach. This corresponds with my view of knowledge as changeable and individual and meaning as created through the interaction of different perspectives. This subjective approach has limitations from the positivist viewpoint, which supports a more scientific methodology and a detachment from the researcher. This type of methodology may incorporate an experimental approach to validating theory, quantitative methods, hypothesis testing and generalization (Cohen et al., 2017). However, the positivist approach may be better suited to the world of natural science than social science due to the complexities of human nature and the intangibility of the types of knowledge surrounding it (Cohen et al., 2017). Brookfield argues that a practitioner's awareness of how students are experiencing learning is the most important pedagogic knowledge available to them and also the core of learner-centred teaching (Brookfield, 2017, p. 62) and this is reflected in my chosen methodology.

There is a clear overlap between PaR and action research and my overall qualitative approach to reflective practitioner-research sits within a PaR mould but also draws upon action research.

## 4.7 Studio Research

The studio research consisted of ten discrete practical sessions exploring the use of physical approaches with singer-songwriters. This included the techniques of Rudolf Laban and Michael Chekhov, which are detailed in chapter 3. The sessions were

specific to this research project and unconnected to any other teaching in order to avoid any conflict of interests or split focus. Covid restrictions at the time necessitated the practical sessions taking place online via Zoom. Due to the constraints of online teaching the decision was taken to work one-to-one with individual participants, rather than groups. Two singer-songwriters participated in five practical sessions, lasting approximately one hour each, over a period of five weeks. 'Homework' included the further exploration of the techniques during the week following each session.

Participants were recruited in accordance with The University of York Code of Practice and Principles for Good Ethical Governance. Approval for the research proposal was gained from The Arts and Humanities Ethics Committee of the University of York. Prospective participants had the opportunity to discuss the project with me in addition to the written information provided. Written informed consent was obtained and it was made clear that participants had the option to withdraw from the project at any time. Current students were not invited to participate, in order to avoid any conflict of interests. Singer-songwriters that I had worked with over the previous three years were invited, however. Prior knowledge of the participants and the existence of a positive relationship at the outset was a useful starting point for the sessions. This knowledge also meant that I was able to select participants with varying backgrounds and skillsets. From five prospective participants two were chosen. Factors affecting this choice were potential levels of reliability and commitment, based on prior knowledge of the interested individuals and discussions with them regarding the project. The two participants chosen were also of different nationalities and ethnic backgrounds, as well as differing in terms of movement background. One participant had dance experience and a predilection towards movement. The other participant did not have an established skillset or significant experience within any form of movement work. Both participants were contemporary singer-songwriters and the songs explored within sessions were all original and of their own composition.

The sessions aimed to develop relevant and usable tools for the use of the individual participants and within my own teaching practice. The input of the participants was vital to the research and it was made clear to them that reflections and observations should be as honest as possible. Each session explored a different physical approach through a number of linked exercises. My approach to each session plan was flexible and it was expected that the direction of exploration would

change or adapt in response to participant feedback and my own observations. In relation to learning theory this could be viewed as a social constructivist approach which is 'a collaborative form of learning based on interaction, discussion and knowledge sharing' (Akpan et al., 2020, p. 49). Due to the necessity of a one-to-one setting this collaboration occurred between practitioner and participant, rather than between participants.

Practice-based research is intrinsically experiential (Haseman, 2006), and increasingly emphasis is placed on the importance of experience as a source of reflection within action research (Bradbury et al., 2019). Kolb's theory of experiential learning has been highly influential in the development of learner-centred pedagogy and reflective practice is particular well-established within performing arts training (Kolb, 1984). Theorists advocating experiential learning have further developed and adapted Kolb's experiential cycle. In order to learn from an experience, action and thinking must be linked through reflection on emerging thoughts and feeling (Gibbs, 1988) and this can be facilitated through a cycle of experiencing and reflection, followed by further active exploration and further reflection (Kolb, 1984). This cyclical cycle of reflection took place multiple times within each practical session with opportunities for observation and reflection woven throughout. Drawing on the work of Gibbs (1988) each exercise or group of exercises was followed by discussion aimed at gaining an insight into the participant's thoughts and feelings on their experience. Questioning was also used in order to elicit further reflection as necessary. Open questions such as 'how was that?', 'how did that feel?' and 'any observations on that exercise?' were used in order to allow in-depth response and to avoid leading or framing. Drawing on Schön's key text on reflective thinking and practice (Cohen et al., 2017), this 'Reflection-in-Action' was central to the practical sessions (Schön, 2017, p. 12). Schön's reflective model differentiates this type of reflection, which is happening in the moment from reflection on action, which occurs after the event (Schön, 2017).

This participant feedback formed part of a learner-centred reflective process in which an exercise could be further explored, modified or developed in response to participant input. Participants were encouraged to continue this exploration within the week-long period between each session and to feedback on their experience via discussion. Participants were also asked to provide written feedback via questionnaire at the end of the process (see Appendix 1). The questions were open ended to allow participants to give detailed feedback and to avoid framing as positive or negative. Six months after the end of the practical research period participants were again

asked for written feedback on what aspects of the work were still in use or still particularly resonated with them. Throughout each practical session I also made written notes on my observations and the reflections of participants. Sessions were recorded with participant permission and I was able to review these recordings in order to transcribe qualitative feedback and to make further observations and reflections on the work. Zoom was chosen due to its audio quality and this worked well for the most part during sessions. There were some issues with recordings however: one session failed to fully record and there were sound issues with the recording of one other session. In these cases, I relied on notes made during and immediately after the sessions.

Each session began with a yoga-based warm-up in order to ensure the health and safety of participants within the subsequent physical exercises. The use of yoga as a warm up also provided an opportunity to explore this particular physical approach and its potential place within my practice with singer-songwriters. Feedback and reflection from participants regarding this yoga practice was therefore encouraged. The first session explored on the use of 'free movement' as a rehearsal tool. This involved a series of exercises in which the participants moved their bodies in an energized and non-naturalistic way whilst singing and observed any effects. The second session explored Laban's effort actions, which can be thought of as movement gualities (e.g. floating, gliding, slashing) and how these might relate to performance. The third session explored the use of 'whole-body gesture': a physical shape in which the whole body is engaged in an energized way. The fourth session explored the physical techniques of Michael Chekhov, including archetypal gesture, radiating and psychological gesture, which are discussed in detail in chapter three. Archetypal gesture and psychological gesture are forms of whole-body gesture. Radiating is a technique that harnesses the imagination in order to radiate physical energy. The fifth session was planned as an opportunity to further explore practice from the previous sessions and to consider how the techniques might be used by the participants moving forward.

### 4.8 The Reflective Process

As previously discussed, 'Reflection-in-Action' (Schön, 2017, p. 12) was central to the practical sessions and also formed part of the overall reflective process. Brookfield defines critically reflective teaching as a 'process of identifying and checking the accuracy and validity of our teaching assumptions' (Brookfield, 2017, p. 3). Brookfield

identifies 'critical lenses' through which we can perceive our practice in different ways, including our own experiences, the eyes of the student/participant and theory and research, which come together to challenge our assumptions about our practice. Alongside the 'Reflection-in-Action within each practical session, I also engaged with secondary sources of knowledge as part of a wider reflective process. My reflective process considered the qualitative data from participants alongside my own observations and also drew upon a range of discourse from related areas. This included discourse specific to movement approaches and methods, for example Chekhov technique, Laban practice, Yoga practices and Alexander technique. I reviewed pedagogical literature across the performance disciplines of acting, dance, singing and spoken voice. I also engaged with the discourse of sports psychology, as an elite performance field. This secondary research facilitated the exploration of resonances with other disciplines.

As part of the reflective research process I also engaged with a range of discourse from outside areas of knowledge. My movement research intersected with the fields exploring emotion. This led me to engage with emotion-related discourse spanning a wide range of fields including neuroscience, musicology, clinical psychology, clinical therapy, movement therapy and colour therapy. This enabled me to draw comparisons and connections between my own area of practice and theory from other fields, which are discussed in my reflections on Study two in chapter 5.

Theorists such as Gibbs (1988) include the drawing of conclusions and actionplanning as part of the reflective process. The studio research was aimed at developing tools for the future use and participants were encouraged to consider which particular tools they might continue to explore within their own practice moving forward and how they might be utilized. This and my own reflections on how particular tools might be used within my future practice can be viewed as a form of actionplanning.

### 4.9 Data

The practical element of research produced primary qualitative data. This data took the form of written observations from myself as practitioner and researcher, verbal feedback from participants, and written feedback from participants via questionnaire. This data and video footage of the practical sessions was reviewed as part of the reflective process.

Secondary sources of data also formed a core part of the process through

engagement with a wide range of performing arts related discourse and discourse from a variety of outside areas of knowledge.

### 4.10 Issues and Limitations

My research was small-scale in terms of number of participants. Due to Covid restrictions at the time, sessions took place online via Zoom. The necessity to carry out this research online may be viewed as limiting. However, in the 'real world' this is how learning experiences were being conducted at the time. Due to the nature of online learning, sessions took place on an individual rather than group basis, as originally planned. Group sessions would have incorporated a higher number of participants, which arguably could have resulted in greater reliability of findings. A group setting would have also enabled peer feedback and collaboration between participants. However, the one-to-one setting allowed me to work in a much greater level of depth with individual participant. This was also more reflective of the Higher Education context in which vocal and instrumental teaching tends to be one-on-one.

Practitioner research focusses on a specific context, meaning that findings cannot be generalized. This is usually true of both PaR and action research within education (Dosemagen & Schwalbach, 2019). However, this does not mean that individual experience and self-development is not important and valid. Within the qualitative paradigm of practitioner-research knowledge is not fixed but rather is changing and relative to individual people and setting (Dosemagen & Schwalbach, 2019). Practiceled research, such as the research of Laws on embodiment in performance, is concerned with 'subjective experience' (Laws, 2015, p. 133). My research was also concerned with subjective constructions and experiential forms of knowledge and in this sense the qualitative data cannot be considered objective. The direct involvement of the practitioner within this type of research also means that detachment from the process is not possible. In order to mitigate bias, a high level of reflexivity is necessary within practitioner-research (Somekh, 2006). Reflexivity involves 'an awareness of the researcher's role in the practice of research' (Symon & Cassell, 2012, p. 72). Within the reflective process the practitioner should identify and challenge their own assumptions and beliefs (Dosemagen & Schwalbach, 2019).

Engagement with a range of sources of knowledge and research, alongside the practical element of research, aided this process of attempting to recognise and

challenge my own forms of bias. My own bias was also mitigated through the collaborative approach. The participants were viewed as co-researchers and their voice was key to the reflective process. The practical sessions were designed to be relevant and engaging for the participants and the development of their practice was equally important to that of my own. Placing the participants at the heart of the process was also related to ethical considerations.

### 4.11 Research Integrity and Ethics

Ethical considerations are particularly important within real world research (Robson, 1993) and this project was guided by The University of York Code of Practice and Principles for Good Ethical Governance and The University of York Code of Practice on Research Integrity (University of York). Approval for this research project was gained from The Arts and Humanities Ethics Committee of the University of York. These codes of practice provide a framework for research activity, identifying and addressing possible ethical considerations. The key principle underpinning the ethical framework is that of the avoidance of harm. Particular considerations for my research project included the welfare and interests of human participants and that of myself as practitioner-researcher. The health and safety and well-being of participants was a priority in the planning of all activities. I am an experienced and gualified teacher with a current, enhanced DBS check. Practical sessions took place online and were video recorded. This safeguarded the participants and myself as practitioner within the oneto-one setting. Physical safety during movement exercises was paramount. The planning process took this into account and each session included a suitable physical warm-up. Participants were asked to give written confirmation that there were no known health reasons why they should not participate in physical exercises. Participants were also made aware that they could opt out of any exercise for any reason.

It was important within these practical sessions to create a positive environment in which participants felt safe to explore and create. Bradbury et al. (2019) place particular importance on the creation of genuine relationships within educational research settings in order that collaboration can successfully take place and this fits very well with my own teaching practice and ethos. Individuals invited to participate had formerly trained with me. This decision was made in order to mitigate any possible issues with working online, as having some prior knowledge of participants made it easier and safer to work in this way. Having worked with participants previously also

meant that positive relationships had already been formed. Participation was entirely voluntary, avoiding any form of coercion, and participants were informed that they could end their involvement in the project at any time. Those interested in participating were provided with an information sheet detailing the purpose and aims of the research project (see Appendix 2). They were made aware of all possible future data and research uses. It was made clear that all data would be anonymised, barring video footage, which would be reviewed by myself but would not be used as evidence in itself. Potential participants were made aware that any incidental findings relating to their own welfare or third parties may need to be reported as appropriate to the situation and this was incorporated into the consent form. Interested parties were given the opportunity to discuss the project with me and ask further questions before giving informed written consent to participate (see Appendix 3).

Data treatment and storage was also an ethical consideration. Data was anonymised and stored securely, in accordance with General Data Protection Legislation. Sessions were video recorded for my own analysis and this could not be anonymised. This was made clear to participants and formed part of the written consent form. Confidentiality of information was respected.

Research ethics and research integrity are closely related and in order to ensure a high level of integrity appropriate ethical procedures must be adhered to. Research integrity relates to values including honesty, rigour, transparency and open communication, care and respect and accountability (Wright et al., 2022). A key aspect of research integrity is the appropriate use of referencing in order to respect and acknowledge the work of others and care was taken to comply with this.

The principles of research integrity were also considered within the design of the project. Within practitioner-research rigour comes from the way in which the different strands of theory, thought and practice come together (Oram, 2015). My methodology included practical exploration and also engagement with theory. Engagement with discourse from a range of fields allowed me to develop critical thought and a greater capacity for reflexivity within the reflective process.

Using more than one form of evidence can be referred to as triangulation (Thomas, 2009) and this can be achieved in social research through the use of different sources (Robson, 1993) with the aim of increasing the validity and credibility of the research. Qualitative data came from participants and also myself as practitioner and observer. Within the reflective process this was considered alongside secondary sources of knowledge.

# 4.12 Summary

My research incorporated mixed methods. The initial survey of teachers and singers combined quantitative and qualitative questions. The core of the research involved a reflective process based on primary practical research and secondary sources of knowledge. This allowed the consideration of a range of discourse from a variety of sources and perspectives. My research methodology draws on action research and Practice as Research strategies, which relate to the development of individual practice within a specific context. The flexibility of these approaches suited my research context well. Using a mix of primary practical research and secondary research within the reflective analysis process not only helped to ensure rigour but also the development and enrichment of my own practice and knowledge through the interplay of different strands of experience, thought and theory.

Although Nelson's PaR framework is more specifically suited to a performing arts setting, action research discourse is evolving to place greater emphasis on experiential learning and experience as the basis of reflection, which in turn creates space for new concepts and active experimentation (Bradbury et al., 2019). My practical explorations were experiential and collaborative in nature. A cycle of constant reflection from participants and myself as practitioner formed the qualitative approach to data, allowing in-depth inquiry. A learner-centred approach is fundamental to my teaching ethos and the participants were vital to the project as stakeholders with real voices.

# **Chapter Five: Study One**

As discussed in the previous chapter, the preliminary research (Study one) employed the survey strategy with the aim of gathering an overview of the typical course content of CCM training at HE level. Using separate but similar surveys for teachers and singers, Study one also aimed to gather information on the perspectives and opinions of these two groups regarding this training. Data was used in order to aid in the planning and reflective process of Study two: the practical explorations. This chapter will discuss and reflect upon the survey data. This data can also be found in Appendix 4.

# 5.1 The Teacher Survey

Responses to the singing teacher survey totaled 28. The questions were as follows:

# **Teacher Survey Questions**

- 1) I teach CCM singers:
  - On a degree course or equivalent
  - At postgraduate level
- 2) I currently teach:
  - Vocal technique
  - Performance skills
  - Vocal rehabilitation
  - Movement skills
  - Acting through song
  - Other (please specify)
- 3) At the HE institution(s) I have taught at, CCM singers receive specific classes in the following:
  - Vocal technique
  - Performance skills
  - Acting through song
  - Movement skills
  - Vocal rehabilitation
  - Other (please specify)

4) Comment box question:

Are there any particular areas in which you would like to see more training for CCM singing teachers?

## Data

- 1) 100% of respondents (28) teach CCM singers at HE level. 27 teach at undergraduate level and six teach at postgraduate level.
- 96% of respondents (27) currently teach vocal technique, 86% (24) currently teach performance skills, 43% (12) currently teach acting through song, 29% (8) currently teach vocal rehabilitation, 18% (5) currently teach movement skills. In the 'other' category five respondents stated that they also currently teach vocal health, one listed musicianship and one listed folk music styles.
- 3) 93% of respondents (26) stated that CCM singers in the institutions in which they teach or have taught are provided with specific classes in vocal technique. 75% (21) stated performance skills, 46% (13) stated acting through song. 32% (9) stated movement skills, 14% (4) stated vocal rehabilitation. In the 'other' category individuals also listed: band skills, production, vocal arrangement, a cappella singing/choir, personal and professional development, performance anxiety and anatomy, pedagogic issues, vocal anatomy and vocal health, Feldenkrais, writing and devising, musicianship, improvisation and repertoire planning, music theory.
- 4) Respondents listed a range of areas in which they would like to see more training for CCM singing teachers. Three respondents answered performance anxiety/psychology, three answered vocal health, two answered performance training/coaching, two answered session singing skills, one answered Alexander Technique. One respondent wanted to see further training in relation to working in a HE environment. One respondent wanted further training in relation to the challenges of singing whilst playing an instrument. One respondent wanted further training in relation to voice functions, in order to establish that 'all voices can sing CCM music'. One respondent wanted the availability of a wider range of further training in relation to CCM, rather than Musical Theatre.

One respondent wanted further training in classical technique as a foundation for vocal health. One respondent wanted further training in all of the categories listed in the survey questions.

## Discussion

96% of respondents stated that they currently teach vocal technique and 93% stated that specific classes in vocal technique formed part of the HE training at the institutions in which they teach or have taught. This suggests that specific vocal technique classes form part of the vast majority of the HE courses that these particular teachers are involved in. Performance skills also form a significant part of these courses according to the responses, with 86% of teachers currently teaching performance skills and specific classes being provided at 75% of these institutions. Performance skills training is not as commonly included within these particular HE courses as vocal skills training. 43% of respondents stated that they currently teach acting through song, with 46% of these institutions providing specific classes in this area. This suggests that acting through song is relevant to contemporary singer training but is not considered essential by all teachers and institutions. The responses suggest that movement skills are much less widely included within CCM singertraining, with 18% of respondents stating that they currently teach movement skills and 32% stating that specific classes are included within training. 29% of respondents stated that they teach vocal rehabilitation, with 14% stating that specific classes are received by students. 18% of respondents stated in the 'other' category that they also teach vocal health as part of their practice. This is an example of how CCM pedagogy has moved on in the last 20 years. LoVetri and Weekly found that their respondents were generally familiar with vocal science and medicine but needed more training in healthy voice production (LoVetri & Weekly, 2003). In 2003 and 2009 'vocal rehabilitation' did not feature within their questions or findings. My data suggests that vocal rehabilitation forms part of the practice of around a third of the CCM teachers who responded to the survey. This would seem to support my conclusions in the literature review that vocal rehabilitation is an emerging part of the singing teacher's role.

A range of suggestions were made as to the areas in which CCM teachers might benefit from the availability of further training. These included the related areas of performance skills, performance psychology and performance anxiety, which can all be categorised as part of the performance coaching aspect of vocal pedagogy. Vocal

health was also listed by three respondents. Several comments highlight the issues still faced in terms of availability and understanding of CCM- specific training. One respondent, for example, drew attention to the need for further training in the voice functions of CCM styles. Another comment, stating that there should be more training in classical technique as a foundation for vocal health, highlights misinformation within the field. As my literature review established, CCM singing is accepted as a distinct category with genre-specific approaches to healthy and sustainable vocal technique. This comment also suggests that a bias towards classical pedagogy may still exist.

# 5.2 The Singer Survey

Responses to the singer survey totaled 13. The questions were as follows:

# **Singer Survey Questions**

- 1) I completed my training at degree/postgraduate level within the last
  - 2 years
  - 5 years
  - 8 years
  - 10 years or more
- 2) Whilst training I received specific classes in the following:
  - Vocal technique
  - Performance skills
  - Vocal rehabilitation
  - Movement skills
  - Acting through song
  - Other (please specify)
- 3) How much do you feel your Vocal Skills developed during your training?
  - Not at all
  - A little
  - A moderate amount
  - A great deal
- 4) How much do you feel your Performance Skills developed during your training?
  - Not at all

- A little
- A moderate amount
- A great deal
- 5) Comment box question:

Are there any comments you would like to make about your answers or the training you received? (e.g. What did you particularly like about your course? What areas would you have liked more training in? What could have been improved?)

# Data

- All respondents (13) had completed training at degree or postgraduate level. Nine respondents had completed their training within the last two years, one within the last five years, one within the last eight years and two within the last ten years or more.
- During training 92% of respondents (12) were provided with specific classes in vocal technique, 75% in performance skills (9), 8% in vocal rehabilitation (1), 8% in movement skills (1) and 8% in acting through song (1). In the 'other' category two respondents listed repertoire, two listed music theory, one listed songwriting, one listed production, one listed research, one listed personal professional development.
- 8% of respondents (1) stated that their vocal skills had not developed at all during training, 8% (1) stated a little, 46% (6) stated a moderate amount, 38% (5) stated a great deal.
- 4) 15% of respondents (2) stated that their performance skills had not developed at all during training, 31% (4) stated a little, 23% (3) stated a moderate amount, 31% (4) stated a great deal.
- 5) In the further comments box three respondents discussed a lack of focus on vocal development within their training. One respondent commented that they would have liked more support in the link between course and career, especially in network building. Two respondents would have liked further training or focus

on performance skills. One respondent would have liked more movement training outside of vocal lessons. One respondent commented would have liked more vocal rehabilitation training. One respondent commented that, having experienced vocal issues themselves, all teachers at HE level should have extensive training in vocal issues and rehabilitation, due to how common these issues are in singers.

# Discussion

92% of respondents received specific classes in vocal technique during their training, whilst 75% stated that they received specific classes in performance skills. This suggests that at the institutions that the respondents are linked to, vocal skills are a core part of CCM training and that performance skills also form a significant part of training, although specific performance classes are less common than vocal lessons. Two respondents commented that they would have liked more performance-specific training. Responses to questions three and four also potentially reflect a greater focus on vocal, rather than performance technique, with 85% of respondents stating that vocal skills had developed a moderate amount or a great deal during training, compared with 54% of respondents who stated that performance skills, rehabilitation and acting through song would seem to be much less commonly included in the timetable within the courses attended by these particular respondents with only one respondent stating that each of these were specifically included within their training.

Three respondents discussed that there was a lack of focus on vocal training within their courses. One of these respondents stated that at BA level one-to-one sessions were not offered and the training on their Popular Music Degree lent itself to musicianship, rather than vocal training. This same respondent did receive one-to-one vocal sessions on their MA course, however, and felt that this made a significant difference to their vocal development and should be offered more widely. Another respondent felt that their course was not focused on improving their voice. The third respondent discussed that their course was aimed more at performance than voice training overall. The lack of vocal training experienced by these individuals could be a result of the particular orientation or specialisms offered within their courses.

## **Further Discussion**

The very specific focus of Study one as preliminary research and the intentionally short and simple survey design was limiting in terms of the data collected. The questions could have been expanded and added to in order to provide greater depth of qualitative response and more meaningful data. It would have been useful, for example, to ask respondents to specify the course title or main orientation of the HE training in question. The respondents were also limited in number, preventing generalization. This survey could be developed further for future research, with a more specific focus on the performance aspect of training and the methods used within the HE setting. This would have a qualitative focus to allow for greater depth of response and follow up interviews with individual teachers could potentially allow for further expansion.

Although this was a very small scale sample, the results were somewhat useful in providing an insight into HE training for CCM singers. The data related to the experiences of respondents specific to their particular institution however, and therefore cannot be generalized. Responses were provided by 41 individuals who are current CCM singing teachers or CCM singing graduates at Higher Education level. Due to participants being invited via international Facebook groups, answers are assumed to provide a cross section from different countries and institutions. Some patterns emerged within the data but individual comments and opinions were of particular interest in light of the small number of participants, which rendered quantitative data less significant.

The responses suggest that vocal technique forms a core part of the HE level training experienced by respondents, with 92% of students and 93% of teachers stating that training included specific classes in this area. The majority of teachers and singers stated that performance skills also form a specific part of this training. This supports my assertion that performance training is essential for popular singers.

However, the data suggests that performance skills classes are less likely to feature than vocal classes and this is reflected within the lower percentage of singers who stated that their performance skills had improved a great deal or moderate amount, as compared to vocal skills. The survey responses of both teachers and singers suggest that movement skills are not widely taught or specifically included within the HE level training that they have experience of.

In my literature review I noted a trend towards the inclusion of rehabilitation within the role of the singing teacher. My survey data would seem to support a growth in this

area with 14% of teachers stating that specific classes are offered in vocal rehabilitation and 29% stating that they currently include rehabilitation within their teaching practice. Several singers stated that there is a need for further inclusion of vocal rehabilitation within CCM singer and teacher training.

The teacher responses suggest that there are a range of areas in which wider availability of further training for popular singing teachers could be valuable. One teacher commented that training should be widely available relating to CCM rather than Musical Theatre, supporting my own view of Musical Theatre as a separate category and the need for more specific research into popular singing training. Several teachers highlighted that further training is needed relating to performance skills and a number also suggested performance anxiety/psychology as an area for further teacher training. Both performance skills and performance psychology can be categorised as part of performance pedagogy. Study two, which will be discussed in the next chapter, focusses specifically on performance-related aspects of singersongwriter training. I agree that the availability of teacher training in relation to performance pedagogy would be beneficial and the practical explorations comprising Study two were designed to further my own knowledge and practice in this area.

# **Chapter Six: Study Two**

# 6.1 Introduction

The studio research sessions on which Study two centred were designed to move towards the development of appropriate tools for use in singer-songwriter performance training. This chapter will report on the practical research process with a focus on the words and experience of the participants, alongside my own observations of the work. There is also a reflections section in which I discuss the emerging themes from the practical sessions and the implications of these themes within the context of related areas of research. The aim of this reflective process was to allow me to explore and develop my own teaching practice and related knowledge. The development of participant practice was equally important and their voice is central to the discussion in this chapter. Text in quotation marks represents their actual words. Ellipses have been used to show that some speech has been omitted from the passage quoted.

My own reflections on the practical work take into consideration the feedback from participants and my own observations during sessions. Written notes were made throughout each session and I was also able to review the video recordings of the majority of sessions in order to make further observations. In accordance with Nelson's Practice as Research framework (Nelson, 2013), the reflections in this chapter draw upon a range of knowledge sources. This includes embodied knowledge, which relates particularly to this type of physical, experiential practice. Tanaka describes embodied knowledge as that which we experience through our own body. He argues that this knowledge is not simply rooted in motor skills but encompasses a broad range of psychological experiences (Tanaka, 2011). Through this embodied knowledge, participants were able to reflect upon their experience of the physical approaches and I, as practitioner and observer, was able to see the results of the work.

### 6.2 Exploratory Sessions

The practical sessions were led in accordance with my own teaching ethos. Michael Chekhov advocated a warm, supportive and joyful atmosphere within the studio (Chamberlain, 2003). I also strive to create a positive environment in which learners feel safe to explore and discover. My aim was for the participants to enjoy the sessions, to feel able to give input freely and to fully collaborate in the work. Each

session comprised a number of linked exercises based on a particular type of physical approach or the work of a particular practitioner. The choice of exercises is reflective of my own experience of a range of movement practices both within my acting training and within my continued practice and professional development. The identities of the participants will remain anonymous but from this point they will be referred to as Ava and Geir.

Within the practical studio the relationship between practitioner and learner plays a vital role. Having prior experience of working with both participants during their degree training was invaluable. Within action research discourse emphasis has been placed on the importance of relational conditions (Bradbury et al, 2019). In their everyday practice, teachers strive to build genuine relationships with individuals, which allows positive learning experiences to take place. These relational conditions also give rise to collaboration within a research context (Bradbury et al, 2019). A high level of knowledge of participants was particularly desirable given the focus of the research and the necessity of working online. In working with the physical and emotional aspects of performance is it important to be aware of the feelings that particular physical shapes or movements might invoke in the individual. The emergence of trauma-informed voice practices is also relevant within this context.

# 6.3 The Participants

### Ava

Prior to participating in the research Ava had recently completed a music degree in performance and songwriting. At the time of the research she was working towards the release of several original tracks and was seeking performance opportunities. Ava's past gigs included both acoustic gigs and gigs with a full band in a range of venue types and sizes. Ava sometimes accompanies herself on piano but this is rare and she prefers to be accompanied by other musicians in live performance. Ava describes her music as introspective, soul-infused pop/rock. Ava's songs discuss her own experiences and are characterised by a sense of emotional honesty and strength. At the start of the practical research process Ava was a confident physical performer who considered herself to be a dancer and regularly engaged in physical practices such as yoga. In discussion of existing movement experience she reflected:

I think that I do have a propensity towards movement onstage so that has been successful and when you're moving onstage there's a high
chance that that's to an upbeat song. So I would like to work on being grounded vocally or more grounded vocally whilst also being able to maintain movement and faster pace of song.

My own reflection at the start of the process was that Ava would benefit from exploring the emotional content of her songs and the physical expression of this in performance, which is somewhat different from the type of movement to upbeat music that Ava describes. From my perspective the vocal aspect of Ava's performance was a particular area for continued development as this lacked technical consistency in areas including pitching and clarity of tone. In terms of personality traits, I perceived Ava to be outgoing, self-assured and open to new experience. Ava identifies as biracial, black-British.

### Geir

Geir completed a music degree in performance and songwriting a year previous to participating in this research project. At the time of the research Geir had already released several original tracks via streaming services, including Spotify. He was planning to release other tracks accompanied by launch performances in the near future. Geir's past performances included more intimate gigs accompanied by a pianist and also gigs backed by a full band. Geir does not accompany himself in performance. Geir describes his pop ballads as 'melancholic' and 'personal' and aims to express 'vulnerability' and 'authenticity' through his music. His songs focus on love and relationships. From my perspective, at the start of the studio research process Geir's vocal skills were technically strong and there was particular scope for further development of performance confidence and physical awareness. Geir did not have a great deal of experience within movement-related areas but had some limited experience of physical approaches to performance from working with me during his third year of training on his degree course. In discussion during the first session on areas for development and past feedback, Geir gave the following reflections:

I feel like I've gotten the feedback that it looks like I'm thinking a lot about what I'm singing but not in the way of being emotive in the song but more like I'm overthinking it. I find myself then in my body language becomes a bit stiff and not quite as emotive as the lyrics should be.

He also observed: 'I tend to close my eyes quite a lot when I'm singing. People want

me to connect with them more and look at the audience'. Geir went on to reflect further that his upper body and arms particularly became 'stiff' in performance and that he had received feedback during the course of his degree training that his performance lacked physical expression, particularly in the top half of his body. Gesture in performance was also assessed by tutors as limited and repetitive. In terms of personality traits, I perceived Geir to be cautious, reserved and sensitive. Geir identifies as a white-Norwegian.

A complex interaction of factors forms individual identity, which may be multicultural and multiracial and involves the intersection of social factors and ethnicity (Clammer, 2015). In working with physical approaches to expressive performance it is important to consider the field of research relating to physical communication and identity.

Davidson categorises movement as 'individual' in terms of personal style and 'culturally-determined' in that some movement is learnt through imitation of the behaviour of others (Davidson, 2001, p. 250). Cultural differences in gesture and other forms of bodily communication are accepted, although some forms of non-verbal communication may be considered universal or innate (Argyle, 1988). Noland's research suggests that, whilst movement embodies culture, it can also provide a means of physical release from cultural and social constraints (Noland, 2009). My studio research was experimental in the sense that I wanted to encourage the participants to move away from the habitual and to experience new ways of being in the body in order to ultimately find greater connection and freedom of expression within performance. Frith's argument that identity is mobile and is created within the experience of performance is particularly pertinent (Frith, 1996).

### 6.4 The Warm-Up

Beginning each session with a warm-up was essential in ensuring that the participants were physically ready to engage safely in the movement-based exercises. The warm-up sequence was planned within the constraints of a typical one-to-one vocal session in which physical studio space may be limited. The warm-up was therefore planned as a standing sequence and did not include floor exercises. The use of yoga within the warm up also allowed exploration of this particular physical approach within the singer-songwriter context. My review of CCM pedagogical literature revealed a consensus regarding the need to address physical habits. The reasons given for this centre on the link between alignment and vocal

production. Alignment issues and tension have been shown to have a negative effect on vocal production and could pose vocal health risks to some individuals (Dayme, 2005; Chapman & Morris, 2021; Barton, cited in Benson, 2020). However, although I strongly agree that balanced alignment is an essential pedagogical building block (LeBorgne, 2018), I would argue that its link with healthy vocal production is not the only reason for including physical work within the vocal lesson. My review of CCM literature revealed a lack of reference to the use of physical techniques in the development of other skills such as physical connection and freedom of movement. There is also little reference made to the use of physical approaches in relation to the development of performance skills such as openness and energy on stage. Physical approaches to the development of performance skills are underemphasised within CCM pedagogy and this is an issue addressed within this research.

Yoga was chosen as the basis for the warm-up for numerous reasons. Other forms of stretch sequence could provide a suitable warm-up. However, the flowing nature of Yoga practice allows the exploration of free movement in connection with the breath, whilst also targeting elements such as alignment and tension release. Yoga is regarded as a mind-body or holistic approach (Woodyard, 2011), and this fits well with the other techniques chosen for exploration within the practical sessions, which can also be described as mind-body approaches. Pedagogues such as Gutekunst and Gillett advocate the use of yoga within spoken voice practice in the development of a balanced alignment and a free, open body (Gutekunst & Gillett, 2014). They stress that a balanced alignment is essential in order to find the free flow of energy that will allow creative communication between the body and brain. This flow of energy is central to yogic practices, which encourage an opening of energy pathways (Judith, 2017). Yoga has also been shown in many studies to have a positive effect on health and wellbeing. The potential of yoga practice within singersongwriter training is wide-ranging then, and its inclusion within the exploratory sessions provided an opportunity to further explore this potential within my own teaching practice.

Although the use of yoga within the practical warm-up sequences allowed only a limited exploration of the approach and there are clearly many aspects, styles and traditions of yoga, there were some themes that emerged within the participant feedback. Following the warm-up sessions both participants observed feeling more 'open' in the body. They also described themselves as being more 'engaged' in the body following the warm-up. Ava gave feedback that she felt a greater 'flow of energy'

and Geir observed a level of tension release through engagement with yoga. Interestingly, within the context of the main focus of this research, there were also some links made between the physical practice and emotion. Ava observed that there was 'a lot of emotion attached' to the technique of shaking, which involves quick bouncing movements that cause the body to release and vibrate. Yoga teaches that emotion and stress is stored within the body, forming energy blockages and that through yoga practices these blockages can be released (Judith, 2017). Through the simple act of movement, it is possible to release tension in the body and this may be accompanied by a letting go of emotion and anxieties, hence the link to emotion made by Ava. Tension release and increase in energy flow are just some of the reasons for the positive effects of yoga practice on health and wellbeing, which are now well-documented (Diamond, 2012). Concepts such as 'energy flow' may be considered to be tacit or embodied forms of knowledge. However, a relatively simple physical exercise such as shaking, which causes the body to vibrate, also has physiological effects on the body that are evidenced in scientific forms of knowledge. Research related to the effect of vibration on the body has explained its positive effects in relation to increased blood and lymphatic flow (Stewart et al., 2005). Within the field of neurological therapy, whole-body vibration has also been found to cause physiological responses at neurological, musculoskeletal, endochrinological and vascular levels (Bernardo-Filho et al., 2021).

The importance of the physical warm up within the singing studio has already been established within my literature review. Prominent spoken voice practitioners such as Linklater, Berry and Rodenburg have included elements of yoga practice within their pedagogical text books (Linklater, 2006; Berry, 1991; Rodenburg, 2015).

In spoken voice pedagogy there is also some integration of physical practices and performance technique, as can be seen in the work of Gutekunst and Gillet (2014). However, the link between movement practices such as yoga and the development of performance technique is not emphasised within the sung voice literature. Rather, focus is solely placed on the benefits of physical practices in relation to vocal production. This research explores the links between physical approaches and other aspects of performance.

Within my wider teaching practice, I regularly use elements of yoga with contemporary singers within a HE setting. This has been a source of frustration, however. Although I postulate that yoga can bring a range of benefits to the singer relating to vocal and performance skills and health and wellbeing, the time constraints

of the vocal lesson limit what can be achieved. A consistent training and practice within an approach such as yoga is needed in order for the singer to fully benefit. The inclusion within the curriculum of a discrete yoga or movement lesson would address this issue and underpin performance and vocal work within the vocal studio.

#### 6.5 The Practical Sessions

#### 6.5.1 SESSION ONE: Free Movement

The first session focused on the use of free or spontaneous movement as a rehearsal tool. This involved moving the body in an energised and non-naturalistic way whilst singing. An original song was sung as a baseline with which to compare subsequent explorations (recording 1b from 15.31). Initially Geir found it challenging to access this exercise and was clearly self-conscious. After a short engagement with the exercise he stopped and gave feedback: 'I'm sorry, it feels so weird - can I do it again?' There was then a process of encouragement and suggestion of various types of movement from me and Geir was able to gradually engage with the exercise. Following completion of the exercise he commented that 'It felt better as I just literally tried to focus on moving my body and not thinking about how it looked that much'. Geir's response to this work challenged my view of free movement as a simple exercise. Within a performance context we associate movement with the visual aesthetic and it may therefore be difficult to 'just move' without thinking about how the movement looks or is perceived by others. Creating spontaneous movement also potentially requires a level of physical awareness, confidence and even skill. In order to support Geir in finding a greater sense of freedom of movement I modified the exercise and asked him to walk around the room whilst singing. Geir gave feedback that 'that felt more relaxing because I was moving my entire body. I was more relaxed doing that - it felt more natural'. During the initial freemovement exercise I observed a lack of freedom, particularly in the top half of Geir's body and a sense of closing across the shoulders and chest. Through the simple movement of walking around the room I perceived more openness both in the body and in the vocal production. Geir also perceived that the vocal production had improved. In order to move Geir further towards free movement I asked him to repeat the walking exercise adding arm movements. Geir observed 'the minute I add my hands and my arms that's when I start overthinking it'. For singers who perform behind a microphone hand and arm gesture is a particularly important form of communication. Finding these gestures can become a source of stress to the singer, resulting in restricted or

repetitive movement. I modified the exercise again in order to give Geir additional support, encouraging him to alternate between open and closed arm gestures, whilst remaining on the spot. The result was closer to what I had assumed the original freemovement exercise would look like. Geir clearly needed a process of exploring and experiencing movement in the body in order to reach that stage. When asked how the exercise felt Geir responded: 'When I thought about making it small and making it big I thought about the lyric'. This was a positive development in the sense that Geir was beginning to connect movement with meaning. The work of both Chekhov and Laban is based around the concept that our movement has subtext. Behind each physical action there is a desire or drive. In this way the external physical shape is always linked to the internal. The body of research on the role of the body within music performance also identifies movement as expressing intention and meaning. Davidson, for example, sees the body as vital to communicating performance, (Davidson, 2001) and Laws views gesture as an embodied phenomenon due to its conveyance of meaning (Laws, 2015). Studies also suggest that the bodily movements of musicians play an important role in expressing performance (Shinosako & Ohgushi, 1996; Dahl & Friberg 2004; 2007).

Following further exploration of free movement over the period of a week, Geir gave feedback that he had 'definitely noticed the impact of movement on the voice but it still feels unnatural'. When questioned about what he meant by 'unnatural' Geir explained 'My type of music is very I'm very used to standing still so it's a pattern that I need to come out of'. When asked about the specific impact of the movement on the voice Geir explained that it had been most useful in relation to vocal dynamics: 'the movement helped that to naturally come out'.

Following engagement with the free movement exercise Ava gave feedback that she had enjoyed the exercise and did not 'overthink' the vocals. I observed that her movement was restrained and so I asked for this exercise to be repeated with more 'exaggerated' movements. Following this repetition Ava observed an effect of 'release' and a 'more energised vocal'. I also observed greater engagement in the body and far more variety of vocal quality as compared with the baseline performance in which Ava sang the song as she usually would. At the end of the studio research process Ava reflected that as 'spontaneous' movement this exercise is useful to her is 'being present' and accessing the present moment.

This exploration of free movement also has resonances with the field of 'feel' within musicological discourse, which can be considered in terms of 'relationships with the body, emotions, music interpretation, and gestures' (King & Waddington-

Jones, 2018, p. 241). Through moving freely, the singer can explore the physical and affective feelings produced in the body and how these relate to the song. Within this exercise the singer 'feels' the music and lyric. According to Laws, research within the field of expressive performance studies has tended to neglect the feelings produced in the performer through bodily movement and how this might inform subsequent performances (Laws, 2015). Through the use of physical approaches in rehearsal, it is possible to explore the affective feelings produced by movement and the ways in which this might inform expressive use of the body in a performance context.

#### 6.5.2 SESSION TWO: Laban's Effort Actions

The second practical session focused on Laban's Efforts of Action Drive (Laban, 1947). These are also referred to within the literature reviewed and in this dissertation as Effort Actions, Effort qualities or Efforts. This aspect of Laban's work was chosen as a core part of his research and a cross-disciplinary technique, often forming part of dancer and actor training. The Effort Actions are a way of categorising movement types or qualities. Laban broke movement down into the Motion Factors of Space, Weight and Time (Laban, 1947), as discussed in chapter 3. He identified movement types as direct or flexible (space), strong or light (weight) and sustained or sudden (time). These motion factors combine in different ways to produce Laban's eight effort qualities: pressing, flicking, punching, floating, slashing, gliding, wringing and dabbing. According to Laban's system punching is a direct, strong and sudden movement quality, whereas floating is flexible, light and sustained.

This studio session aimed to explore how Laban's effort actions might be developed as a tool for singer-songwriters. The participants first explored Laban's effort qualities through movement. The effects of individual effort actions on the performance of a song were then explored, following a baseline performance of the chosen song (recording 2a from 8.34; recording 2b from 11.54). In engaging with floating, Ava observed:

Vocally it feels like my voice is more like on the tip of my tongue ready to go more. Less effort to use. It feels like coming to it in a lighter way and it's nice to feel the body expand kind of like the voice was going with the body. You can really feel that connection.

In relation to floating Geir observed: 'I do absolutely notice again like the dynamic of

my voice is more soft. I feel like there's less tension...the notes were easier to reach'. Ava and Geir perceived similar vocal effects when engaging in this movement quality, including a reduction in both vocal effort and tension. This suggests that floating can produce a sensation of physical and vocal ease.

Ava and Geir were able to make further individual observations in the exploration of the other effort actions. Ava experienced pressing in a very different vocal way to floating and described a feeling of 'chopping off some of the frequency' or 'less band width'. She also described this as a different vocal 'texture' from that of floating. So vocally and physically floating may be associated with a lightening and expansion, whilst pressing might be experienced as a narrowing sensation. Individuals may find some effort actions more easy to access than others. Geir, for example, did not find it easy to find a sense of weight in the body and heavy qualities, such as press, were therefore more difficult to engage in. Following an initial exploration of pressing Geir observed: 'I feel quite tense in my body so doing that felt tenser'. I encouraged Geir to further explore weight in the body through walking and imagining the body to be very heavy. Geir observed 'that felt really different. I felt the heaviness in my body'. I then asked Geir to again sing a section of his song whilst alternating between light and heavy movement qualities. There was not a significant visual difference between the qualities from my perspective and Geir reflected 'I think it's going to be a good homework thing to do'. Engagement with the effort actions may not always have an instantaneous effect and some individuals may need a process of movement-based exploration before they are able to access this work. Further practice and modification may be needed. In Geir's case this involved breaking down the efforts further into motion factors, such as weight.

Following exploration of wringing, which is sometimes likened to the action of a cloth being wrung out, Ava gave the feedback: 'I liked the wring. I felt like it was synonymous with the song'. I observed that Ava was able to immediately connect to this effort action, resulting in a strong physical and vocal expression of the quality. I also perceived a more grounded and dynamic physicality and vocal quality, which I described to Ava as having more 'edge'. I asked Ava to apply wring and then float to the same section of her song. Having identified this song section as an emotional peak I had expected a strong quality such as wring to produce appropriate effects. However, float produced a physical openness and vocal quality that was different but also very effective. In this way particular effort actions enabled Ava to instantly access a particular physical and vocal state. Geir also observed the different effects of

particular effort actions on his vocal production. In applying a wring action Geir observed: 'the tone of my voice was more contained but still controlled'. He described the vocal effects of gliding as giving different 'textures'. Dab tended to have an energising effect on the vocal, which was observed by both singers.

Geir explored the effort actions in his own practice over the period of a week. He sectioned off a song and applied different effort actions to each section. He chose wring and float for the verse because the lyrics were 'soft' and 'tender' and he chose glide for the chorus as it's more 'direct'. Geir applied slash, flick and dab to the bridge. Through using the effort actions in this way Geir reflected 'I feel like I notice a difference in vocal ability and authenticity in the way I'm performing it'. I asked Geir to explain this difference in vocal ability and he reflected further:

I noticed that I was able to connect more with my performance and I feel like it's not just about sounding right because I did notice that it helped me sing better as well. Authenticity is very important to me as an artist with the kind of songs I perform.

Geir explained what authenticity means to him: 'I write songs that are sad and I think no-one would believe me if I stood there smiling. You want to be able to experience the pain with me as I'm performing it'. As discussed in my review of literature, there is an extensive debate around authenticity and the singer-songwriter. Here Geir expresses a similar view to my own in identifying the shared experience of real emotion between singer and audience as the core meaning of authentic singersongwriter performance.

#### 6.5.3 SESSION THREE: Whole-body Gesture

The third session focused on whole-body gesture. My definition of this is engaging the whole body in an energised way to create a gesture or shape. This is a rehearsal tool and is different from the type of gesture that might be used to communicate within speech or performance, which we tend to associate with the hands and arms. This session centred around the use of this tool in the exploration of emotion. It also acted as a building block towards the subsequent session, which would look at Chekhov's techniques, including archetypal gesture and psychological gesture, which are forms of whole-body gesture.

In the first exercise participants were asked to find whole-body gestures or shapes

to represent the following states: sad/alone, confident/making a stand, blocking/refusing, overjoyed/celebrating (recording 3a from 4.48; recording 3b from 11.04). Ava was able to produce an immediate response to each of these cues that was recognisable to me as relating to the particular emotion or state. Ava reflected following this exercise that 'there was a self-conscious element' but that she 'really tried to embody the emotion'. The idea of embodying emotion describes the core of the exercise very succinctly. Ava also described that she 'wanted to get the body and mind together', which is a valid interpretation of embodiment. She observed that through this exercise 'you are reflecting on self'.

The session aimed to use whole-body gesture as a way of exploring emotion and Ava therefore picked an original song to work with that she felt was particularly emotive:

The song is about having to contort yourself to fit into a situation and then recognising that's not really how you want to do it anymore...and it's about reclaiming your own space.

We then discussed the song in sections and explored how the feel or emotion in each section would be represented as a whole-body shape. Ava described the beginning section of the song as 'contemplative', which she physicalized as an inward movement. Ava then instinctively moved to another physical shape so I encouraged her to continue with this physicalization of the song. Although this became more dance-like than I had originally intended the exercise to be, I perceived Ava to be very emotionally connected with the song through this practice and she gave feedback that 'it felt more grounded and focused'. She also reflected that 'the feeling, the emotions, the state, they actually change quite a lot throughout that song they're not really static'. Ava also observed: 'I felt I was more immersed and present in the song'. I also perceived a level of vocal and emotional connection during this exercise that I had not observed in Ava before, including in my previous work with her during degree training. In order to explore the bridge between this rehearsal exercise and physical expression in performance, I asked Ava to retain the feel of the movements but to physicalize as appropriate to her style or genre. Following this exploration, we discussed that identifying and physicalizing the emotional essence of each section of a song would be a useful exercise for Ava to continue to apply within her own practice in order to connect with the journey of the song and also to explore

how that might translate into the physical expression of emotion in performance.

Geir described the song that he chose to explore as a 'sad' song but 'rooted in anger is some ways'. He further explained:

I've written it so it sounds like a break-up song but actually I've written it to myself. I'm blaming someone else but I'm also to blame. One of the lyrics is "I'm passed the breaking point" so I've had the breaking point and I'm ready to change.

I then questioned Geir to elicit further detail about the emotional journey of the song and the 'feel' in each section. Geir described the first verse as being about 'feeling vulnerable'. This then moved to a feeling of 'I'm done' and 'wanting the break free'. He discussed the chorus as having a feeling of being torn between different emotions. Geir described the second verse as 'feeling betrayal', which he saw as a combination of being sad and angry. Geir used the word 'heartbreak' as fitting with the lyric 'your promises are made of glass' in the bridge, which was also appropriate at this emotional peak of the song. Geir needed support in finding physical representations of some of these emotions, which was given in the form of discussion and suggestion of types of movement. In exploring these sections physically Geir found new responses to the song. He was surprised, for example, that the softer dynamic that he spontaneously produced in one particular section was effective: 'I've never done it like that before that's interesting'. Although Geir initially found it challenging to create whole-body gestures, he was able to identify the benefits of working in this way: 'It feels like it's pushing my comfort zone, which is why I like it'. He also reflected:

It's kind of cool that I can break up a song that much and think about the specific emotion. I think I have a tendency to be like that's a sad song or that's a happy song but sadness has layers doesn't it, it's not just sadness.

Geir explored this emotional journey of the song again by taking the essence of the whole-body gestures but expressing them in a way more appropriate to his performance context. I observed that Geir moved back into his particular gestural habits during this exercise. Following further exploration of the work over the week

that followed Geir gave feedback that he found it interesting and that 'it's still someways before I can maybe incorporate it one hundred percent but I feel like it was an awareness exercise'.

## 6.5.4 SESSION FOUR: Chekhov Practice

The fourth session focused on the practice of Michael Chekhov and aimed to explore some of the techniques and concepts that form a core part of his work: Archetypal Gesture, Psychological Gesture and Radiating. Initially we explored five of Chekhov's archetypal gestures, chosen on the basis of my own experience of these particular gestures within my training as an actor: growing bigger, closing down, reaching out, throwing and beating (recording 4a from 6.26; recording 4b from 6.01). I directed the participants, through verbal instruction and modelling, to physicalize these whole-body gestures. Growing bigger involves an expansion and waking up of the muscles of the body. Closing down involves growing smaller and using the minimum of space. Reaching out involves lunging with arms forward to take up as much space as possible. Throwing involves an overhead throwing action. Beating involves an expansive gesture with arms out followed by firmly slapping one hand down on the other. The direction was given to breathe in the intention of the gesture (for example to grow bigger or to close down) and then to move on the outbreath. I also introduced the idea of energising and engaging of the whole-body within these gestures. Following the physicalization of the archetypal gestures Ava observed: 'It is so energetic'. She also described the movements as 'really different' and 'unusual'. She reflected 'it feels like the breath is activated with the movement'. Following this initial exploration, Ava applied archetypal gestures to a song section, alternately growing bigger and closing down. She then applied reaching out to the same section, alternating legs. Ava particularly responded to reaching out as feeling 'powerful' and I also perceived a sense of physical and vocal power. We then explored alternating between reaching out and stillness and then breathing in the intention to reach out but without actively physicalizing. Ava felt that this helped to 'focus the voice'. I observed a strong sense of energy and engagement in the voice and body throughout each of these exercises. As Ava responded well to free movement exercises, I suggested that she should explore her own physical interpretations of the archetypal gestures. Ava physicalized different types of throw, for example. During this work I observed that there was a greater sense of efficiency and consistency within the vocal pitch and tone. Ava gave feedback that application of archetypal gesture would be a useful way

to break up songs describing it as 'a really efficient way for me to approach songs'.

I then introduced the idea of psychological gesture as a way of expressing the core or essence of a song. Ava expressed that her song was about 'reaching for something' and so picked a gesture that physicalized this sense of reaching. She then engaged in this gesture before singing the opening verse of the song. Ava reflected on the exercise:

It felt really good...sometimes it takes me a while to get into the song but I think that movement cements this is the start of the song and this is my intention. I think it really works.

We then explored imagining the psychological gesture before performing the song. Ava gave feedback 'I felt like that was more settled'. I perceived a heightened sense of Ava being present in the moment of performance. We then explored Chekhov's concept of radiating. I asked Ava to imagine sending out rays of light or energy from every part of the body. Following application of this technique at the start of the song Ava gave feedback that this exercise was the 'best in terms of accessibility' as a way of being more 'present'. I perceived a sense of energetic engagement but also a sense of calm in Ava's performance this time. This led us to reflect on the potential of radiating different types of energy or different qualities.

In the initial explorations of the archetypal gestures with Geir we modified some of the movements to suit his physical needs. Geir gave feedback that the archetypal gestures were 'very different' and observed 'I feel my arms are more open...I feel my muscles are more relaxed'. Geir then engaged in the gesture of growing bigger whilst singing a section of a song observing: 'I feel like it was way way easier to mix. I feel like I had more connection to all of my core muscles'. I also observed a more connected and dynamic vocal performance. Geir reflected on this: 'I feel like that was the upper chest, just being more connected with this area'. We then explored growing bigger and then coming back to stillness but trying to carry the initial energy created by the gesture through the song. Geir observed the energy drop and so we explored alternating between growing bigger and stillness, coming back to the gesture each time the energy level dropped. Geir gave feedback that this was a useful exercise in terms of awareness of the level of physical energy. We then explored how the idea of archetypal gesture could be modified within a performance context through the use of stylistically appropriate gestures that suggested taking

space or growing bigger, without engagement of the whole body. Geir found it challenging to find different gestures and so we explored having the intention of expanding or growing bigger without necessarily actively physicalizing. Clearly further engagement with this work was needed but we discussed that these exercises could potentially be very useful to Geir in moving towards greater physical engagement and variety of gesture in performance.

In exploring psychological gesture as an embodiment of the essence of the song, it was evident that Geir was becoming more familiar and confident in this type of physical approach. The shape he chose was an interesting representation of heart and mind, with one hand in front of the chest and one in front of the face. Again I observed an energising effect on Geir's voice and body when actively engaging in the shape and also when engaging in the shape directly before singing. Geir also explored Chekhov's technique of radiating energy. Geir felt able to connect with this energy and reflected that it was a different kind of energy to the previous exercises. The energy was more 'tender' and Geir felt that this was representative of the type of emotion that he is drawn towards. We further explored this idea of radiating different kinds of energy or emotion such as 'warm' and' forceful'.

Following further exploration during the following week Ava reflected that radiating could potentially be the most useful of the exercises for her moving forward and that in performance she would use it to radiate her own energy and to connect with the energy of the song. Ava had also explored the idea of radiating different colours, which she particularly responded to. In the final session we also reflected upon the potential of combining practices. The practice of radiating an effort action such as floating or slashing, for example, could be an effective way of bringing the work from the rehearsal room onto the stage. This type of exercise could be easily explored in rehearsal with a set up closer to a typical live performance, for example using a handheld microphone or playing an instrument. We explored mapping a song out according to effort action and radiating out these gualities (recording 5a from 28.17). We then took this a step further by also allowing expression and gesture to come into the body freely alongside this radiation. I perceived this to produce some of the most interesting and connected vocals that I have heard in Ava. Within her own explorations of Chekhov's techniques, Ava found that that physicalizing an archetypal gesture followed by stillness was a good way of experiencing the effects outside of the active posture. Chekhov also suggested that his physical exercises should be interspersed with moments of stillness in which the effects and sensations created by

the movement can be experienced within the body (Chekhov, 1991). Ava also found archetypal gesture to be particularly useful in relation to 'blocking the song out in terms of the emotional journey' which she considered to enhance the storytelling.

At the end of the process Geir also gave some insights into the potential of Chekhov's techniques within his own practice. Archetypal gesture had particular possibilities in relation to the vocal dynamics of a song. Using the 'growing bigger' gesture, for example, had proven useful to Geir in accessing a more dynamic vocal set up. Geir also felt the radiating exercise was particularly useful as he 'vibed with the energy much quicker'. He explained:

Usually when I sing it takes me a few minutes to get into the right mindset but I feel like that actually got me in the mindset straight off. I felt more concentrated.

He also reflected 'It felt like there was an audience there even though there was no audience'. This is interesting if we consider stage presence in terms of a shared energy between audience and performer. Geir would use this tool 'before going out on stage to get into the right state of mind'.

Six months after the completion of the practical sessions I requested some further reflective feedback from the two participants. I specifically asked them whether they were still using any of the techniques in their own practice and whether anything still particularly resonated with them from the exploratory work. Both participants were still using elements of the work within their respective rehearsal processes in order to develop performance, including whole-body gesture and Laban's effort actions. Ava gave feedback that the impact of imagination was something that still particularly resonated with her from our sessions. Geir gave feedback that the importance of connecting to emotion in the delivery of a song continued to resonate with him.

## 6.6 Reflections

The practical studio explorations provided valuable insights into the potential of these physical tools within the context of singer-songwriter performance training. The final session provided an opportunity to further explore the techniques introduced within previous sessions and for the participants to reflect upon how these approaches might be integrated into their existing practice or modified to suit their needs (recording 5a; recording 5b). This opened up possibilities for using these physical tools in a range of

ways, including in combination with each other. There is great scope for modification and amalgamation of these techniques and there is no limit to the ways in which these tools could be used creatively by practitioners working with singer-songwriters.

'Physicalization' could be used as an umbrella term for the techniques explored within the studio sessions. To 'physicalize' is to express in physical terms or to give shape or form to. The techniques differed however, in that some involved free movement whilst some involved set movements or shapes. I define 'free movement' within this context as movement which is not choreographed or set but is created spontaneously. The first studio session involved this type of movement and the Laban work also involved free movement but within a particular effort quality. Ava responded positively to the organic approach of free movement and found it to be an effective way of accessing the present moment. Geir initially found it difficult to access this type of approach, which challenged my assumption that free movement would be a simple exercise to explore at the start of the process. Within free movement exercises participants are required not only to use their bodies in a variety of ways but also to create or improvise this movement in the moment. Individuals with some movement or dance experience, such as Ava, may find this immediately accessible but for others a process of exposure to movement work, through breaking down exercises into more basic components, may be required in order to reach the stage where it is possible to fully engage in free movement. This type of physical approach is not typical of contemporary singer-training and this unfamiliarity, alongside perceptions of the genre, could also act as a block to the work with some singers, who might need a high level of encouragement, creative exploration or modification of the exercises.

The specificity of context within practitioner research and the highly individual nature of experience of physical practice mean that it is not possible to generalise. However, in considering participant reflections and written evaluations, alongside my own observations, a number of themes can be identified. The participants expressed that they enjoyed the sessions and the process overall. This is fundamental to my own teaching ethos. In order to explore creative techniques effectively participants must feel safe to do so and a welcoming and positive environment is essential.

Neuroimaging and neurochemical research suggests that when learning experiences are enjoyed there is a beneficial effect on the quality of learning (Pawlak et al., 2003). On the contrary, emotions such as boredom and stress can impact negatively on the learning process (Christianson, 1992). Making learning relevant has

also been shown to have a positive impact (Willis, 2007). The practical sessions were planned with a strong sense of collaboration and the aim of developing relevant and practical tools for the future use of participants. Written feedback from participants stated that sessions had been 'interesting', 'fun', 'engaging' and 'useful'. These views of the physical approaches as useful and enjoyable also came through as themes within the verbal feedback.

Another theme that can be identified within the qualitative feedback is the relationship between the physical and the vocal. Throughout the process it was clear that physicalizing had a significant effect on vocal production, which could be perceived by the participants and by myself as observer. Physicalizing often resulted in a greater sense of vocal ease or efficiency. The vocal quality of both participants was also repeatedly perceived to change as a result of engagement in different movement dynamics or qualities. Geir identified archetypal gesture as an effective tool in the development of vocal dynamics, as the physical gestures had a direct vocal effect. He also observed that it was easier to reach the higher notes when engaging in archetypal gesture and suggested this could be particularly useful in working in vocal set ups such as belt. This opens up a range of possibilities relating to archetypal gesture or whole-body gesture as a vocal tool. Belt is an energised vocal set up requiring a relatively high level of physical engagement. Some teachers and methods, including The Estill Voice Model, use the term anchoring to describe the physical support needed in such set ups (Steinhauer, 2017). I prefer to talk in terms of active or energised alignment as the word anchoring may have connotations of holding or tensing. Chekhov's archetypal gesture, which aims to wake up and engage the muscles of the whole body, is potentially useful in developing awareness of this active alignment and also of effort levels.

The concept of 'effort levels' is used within Estill Voice Training to encourage the development of an awareness of the amount of effort involved in different forms of voice production (Klimek et al., 2005, p. 9). The aim is to ensure that the least amount of effort is used in order to produce the desired vocal sound. An understanding of the difference between desirable physical engagement and excess effort is not easy to facilitate and requires a level of kinaesthetic awareness.

Contemporary singer-songwriters need to experience somatic approaches within training in order to develop this bodily awareness and knowledge. The term 'somatic' was coined by Hanna (1993) and is rooted in the Greek word soma, which relates to the living, dynamic body. Hanna describes somatics as the study of the body 'from

the first-person viewpoint of his own proprioceptive senses' (Hanna, 1993, p. 341). This approach has increasingly been used as a tool within the dance world (Enghauser, 2007). Within a dance context, somatics has been described as a holistic approach involving experiential learning, inclusive of physical awareness, awareness of feelings and cognitive reflection (Eddy, 2002). Methodologies such as Feldenkrais, the Alexander Technique and Body-Mind Centring can also be described as somatic due to a first person experiential approach and focus on awareness of sensation (Enghauser, 2007). This somatic approach is also employed within clinical settings. Somatic psychology advocates a mind-body-sprit approach and somatic therapies centre on the importance of experiencing at all levels, including physical sensation (Hartley, 2004). This work can also be integrated into contemporary singer-songwriter training and the physical approaches explored within my research can all be described as somatic. Through a somatic approach focusing on the experience of the individual, bodily knowledge can be developed and translated into greater vocal efficiency, and greater physical embodiment of performance. The link between physical habits and vocal production, as discussed in the literature review, is well documented (Chapman & Morris, 2019, Dame, 2005) and is considered an important aspect of vocal pedagogy. Development of bodily or embodied knowledge requires practice and a consistent training for the singersongwriter within a somatic approach, such as Feldenkrais or embodied yoga, would underpin and support the use of physical tools in the development of performance skills and also in relation to vocal efficiency.

The physical approaches of Laban and Chekhov explored within the studio sessions could form part of a somatic training for the singer-songwriter if used in a consistent way. Positive effects noted during the studio sessions included tension release and awareness of energy levels. Increased levels of physical connection and a greater sense of presence was also observed. The approaches could also be used in the development of physical expression, including gesture. Gesture has been defined as physical actions predominantly using the hands and arms and with specific communicative function (Liao & Davidson, 2016). This type of gesture is an important means of expression for the singer-songwriter, particularly for those who tend to perform behind a microphone. A later stage of the work explored within the practical sessions would be the addition of amplification in order to apply this to use with a microphone, which has physical implications. Existing study of singer gesture suggests that it is a useful tool in itself (Brunkan et al., 2021). The use of movement

training within choral singing has become more widespread (Liao & Davidson, 2016). This is not only in order to improve communication within performance settings but has also been shown to enhance vocal technique. A number of studies have shown that vocal faults tend to occur when the body is not sufficiently engaged (Liao & Davidson, 2016). Studies also suggest that using the body more actively, for example using active two handed gestures, rather than one handed stationary gestures, produces a more resonant sound in singers (Lee, 2019). This area of singing research supports the observations made within my exploratory sessions that physical engagement has a positive effect on vocal production. It also supports my hypothesis that a greater focus on movement work would be beneficial within singersongwriter training. In my experience of observing and assessing performers, an effective use of gesture feels organic and has a sense of the performer connecting with the song and audience within that moment. Singer-songwriters who accompany themselves, for example on piano or guitar, may not be able to use the type of communicative gesture associated with the hands and arms. There is however, a body of research centring on physical expression in the musician, which highlights the importance of the musician communicating through the body as a whole. As singing teachers we cannot necessarily 'teach' gesture but through exposure to physical approaches, such as those of Laban and Chekhov, this sort of physical connection and a greater expressive range can be developed.

Emotion is another major theme within this research. Having identified the communication of emotion as fundamental to songwriting and 'authentic' singersongwriter performance, I chose to explore the focus of physical tools as a potential way of exploring emotional content of the song and developing emotional connection and communication. The work of Laban and Chekhov explores physical action and the meaning or intent behind it. As discussed within the practice review, there is a body of research that supports the ability of movement to create sensation or feeling and it has been established that outward movement has an effect on the inward state (Laird, 1974). Studies have also shown that simply through the act of observing different qualities of movement or gesture in others our feeling state can be altered (Bastiaansen et al., 2009). This mirroring effect is one of the reasons why physical expression is such an important tool in the arousal of an emotional response within an audience and why physical training is essential to the performer, including the singer-songwriter.

The physical explorations of emotion in the studio sessions involved detailed

analysis by the singer-songwriter of the emotional content of their songs. The participants found that this was a useful exercise in itself. Although emotion is intangible and can be difficult to define, singer-songwriters, as performers, must consider the content of their material and what they intend to convey to their audience. During this process of analysis Geir reflected: 'I'm so far detached from this from when I wrote it that having to think about it is almost a bit difficult now'. This disproves the argument that in writing from their own experience singer-songwriters are able to easily connect with the emotion behind their songs. Analysis of the emotional journey of a song is also useful in renewing this connection to material that has been performed many times.

Through physical exploration the participants found that they were able to further connect with the emotional journey of a song. In the analysis of her song Ava reflected that it was about 'contorting yourself' into a situation and 'reclaiming space'. This is a good example of the way in which we use physical language to describe emotional states, demonstrating that our experience of the physical and the emotional are intertwined. Ewan and Sagovsky discuss this in their text on Laban's Effort Actions and observe that much of our everyday language has a strong basis in physicality. We experience the world as physical beings and the sensation of embodied experience is captured by the use of metaphor (Ewan & Sagovsky, 2018). The participants gave feedback that Laban's effort actions were particularly useful in connecting with the emotion and feel of a song. Geir reflected that there was a 'direct connection' between the effort qualities and emotion. Ava reflected that physicalization brings a greater sense of being 'present' and 'immersed' in the song. In connecting with the emotional content of a song through these physical approaches, the physical expression of emotion within performance may also be developed.

Although Ava and Geir had different responses to elements of the work, there are overarching themes in their experience across the physical approaches. Physical, emotional and vocal responses to the physical tools have been identified and these responses are interconnected and difficult to separate. The physical tools were perceived to benefit vocal production. Vocal set ups, such as belt, require a particularly active alignment (Steinhauer, 2017), and it is therefore not surprising that in accessing a more active alignment and a greater flow of energy there is a resulting sense of ease within dynamic vocal set ups. There was also a correlation between motion factors and vocal quality. Dab, for example is direct and sudden and so tended

to have an energising effect on the vocal dynamic. Float is flexible and sustained and tended to create a light quality and sense of ease within the vocal. Although there is also a great deal of scope for difference in individual response to specific types of physicalization, the ability of the physical to effect the vocal is not in question. These vocal effects are also a result of the relationship between movement and emotion.

The facility of the human voice to communicate emotion is well-documented (Loui et al., 2013). This area of research can be traced back to Darwin's Phylogenic Theory of Emotional Affect (Darwin, 1882). Darwin's *The Expression of the Emotions in Man and Animals*, has been described as the first pioneering study of emotion (Ekman, 2009). Darwin argued for the existence of universal human emotions, which played a significant, adaptive role within evolution. He considered vocalisation to be an emotional gesture. Subsequently there has been much discussion around the close relationship between vocal expression and singing. Helmholtz, for example, considered singing to have evolved from the vocal expression of emotion (Helmholtz, 1954). Emotion has also been shown to have physiological effects on the voice.

Scherer has completed a number of studies into the effects of emotion on the voice and has found significant differences between specific emotions (Scherer et al., 2015). In a study of the vocal effects of emotions including sadness, tenderness, pride, joy and anger, acoustic analysis showed robust vocal signatures for specific emotion types (Scherer et al., 2017).

Certainly, emotion cues are widely used within singing training. Oren Brown's concept of primal sound has been built on by classical pedagogue Janice Chapman. Primal sound is involuntary sound that stems from emotion (Brown, 1996). Primal sounds such as the sigh, yell, whimper and whinge can be recreated within the singing studio in order to aid in the development of healthy technique. Chapman describes primal sound as part of a response system involving body and mind, emanating from human need and has championed its place within vocal pedagogy (Chapman & Morris, 2021). Dane Chalfin has been involved in extensive research into the use of primal sounds within the training and rehabilitation of CCM singers. His research has found that each primal sound elicits a particular physiological response or vocal gesture (Chalfin, 2006). The effects of these primal sounds on the vocal mechanism illustrates the ability of emotion to change the vocal sound or quality. The vocal effects of physicalizing are not simply due, then, to an increase in physical engagement but also to the ability of movement to create emotion states. In creating a particular feeling or emotion, movement may also bring about the

physiological effects on the voice corresponding to that particular emotion. This results in acoustic changes and a perceived change to the quality of the sound. The work of Chalfin and Chapman also demonstrates the use of primal sound to elicit postural and respiratory support responses (Chapman & Morris, 2021). The ability of movement qualities to evoke feeling means that physicalizing may also tap into these primal responses that can produce specific vocal gestures and ultimately a stronger and more healthy physical and vocal connection.

Another theme within the practical explorations was the synergy between the body and mind and, more specifically, the impact of the imagination. The power of thought on the body is utilised by many mind-body practices, including The Alexander Technique, in which thoughts act as guides to action without force (Cranz, 2000). An Alexander practitioner would direct a client to send widening or lengthening thoughts to a particular part of the body, rather than to actively lengthen or widen the body, for example. Yoga Nidra, which encourages relaxation through guided imagery (Parker et al., 2013), is another practice which uses thought in order to bring about changes in the body. The influence of thought on the body is a key concept within other fields, including sports psychology. Jacobson's psychoneuromuscular theory (1930) argues that when an individual imagines performing a task the same neural pathways are activated as when physically performing that task. Subsequent studies have supported the assertion that imagining a movement involves similar neural activity to the actual execution of that movement (Munzert et al., 2009). There has been a significant amount of research into the use of visualisation or imagery as a strategy for athletes. Mental imagery can be described as a multisensory experience created or recreated within the mind (Munroe-Chandler & Guerrero, 2017). Imagery is widely used within sports psychology practice as a performance enhancement tool. It has been shown to improve motor tasks (Slimani et al., 2016) and endurance (McCormick et al., 2015). Imagery has also been used within this field in order to improve self-confidence (Weinberg, 2008), selfefficacy (Beauchamp et al., 2002) and motivation (Martin & Hall, 1995). In addition to this, imagery has been shown to be an effective strategy in the management of competitive anxiety (Vadoa et al., 1997).

Imagery is also a tool commonly used to enhance the performance of musicians (Gregg et al., 2008). Although there is comparatively little research into the use of imagery within this context the research findings do mirror sport and motor skill research outcomes (Wright et al., 2014). The use of imagery has been shown to

benefit the musician in various aspects of practice and performance (Bernardi et al., 2013). It has also been suggested that the use of imagery can increase performance confidence and may be of benefit in managing negative emotions (Connolly & Williamon, 2004). The research of Gregg et al. into the use of imagery by classical musicians supports these suggestions (Gregg et al., 2008). A survey of 159 classical music students found that musicians use imagery to improve concentration, improve confidence, to overcome mental and physical fatigue and to cope with difficult situations (Gregg et al., 2008). Certainly, there is a cross-over of performance techniques within the sports world and the performance arts. Imagery has been shown to be a cognitive process fundamental to motor learning and performance and it is of interest to a range of research fields, including cognitive psychology (Cumming & Williams, 2012).

The use of imagery has a great deal of potential then, within singer-songwriter training as a practice and performance enhancement technique and also as a strategy targeting areas such as confidence and fatigue. CCM-specific research into these potential uses is needed however, particularly as imagery may be regarded as a classical singing technique by many. Voice pedagogues such as Miller have written about the use of imagery within classical singing teaching (Miller, 1996), and it has become associated with this style of singing. Unfortunately, it has also become associated with teachers who do not have a solid knowledge of the voice and use imagery as an approach in place of functional training (Edwards, 2014). This is unfortunate in that is detracts from the many positive uses of imagery, which can of course be used in combination with a functional approach. The Alexander Technique is concerned with functionality, particularly the relationship between the head, neck and spine (Cacciatore et al., 2020), and yet guided imagery is commonly used within Alexander work. In the same way, using an image of floating with a singer can bring about instant vocal and physical release and this type of technique can be integrated within functional vocal training rooted in voice science. Within our own practical explorations Ava observed that imagining certain movements had particular effects on her vocal production. Using a thought or image of 'reaching out', for example, was perceived as focusing the voice. For the singer-songwriter imagery has potential as a tool for addressing vocal needs and also other aspects of performance, such as the development of stage confidence and presence.

In the absence of pedagogical discourse specific to the singer-songwriter and performance training it is necessary to consider resonances with other areas in the

development of appropriate teaching tools. The physical tools of Laban and Chekhov, usually associated with the disciplines of dance and acting respectively, also centre on the mind-body relationship. Engaging with Laban's effort actions involves engaging the imagination in order to embody states such as floating or pressing. However, it is the practice of Chekhov that is particularly associated with the imagination. Prior to this research project I had favoured Laban's techniques over Chekhov's practice in my work with singers. This was rooted in a degree of personal preference or perhaps bias towards Laban's practice. I also believed Chekhov's exercises to be more complex and less accessible than those of Laban. As I expected, the participants did respond to Laban's efforts in a range of ways but they also found a great deal of scope within the techniques of Chekhov. The participants gave feedback that Chekhov's archetypal gesture is particularly physically demanding. The gestures are strong in guality due to Chekhov's aim of waking up the muscles through the engagement of the whole body. This exclusively strong quality limits archetypal gesture as a tool for exploring the emotional journey of a song. Laban's effort actions encompass a wider range of movement qualities and so offer a more extensive set of tools. However, our explorations suggest archetypal gesture to have potential in the development of physical skills, including physical connection and energetic presence in the body. There are also other tools provided within Chekhov's practice, such as his movement qualities relating to the elements, that could prove more useful in the exploration of emotion than archetypal gesture. The tool that proved most accessible and immediate, however, was Chekhov's concept of radiating. This exercise harnesses the imagination in order to radiate energy out from the body. Contrary to my previous assumptions about the use of Chekhov's techniques with contemporary singers, radiating proved to be a simple and accessible concept with an immediate physical effect. Both participants expressed that they had particularly responded to the radiating exercise and would continue to use it within their future practice. We explored the idea of radiating different types of energy and emotion and Ava contributed the idea of radiating colour.

Researchers within the fields of colour psychology and colour therapy have proposed a strong link between emotion and colour. Colour psychology explores associations with specific colours and the effects of colour on feelings and behaviours (O'Connor, 2011). Some writers include biology-based responses within these effects. Kopacz (2003) suggests that biological responses to colour can be a

valuable health care tool. This type of use of colour may be referred to as colour therapy and there is a body of literature on the healing properties of colour from authors including McLeod (2012, 2016), and Wills (2013). Although it has been argued that colour research is lacking in empirical evidence (O'Connor, 2011), the visualisation of colour is likely to prove a useful sensory tool for many singers and could be used in combination with other performance techniques. There is a large body of acting technique that is rooted within the senses, for example Strasberg's work on sense memory (Strasberg, 1987). The wider use of sensory techniques could also be a productive area of exploration with singer-songwriters and might also prove useful within the songwriting process.

The use of imagination within the training of actors, Musical Theatre singers and classical singers is common as these performers play characters and imaginative approaches are key to many acting techniques, including those of Stanislavski and Chekhov. However, the imagination is not simply a tool to be used in the creation of character, it also has broad potential for use with singers who perform their own material. Radiating engages the imagination in order to create an energy or state within the singer and also potentially enables them to send this out to an audience. Although singer-songwriters may not be required to portray a character, they do require the skills to communicate experience, emotion and intention to others. It has been argued that it is easy for singer-songwriters to connect with their material as it often centres on their own experiences (Edwards, 2018). However, even if an individual is emotionally connected to their material, it does not necessarily follow that they will be able to effectively communicate their story or performance intention to an audience. Within my practice I frequently observe that the emotional connection of the singer-songwriter is internalised. Chalfin also observes this tendency in singersongwriter performance towards introversion (Chalfin, 2017). This results in a closing of the body and often the eyes, creating a sense of shutting the audience out. Radiating is a useful way of working towards greater openness and outward expression within performance. The concept of radiating is also particularly interesting in relation to the question of how we develop stage presence in the singer-songwriter. Mala Powers, a pupil of Michael Chekhov, explains radiating in terms of this presence. The amount of presence or 'charisma' an actor has on stage corresponds to the degree of radiation she or he is able to achieve (Powers, 1991, p. xli). I was able to observe a marked increase in presence in both my participants, even within a brief exploration of radiating. Through imagining or visualising an energy or quality it is

possible to elicit similar responses in the body to active physicalisation, which is supported by research within sports science and sports psychology. This means that imagining or visualising can produce similar physical and vocal responses to active physicalization, which affords it great potential as a performance tool for the singersongwriter, which might be used in rehearsal or before a performance. This is a tool that could also be applied during live or recorded performance and is compatible with the use of microphones and self-accompaniment on an instrument.

On reflection on the process as a whole it is clear that the practical research sessions were just the beginning of explorations and the generation of ideas around physical approaches and these particular tools. Participants were very limited in number, due to the necessity of online sessions cannot therefore be considered representative of the wider community of singer-songwriters. The participants wanted to take part in the research and were therefore already open to new ways of working, which may not be the case with every singer-songwriter. There was also scope for using further methods of reflection. Participants were asked to explore the tools in the week following each session and to feedback on experiences and observations. This feedback could have taken place in the form of a reflective written or recorded log and video footage of the work could have provided further insights. Opportunities for participants to review the footage from sessions could also have led to further reflections on the work.

## 6.7 Towards a Toolkit

Below are some suggested tools for exploration by singer-songwriters, drawn from the practical research. Potential aims of the tools include development of physical awareness and connection to the body. These tools can be used as part of a training process that allows the singer-songwriter to experience a range of movement dynamics and qualities, thus developing bodily confidence and knowledge and ultimately greater presence and expression in performance. The tools offer creative ways to explore and develop gesture as a form of communication in performance. They also aim to develop a greater awareness of the role of emotion within singersongwriter performance and offer ways to connect with the emotional content of a song. This type of physical approach can be used creatively to suit individual context.

Table 2: Toolkit of Physical Approaches

# Physical Tools

## Free movement

- i. Walk around the room as you sing
- ii. Explore walking in different ways as you sing
  - Fast/slow
  - Heavy/light
  - Direct/indirect
- iii. As you sing move the body in any way that you feel

# Laban's Effort actions

- i. Explore different ways of moving
  - heavy/light
  - direct/flexible
  - sustained/sudden
- ii. Move in different effort qualities
  - Press
  - Flick
  - Punch
  - Float
  - Slash
  - Glide
  - Wring
  - Dab
- iii. Move in different effort qualities whilst singing
- iv. Map out the song choosing an effort for each section.

Physicalise these as you sing the song

- v. Explore using different types of hand/arm gestures as you sing
  - heavy/light
  - direct/flexible

- sustained/sudden
- vi. Explore using different qualities of hand/arm gesture as you sing using the effort actions:
  - Press
  - Flick
  - Punch
  - Float
  - Slash
  - Glide
  - Wring
  - Dab

# Chekhov's Archetypal Gesture

- i. Physicalize archetypal gestures, engaging and waking up the whole body:
  - Growing Bigger
  - Closing Down
  - Reaching Out
  - Throwing
  - Beating
  - ii. Physicalize the gestures whilst singing
  - Map out a song choosing a different archetypal gesture for each section. Physicalize these as you sing the song.
  - iv. Map out a song using your own whole-body gestures. Physicalize these as you sing the song.

# Chekhov's Psychological Gesture

- i. Find a whole-body gesture that embodies the essence of the song.
- ii. Physicalize this gesture as you sing the song, alternating between engaging in the gesture and stillness.

- iii. Physicalize the psychological gesture at the start of the song and then move to stillness.
- iv. Imagine the psychological gesture before you sing the song or as you sing the song.

# Chekhov's Radiating Exercise

- i. Visualise yourself radiating energy or light from every part of your body.
- ii. Imagine you are radiating this energy whilst singing.
- iii. Explore radiating different types of energy, qualities, emotions or colours.

# **Chapter Seven: Conclusions**

This practitioner research project focused on my own professional development within the context of contemporary singer-songwriter training, specifically the potential of physical tools in the facilitation of effective performance. The literature reveals a consensus as to the centrality of performance to the creative roles of the singer-songwriter. Songwriting is assessed through recorded and live performance (Isherwood, 2014) and performance is also a compositional approach, which can be employed in place of the classical notation-based approach (Henson & Zagorski-Thomas, 2019). Despite this, training at HE level has not tended to focus on the development of performance skills in the popular musician. This research has highlighted the gap in discourse relating to performance training for the contemporary singer-songwriter and has explored the ways in which this may be connected to perceptions of authenticity and artist identity, specific to the genre. In spite of and in response to commonly voiced beliefs that 'formal training can sometimes get in the way of emotional expression' (Hughes, 2014, p. 292), this research has explored the way in which bodily movement relates to emotion and the communication of meaning and how physical tools may be used to develop these aspects of performance.

This research has explored movement as carrying intention through the physical practices of Chekhov and Laban. Engagement with expressive performance research has also suggested that the body is key to the communication of music performance (Davidson, 2001). My belief that the body is not just central to the production of meaning in performance but that physical approaches should also form a core part of performance training is also supported by advances in neuroscientific research. The work of Damasio, for example, essentially shows that our neural processes, our thoughts, actions and emotions are rooted in our bodily experience of the world (Damasio, 2006). I would assert that, far from getting in the way of emotional expression, a performance training with a focus on the physical not only develops the body of the performer as an expressive tool but also enables connection to performance material on a far deeper level. A level that, perhaps is not accessible through any other means. For the singer-songwriter, performance is not only expressing story and emotion, it also requires the embodiment of artist identity on stage and, for some, physical approaches might be key to the exploration and realization of this identity.

### 7.1 What Now?

The practical explorations were valuable in providing real insights into the subjective experience of physical approaches to training. I began the process with an expectation that movement-based approaches would elicit a range of responses in the singer-songwriter and the studio explorations confirmed this. However, the overall reflective process has developed my own thinking in relation to performance training in a range of ways and has produced many possibilities for avenues of further exploration within my own teaching practice. I have also developed my understanding of what distinguishes the singer-songwriter from other types of contemporary singer and how aspects of the songwriting and wider curriculum might inform my own practice.

Through the reflective research process, the importance of emotion as the core of authentic performance came to the forefront for me. Within my wider teaching practice connection to emotion is the fundamental reason for the use of physical approaches with performers. It may be possible to develop this connection through other methods, such as discussing the meaning of the lyric. However, no other method has the same power as movement to elicit a primal response so strong that it can bring about emotional and therefore physiological change. Dane Chalfin's work on primal voice has identified specific emotion-related sounds (sigh, whinge, whine and yell) with efficient vocal gestures that can be used in developing healthy vocal technique and in the rehabilitation of the singing voice (Chalfin, 2006). The Estill Model also uses emotion-based terminology and instruction in order to access particular vocal set ups and this is a model used both by voice teachers and within voice therapy and rehabilitation by Speech and Language Therapists (Bos-Clark & Carding, 2018). The interrelationship between the vocal, the physical and the emotional provides endless possibilities for the integration of physical techniques within vocal and performance training. For the singer-songwriter physical techniques provide a possible approach to the development of an individual and recognizable sound and the vocal skills necessary in order to 'share and create music with the desired expressive output' (Reinhert, 2019, p. 131). I hypothesise that the use of Laban's effort actions in conjunction with the established primal sounds could provide a more holistic way of connecting with emotion and this integration has exciting potential for use in the development of healthy vocal technique with the contemporary vocalist. For example, physicalizing or imagining a floating quality in conjunction with vocalizing the sigh could produce the desired vocal gesture whilst also eliciting tension

release and ease in the body. In Ava's feedback she made an association between the wringing quality of movement and the vocal 'cry' or whine, which could be another effective combination. When working with 'yell' or belt I often direct singers to make big gestures in the body and it would be interesting to explore the effects of specific effort actions on this vocal set up. This is certainly an area that I intend to explore and develop further within my own practice with singer-songwriters. This type of physical approach could also be a useful tool in finding safe ways to produce the more extreme vocal effects used within some contemporary styles, such as metal.

Through the process of this research I have also developed my understanding of performance 'presence' within the singer-songwriter context. Although presence is central to constructions of popular music artistry (Hughes, 2014), what performance elements combine to form a strong presence and how this might be developed is not clear. My practical research suggests that, through the act of physicalizing, it is possible to experience a sense of being present and connected in the moment of performing a song and this is an important aspect of what we perceive as presence in the performer. Physical tools also provide a way of developing connection to the body and an awareness of energy levels, which I understand to be central to stage presence. With an increased level of bodily awareness and connection comes greater confidence and with this comes the ability to embody a sense of identity on stage, which translates into stage presence. The link between the physical aspects of my practice and the development of stage skills is now more clear to me and I am more explicit about this in my lesson objectives and discussions with singers, which makes this work more relevant for them. Physical exercises benefit vocal production but also ultimately work towards building confidence, presence and expression on stage. The engagement of the imagination was also found to be an accessible and immediate way of experiencing a strong sense of being present and energized in the body. Although imagination may be classed as a mental aspect of music experience (Laws, 2015), within the psychophysical techniques of Chekhov and others, harnessing the imagination provides a way of engaging the whole being. Chekhov's concept of radiating is a tool which is now an established part of my practice and which I intend to investigate and develop further in relation to presence and the singer-songwriter. Through the research process I have also developed more clarity within my practice regarding 'intention', which I define as what the singer wants to communicate or evoke in the audience through a song. The tools I use to explore this concept with singers include radiating and psychological gesture.

Through the practical explorations I have begun to develop tools which can now be applied and further explored within my teaching practice. To take this research further these tools would need to be applied over a longer period and within a group context with a greater number of participants. This group context would allow for collaboration and creative practice between participants and also peer feedback. The focus could also be narrowed in order to explore a smaller number of tools in greater depth. A group context would allow a more representative range of individuals in terms of factors such as gender and background and a greater variety of musical styles and contexts. Working over an extended period would allow individuals to progress and build on techniques in order to apply them within performance preparation. This would enable a greater focus on the live performance setting, including considerations such as size of venue and type of gig, the use of a microphone and perhaps instrumental technique. Within this extended work I am particularly interested to explore how physical approaches might be used in relation to artist identity and stage persona.

### 7.2 The Wider Context

The wider context of my research is HE level training for the popular singersongwriter. My literature review revealed that popular singing is now largely accepted as a distinct category with specific training needs. However, although this may be indicative of progressive thinking within the field of vocal pedagogy, we are clearly now at a stage where further distinction between categories of CCM-singer is needed. LoVetri originated the term 'CCM' as an alternative to 'non- classical' (LoVetri, 2003). However, if all singers of non-classical styles are merged within one single category we surely have no greater sense of specificity. There may be a growing acceptance that Musical Theatre is different from other popular styles and that distinct pedagogies are required but many researchers continue to group these categories together with little reference to what makes them different (Edwards, 2018). In order to further contemporary vocal pedagogy we now need greater focus on specific styles within the wider CCM category. My definition of the singer-songwriter encompasses a range of musical styles such as hip-hop, rock, country and jazz, each of which has specific training needs.

Versatility may be a focus of training for Musical theatre singers and popular singers, such as session and covers singers. For the songwriter as artist the emphasis is on the individual, even idiosyncratic. Although the singer-songwriter may not need

to adapt to different styles and genres this does not mean that vocal and performance techniques should be de-emphasized within their training. Rather, it should be adapted to address their needs. Although there may be questions around how we align the desired originality and individuality of the artist-songwriter with the technical aspects of training, HE providers must equip students with the skills required to enter a competitive and shifting music industry, in which live performance is now more profitable than selling records. The reality is that many singers will have vocal issues at some point in their careers. If a singer-songwriter has a heavy vocal load, due to touring or a busy recording schedule, the ability to use the voice in a healthy and sustainable way is essential in order to prevent such issues. The importance of technique is highlighted by the employment of vocal coaches by many high profile artist-songwriters including Coldplay, Florence Welch and Muse (Hammond, 2022). Vocal coaches are also employed to look after artistes whilst on tour. This type of industry vocal coaching supports the necessity for a holistic approach in the training of singer-songwriters, ensuring that artists are 'match fit' (Hammond, 2022).

The promotion of 'the healthy performer' is also highly important within the HE setting. In order to prepare the singer-songwriter for the demands of the industry, an holistic approach to training must consider a range of aspects of the performer, including physical and mental health. There is reportedly a growing mental health crisis in the UK (The Health Foundation) and a global mental health crisis compounded by the Covid-19 pandemic (Project Hope). Studies suggest that mental health issues are particularly prevalent within the student population. A survey conducted by the Office of National Statistics in 2020, for example, suggested that students are significantly more anxious than the general population of the UK (Office for National Statistics). For performing arts students and performers the mental and physical demands of their chosen profession may have additional health implications. The Centre for Performance Science recognises these implications and their research has shown that the demands faced by performers in their training and work can manifest in occupational stress and performance anxiety. They identify this issue as being detrimental to wellbeing and also as forming a block to effective performance (Centre for Performance Science).

The relationship between movement and health is well established. Practitioners such as Laban have long recognised the mental and physical benefits of movement. The mind-body connection developed through movement practices is invaluable in supporting health and wellbeing, fostering resilience and managing

stress levels (Goodill, 2005). The inclusion of specific movement classes within the HE curriculum would go a long way towards better equipping the singer-songwriter for the rigours of the industry. The establishment of physical training for contemporary singers would also encourage a change in attitudes towards the genre and a move away from the 'rock 'n roll' image towards the more professionalised approach of 'the healthy performer'. This type of training would also underpin the development of vocal and performance technique.

# 7.3 Final Thoughts

Within this research project I chose to explore elements of the work of Laban and Chekhov. There are numerous other movement practices that could potentially be used in similar ways. However, what these practitioners have in common is a specific focus on sensation. Movement creates feeling and a sense of being present in our own body and in a particular moment. Alongside the many benefits of physical practice comes a greater sense of self. By connecting with our own sense of who we are, we are better equipped to communicate our own stories with others in whatever artistic form we choose. Singer-songwriters are unique as the only category of singer performing their own music, rooted in their own stories and experiences. For them, the exploration and understanding of self may be even more important than for other types of performer and movement practices may hold many possibilities for the development and embodiment of artist identity.

As more and more HE institutions offer training for singer-songwriters we must continue to actively develop specific pedagogical strategies. In my teaching experience, singer-songwriters do not present themselves at the start of training with a fully formed musical identity and professional performance skills and nor should we expect them to. We need to continue to develop creative approaches that enable students to explore their own sense of self and what makes them distinct. Singersongwriters also need the opportunity to develop the necessary skills to express their own unique view of the world within live performance. Alongside the introduction of specific movement classes, development of the wider performance pedagogy for singer-songwriters is needed.

Music performance is ultimately a sharing of human experience and an expression of self. In the absence an established performance pedagogy for singersongwriters we must be open to exploring techniques from other disciplines. For me, the physical practice of Rudolf Laban and Michael Chekhov is compelling and

continues to hold exciting potential for use with singer-songwriters. In the experience of movement, it is possible to encapsulate something of the human condition and this is also what we endeavour to create within the shared experience of live and recorded music.
# **Appendices**

# Appendix 1: Evaluation of Studio Sessions Questionnaire/Completed Questionnaires

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1tzZg3KybWPWuN70h-IQzSO0SGBLqSMdI/view?usp=share\_link

## Appendix 2: Info Sheet

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1P\_Qp4MBI951MCZQgj96S\_EghYdOsJoNW/view?usp =share\_link

#### Appendix 3: Consent Form

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1jLCC5I3oSeDNk9ei9qv4OFywX2fjr7wS/view?usp=share\_li nk

## Appendix 4: Survey Data

https://drive.google.com/drive/folders/1qTGx9IRTH4OQ9Q5SZqH6f1ezL0iYJPKL?usp=sh are link

#### Appendix 5: Link to Video Recordings

Link removed as public access is not available.

#### References

- Addison, A., Bonazzi, E., Christiansen, L., Craig, P., Douglas, J. E., Edwin, R.,
  Emmons, S., Gartside, R., Gregg, J. W., Harris, H., Hodam, H., Honn, B.,
  Keenze, M., Kiesgen, P., Lavanne, A., LoVetri, J., Mannion, E., McCollum, J.,
  McCoy, S., Wormhoudt, P. S. (2008). In support of contemporary commercial
  music (nonclassical) voice pedagogy. *Journal of Singing*, 65(1), 7-10.
- Adrian, B. (2008). Actor training the Laban way: An integrated approach to voice, speech and movement. Allworth. https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=JXrkwAEACAAJ
- Akpan, V. I., Igwe, U. A., Mpamah, I. C., & Okoro, C. O. (2020). Social Constructivism: Implications on teaching and learning. *British Journal of Education*, *8*(8), 49-56.
- Argyle, M. (1988). Bodily communication (2nd ed.). Methuen.
- Barrow, T. (2022). Yungblud [Television]. C. Murnane.
- Bartenieff, I., & Lewis, D. (1980). *Body movement: Coping with the environment (1st ed.).* Routledge.
- Bartlett, I. (2020). Crossing style borders: New inroads in training teachers of singing. *Voice and Speech Review*, *14*(2), 184-195. https://doi.org/10.1080/23268263.2020.1695878
- Bartlett, I., & Naismith, M. (2020). An investigation of contemporary commercial music (CCM) voice pedagogy: A class of its own? Journal of Singing, 76, 273-282.
- Bastiaansen, J. A. C. J., Thioux, M., & Keysers, C. (2009). Evidence for mirror systems in emotions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 364(1528), 2391-2404. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1098/rstb.2009.0058</u>
- Beauchamp, M. R., Bray, S. R., & Albinson, J. G. (2002). Pre-competition imagery, self-efficacy and performance in collegiate golfers. *J Sports Sci*, 20(9), 697-705. https://doi.org/10.1080/026404102320219400
- Bennett, J. (2017). Towards a framework for creativity in popular music degrees. In
  G. Smith, Z. Moir, M. Brennan, P. Kirkman & S. Rambarran (Eds.), *The Routledge research companion to popular music education* (pp. 285-297).
  Routledge.
- Benson, E. A. A. (2020). *Training contemporary commercial singers*. Compton Publishing.
- Bernardi, N., De Buglio, M., Trimarchi, P., Chielli, A., & Bricolo, E. (2013). Mental practice promotes motor anticipation: Evidence from skilled music

performance [Original Research]. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00451

- Bernardo-Filho, M., de Sá-Caputo, D. d. C., Seixas, A., & Taiar, R. (2021). Wholebody vibration approaches in neurological disorders. In R. T. M. Bernardo-Filho, D. C. de Sá-Caputo, & A. Seixas (Eds.), *Therapy approaches in neurological disorders*. IntechOpenonline. http://dx.doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.97534
- Bernstein, B. (1996). Dancing beyond trauma. In F. Levy (Ed.), *Dance and other expressive arts therapies: When words are not enough* (pp. 41-58). Routledge.
- Berry, C. (1991). Voice and the actor. Collier Books.
- Bohlman, P. V. (1988). *The study of folk music in the modern world*. Indiana University Press.
- Bondi, L. (2014). Understanding feelings: Engaging with unconscious communication and embodied knowledge. *Emotion, Space and Society, 10,* 44-54. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emospa.2013.03.009</u>
- Bos-Clark, P., & Carding, M. (2018). Speech and language therapy for voice disorders. In J. C. C. R. W. Watkinson (Ed.), *Scott-Brown's otorhinolaryngology and head and neck surgery, Eighth Edition* (pp. 973-980). Chapman and Hall/CRC.
- Bradbury, H., Lewis, R., & Embury, D. C. (2019). Education action research. In
  C. Mertler (Ed.), *The Wiley handbook of action research in education* (pp. 5-28). Blackwell. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119399490.ch1</u>
- Brookfield, S. (2017). Becoming a critically reflective teacher. Jossey-Bass.
- Brown, O. (1996). *Discover your voice: How to develop healthy voice habits*. Singular Publishing Group. https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=6M3FtgEACAAJ
- Brunkan, D. M. C., & Bowers, D. J. (2021). Singing with gesture: Acoustic and perceptual measures of solo singers. *Journal of Voice*, *35*(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvoice.2019.08.029</u>
- Buchanan, H. J. (2014). Body mapping: Enhancing voice performance through somatic pedagogy. In S. D. Harrison & J. O'Bryan (Eds.), *Teaching singing in the 21st century* (pp. 143-174). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-8851-9\_10</u>
- BVA. *The British Voice Association Role*. Retrieved 29 May 2021, from https://www.britishvoiceassociation.org.uk/index.htm
- Cacciatore, T. W., Johnson, P. M., & Cohen, R. G. (2020). Potential mechanisms of the Alexander Technique: Toward a comprehensive neurophysiological

{ [å^|ÈESõj^• • õji |[\*^ AÜ^çõt] Éb/Q+DÉEFJJËEFHÈE<u>@cd • KBBA[õit] ¦\* BF€ÈFFGHD; ÈC€GEË</u> €€€ĴÁ

 $\hat{O}_{ab} = \hat{E}_{A} = \hat{E}_{A}$ 

Ô@q+j3,ÉKÖĚAÚ¦ąĩ a+p/4 [ĭ}å•ĚKÜ^da?ç^åÁCHÁ20^à¦ĭa÷ÂO€COÉA-[{Á

@cc] • KBD, , Èç[&aak¦^@æaàäñaaæaāį}È&[{Đ}¦ãįaakË

ç[3&^ÀKdKc^¢dMOT‡Ĩà GEÚ¦ã[æfà GEX[3&^à G€, [¦\à GEã Éc@[æfà GEd;Ĩà GE&¦^æc^à G €Ú¦ã[æfà GEÙ[č}å•Á

Ô@eq+-3)ÊŐÖÈÁÇGEFÏDÉÁØI[{ÁÇ^ÓÁq[ÁÇ^ÓAÁUœet^&¦æedÉAj^¦-{¦{æ}}&^ÁæjåÁæčå&}&^Á

@e))åà[[\ÁQ;]Ěá∓HÏËFIÎDĚÁÓ|[[{•à`¦^ÁÚ`à|ã:@3),\*ĚÁ

Ô@ee(à^¦|æen)ÉEØÉAÇGEEEHDÉAT&&@ee^|ÆÔ@e\@[çÈÉÜ[`d^å\*^ÈÁ

Ô@e)å|^¦ÉKSEÁÇGEFIDEÁ/^æ&@a;\*Á;[]`|æ¦Á;`•&&A`c`|^•ÈQAÛÈKOÈAPæ¦ã;[}ÁBÁRÈAUĆ\¦^æ)Á ÇÒå•ÈDEÁ/^æ&@a;\**Á*;ã;\*ã;\*á§;Á©AÓF•oÁ2A}c`¦^ÁÇ;]ÈÁIÉCDEÁU]¦ã;\*^¦Áp^c@e¦|æ)å•ÈÁ <u>@c1 KBD</u>à[<u>\&^}cæ</u>d<u>i</u>;<u>{</u>C}<u>A</u>;}; <u>@c1 KBD</u>à[<u>\&^}cæ</u>d<u>i</u>;<u>{</u>C}<u>A</u>;<u>}</u>]

Ô@\@;çÊAT ÈAQFJJFDĚAU}Ać@Aé^&@;ã `^Aį́-Áæ&cēj\*AQ2ã•oÁ^åããį}DĚAPæ}]^¦ÁÔ[||ãj•ÈÁ

Ô@ãrœan)•[}ÊŴĖKOEĂÇFJJOEDĚĆ{[cā[}æ¢Árd^••Áæ)åÁ^^,ãð)^••Á{[¦^KKOEÁ&;ãa&æ¢Á ¦^çã^,ÈĚÚ•^&@/[\*ã&æ¢ÁĆ\*/|/°cő)ÊÉFFGQEDĚÉGÌIËH€JÈÉ<u>@c]•KBBà[⇦\*EFGÈFG+ÏBEGHË</u> GJ€JĒFFGÈGÈGÌIÁ

- Ô[}}[||ˆÊŹÔĚĚY āļāæ;[}ÊŹŒĖŹÇƏƏE DĚAT^}œ;A;\āļ•Ád;æājā;\*ĚQ;ÁŒĖYāļāæ;[}ÁÇÒåÈDĚA *T*`•&&æ;Á^¢&`||^}& \&\KÜdæ:\*\*?a\*•Áæ;áA\*@;ã`^••Áq;Á^}@e;&^Á;A;{;} Q]ÈÆG FËG ÎDĚAU¢-{¦åÁY}ãç^¦•ã:ÁU¦+••ĚA
- Ô[¦}-{¦åÊ4\ÈÉBAØ^{ } } ÉÔÈÁQEGEDÈAT & @ cA/^&@ ã `^A\$JA&@ A', ^}c`ËØã•oA Ô^}c`¦^A\$P^, Ajæc@ æ^•ÈÓ[[{{ •à`¦^ÈA

/////@;/æjðr•Éxi ÇEDÉxi€ËIÌÈÉ<u>@ci</u>•KBAX[3È;|\*E®ci]•KBAX[3È;|\*EF€ÈF€Í|BAA{ (ÈEJJJÈEFÎC</u>Á

Áa^@æçā[¦Ĕ4Þ^`/[}Ê4Ű/̈ÇDÉÂGĖÉHÌĔ<u>4@@]•K568[ā‡;!\*⊕r∈ÈF∈FÎB0≩^`¦[}È÷∈FHÈEGÈ∈EÌ</u>Á

T`¦]@ÁÇÒåÈDÉEPæ}åà[[\Á;Á][¦Óæ)åÁ;^¦-{¦{ æ}&^Á;•^&@[[\*^ÁÇ]ÈAGFHËCHODÉÁ

U¢-{¦åÁV}ãç^¦•ãĉÁÚ¦^••ÈĂ@c]•KBBà[㇇¦\*BF€ÈÈHFI€BDÈÈÈHG¨IÉJGÍÁ

Öæ9@ÁÜLÉÆBÁØ1ãa^¦\*ÉÆDEÁÇGEEELDÉÖ¢]¦^∙•ãç^}^••Á(-, \*•ãããaa)qaÁa[å^Á([ç^{ ^}œA5)Á

-Á,^¦-{; { æ} &^•Á,} Á, æ lã, à æ ÉQ, ÁO ÉÓ° { č ¦ a fB ÁÕ ÉX [ |] ^ ÁÇÒå•ÈDÉÕ^•c` /^ Éaæ•^å #####

&{{{``}?#3&2ee##}}/\$#)/A@{{ee})E&[{]`c^:/#3#c^:/æ&c##}}A(J]EA`IJEI`IÎDDAÛ];#3;\*^;EA

 $\ddot{O} \approx @ E \dot{A} U E \dot{B} A \dot{A} a \dot{a} \wedge | * E \dot{A} U E \dot{A} Q = U \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \wedge | & \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A \rangle = a \dot{A} \wedge | & \langle A$ 

à[å^Á;[ç^{ ^}@ ĚV ˘•ã&ÁÚ^/&^]@[}ÊxốG'Ç DÉA HHË Í IĚA

<u>@va] • KBBå[ ㇠¦\* BF€ÈFÍ GÍ E⊉] ÈC€€Ë ÈCI Ě È HH</u>Á

Öæ(æ) 4, ÉKÜEÄÜÉRŐ¦æà[, •\467-KÉRÉRÓ^& @ ek æ ÉKÜEÄÜEÆ(æ) 4, ÉKÜEÄÜÉRÉKÉKÉKÉKÉKÉ RÉÉBÁP 3& @ æ ÉLÜÉÖÉÇEEEEEKÚ`à&[¦c38æ/ke)åk8[¦c38æ/ka}å&; æ 4, ÉKE A^) 4, A^^|- (# )^¦æe\åÅ {[c4], •ÉKP æč /^A P^`;[•& & A} @ 0, •KEE[E] 4, A^]; \*FEEEEEEÉEH 1, ÉD] 1 FÁ

Öæ)æ£ËSÈĞÇƏECFDÈÁW}^æsko@)\*Á% ([&æ)ÁÁdæ)•]æ/^}& `+KÁV@ Áðj&\*'¦ææði[}Á[Áo@ ÁTā]/^A X[3&^ÁT^cQ)åÁæ)åÁT3&@ee'|ÁÔ@ \Q!çÁc^&Q)ã`^ÈAX[3&^ÁBÁÚ]^^&QŰ/^ç&]ÊÁ FÍÇHDÉFFËCCÈŽ@<u>co]•KBDA[3ê;¦\*BF€ÈF€Ì€600-HCÎÌCÎHÈCECFÈFÌJÎCIÎ</u>ÁÖæ),ðjÊÉÔÈÄQFÌÌCDÈÁ V@LÁ¢]¦^••ða[}Á[-Ác@LÁ{[ca];}•Á§JÁ[æ)Áæ)åÁæ)ð[æ) ÆÖEÖ[ç^¦ÁÚ`à]&3ææða[}•ÈÁ

Öæçãå•[}ÉARÈÁÇƏEFGDĚÁO[å ậî Á; [ç^{ ^} ơ Ác) å Áæs8ãæd,Ás8aā;}•Ás) Á ¢]¦^••ãç^Á;`•ã8æd,Á ]^¦-{¦{ æ} &^Ásî Á:[[[Ác) å Ås`[Ás]•d`{ ^} cæpãrorkáV; [Ásiārcā) & cãç^Á&cč å ã •È Ú•^&@/[\*^Á; ÁT`•a8dÊA(€ÉÁ,JÍÉ:HHÈÁ@co]•KBA3[32; ¦\*BF€ÈEFÏÏBEHEÍÏHÍFG:IJÌJÌÁ

 $\ddot{A} = \dot{A} =$ 

\*^•c`;/^A()] È AGEÌ Ë BOGÎ DÊ AGE @? æe^ÁÚ` à |ã @3; \* Á Šãįã ^ å^å Á

@cd • KBBå[ å‡ ¦\* BF€È HG ÐÏ Ì FHFÍ €J F€€Î ËFHÁ

- Öæçãa•[}ÊARÈY ÈÁÇƏ €FDÈ V@ Á[|^Á, Áx@ Ási[å^ÁşiÁ@ Á;¦[å`&aā;}Ásə)åÁ;^¦&?]āţi}Á; Á; Á[|[Á ç[&aa¦A]+¦{ aa) & KÁQE& aa ^ Á č å^Á; ÁQE;} 8 & Ê ^} { & ČA`; 4 & ČAS } a & ČAŠ & ČAŠ & ČAŠ & ČAŠ & ČAŠ & ČAŠ CHÍËGÍÎÈÉ@ al MBB3[3È; |\* BF €ÈF FÏÏBF €GJÌÎI]J €F €€Í €€GSÊ

- Denscombe, M. (2014). *Good research guide: For small-scale social research projects*. Open University Press.
- DeSilva, B. (2016). A survey of the current State of contemporary commercial music (CCM) vocal pedagogy training at the graduate level [The Temple University].
- Diamond, L. (2012). The benefits of yoga in improving health. *Primary Health Care (through 2013)*, *22*(2), 16-19. https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/benefits-yoga-improving-health/docview/1017702828/se-2?accountid=15181
- Dickens, E. An introduction to Joan Littlewood's theatre practice. Retrieved 11 March 2022, from https://www.bl.uk/20th-century-literature/articles/an-introduction-to-joan-littlewoods-theatre-practice
- Dörr, E. (2003). Rudolf von Laban: The "founding father" of expressionist dance. Dance Chronicle, 26(1), 1-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1081/DNC-120018851</u>
- Dosemagen, D. M., & Schwalbach, E. M. (2019). Legitimacy of and value in action research. In C. Mertler (Ed.), *The Wiley handbook of action research in education* (pp. 161- 183). Wiley Blackwell. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119399490.ch8
- Eddy, M. H. (2002). Dance and somatic inquiry in studios and community dance programs. *Journal of Dance Education*, 2(4), 119-127. https://doi.org/10.1080/15290824.2002.10387220
- Edwards, M. (2014). *So you want to sing Rock 'n' Roll: A guide for professionals*. Rowman & Littlefield Publishers. <u>https://hdl.loc.gov/loc.gdc/cip.2021676855</u>
- Edwards, M. (2018). CCM verses musical theatre: A comparison. In M. Hoch (Ed.), So you want to sing CCM: A guide for performers (pp. 15-32). Rowman & Littlefield Publishers. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/yorkebooks/detail.action?docID=5306441
- Edwards, M., & Meyer, D. (2014). The future of collegiate voice pedagogy: SWOT analysis of current practice and implications for the next generation. *Journal of Singing*, *70*(4), 437–444.
- Ekman, P. (2009). Darwin's contributions to our understanding of emotional expressions. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences*, *364*(1535), 3449-3451. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2009.0189
- Enghauser, R. (2007). Developing listening bodies in the dance technique class. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, *78*(6), 33-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07303084.2007.10598039</u>

- Ewan, V., & Sagovsky, K. (2018). *Laban's efforts in action: A movement handbook for actors*. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Fahey, H. (2021). Stylistic pluralism and the experiences of classically trained teachers of singing in the Republic of Ireland. *International Journal of Music Education*, 39(3), 301-312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0255761421991247</u>
- Field, T. (2016). Yoga research review. *Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice*, 24, 145-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2016.06.005</u>
- Frith, S. (1996). Music and identity. In S. Hall & P. Du Gay (Eds.), *Questions of cultural Identity* (pp. 108-127). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Gibbs, G. (1988). Learning by doing [electronic resource]: A guide to teaching and learning methods. Graham Gibbs.
   https://thoughtsmostlyaboutlearning.files.wordpress.com/2015/12/learning-by-doing-graham-gibbs.pdf
- Gill, B. P., & Herbst, C. T. (2016). Voice pedagogy-what do we need? Logoped Phoniatr Vocol, 41(4), 168-173. https://doi.org/10.3109/14015439.2015.1079234
- Goodill, S. (2005). An introduction to medical dance/movement therapy: Health care in motion. Jessica Kingsley. https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=Rw4QBQAAQBAJ
- Gracyk, T. (1996). *Rhythm and noise: An aesthetics of rock*. Tauris. <u>https://books.google.com.jm/books?id=ajx6JwAACAAJ</u>
- Green, L. (2002). *How popular musicians learn: A way ahead for music education.* Ashgate.
- Green, L. (2008). *Music, informal learning and the school: A new classroom pedagogy*. Ashgate. <u>https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=Rr576f2DftkC</u>
- Gregg, M. J., Clark, T. W., & Hall, C. R. (2008). Seeing the sound: An exploration of the use of mental imagery by classical musicians. *Musicae Scientiae*, 12(2), 231–247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/102986490801200203</u>
- Groff, E. (1995). Laban movement analysis: Charting the ineffable domain of human movement. *Journal of Physical Education, Recreation & Dance*, *66*(2), 27.
- Grossberg, L. (2014). We gotta get out of this place: Popular conservatism and postmodern culture. Taylor & Francis. https://books.google.mn/books?id=2R\_KAgAAQBAJ
- Gutekunst, C., & Gillett, J. (2014). *Voice into acting: Integrating voice and the Stanislavski approach*. Bloomsbury Publishing. https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=pS9iAgAAQBAJ

- Hämäläinen, S. (2007). The meaning of bodily knowledge in a creative dance-making process. In L. Rouhiainen (Ed.), *Ways of knowing in dance and art* (pp.56-78). Theatre Academy.
- Hammond, M. *Rock and pop vocal training*. Retrieved 23 February 2022, from https://www.maryhammond.co.uk/rock-pop-vocal-training/
- Hanna, T. (1993). *The body of life: Creating new pathways for sensory awareness and fluid movement*. Healing Arts Press.
- Harris, T., & Howard, D. M. (2017). *The voice clinic handbook*. Compton Publishing Limited. <u>https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=Ct2gDAEACAAJ</u>
- Harrison, S. D., & O'Bryan, J. (Eds.). (2014). *Teaching singing in the 21st century*. Springer Science+Business Media.

Hartley, L., (2004). Somatic psychology: Body, mind and meaning. Whurr.

Haseman, B. (2006). A manifesto for performative research. *Media International Australia*, *118*(1), 98-106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1329878X0611800113</u>

Health Foundation. *The mental health crisis*. Retrieved 23 February 2022, from https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/news/latest-data-highlights-a-growing-mental-health-crisis-in-the-uk

Helmholtz, H. L. F. (1954). On the sensations of tone as a physiological basis for the theory of music, 2nd English ed. Dover Publications.

- Henson, & Zagorski-Thomas. (2019). Setting the agenda: Theorizing popular music education practice. In Z. Moir, B. Powell & G. Smith (Eds.), *The Bloomsbury handbook of popular music education: Perspectives and practices* (pp. 11-28). Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Hoch, M. (Ed.). (2018). So you want to sing CCM: A guide for performers. Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.
- Hughes, D. (2014). Contemporary vocal artistry in popular culture musics:Perceptions, observations and lived experiences. In S. Harrison & J. O'Bryan (Eds.), *Teaching singing in the 21st century* (pp. 287-302). Springer.
- Isherwood, M. (2014). Sounding out songwriting: An investigation into the teaching and assessment of songwriting in Higher Education. Higher Education Academy.
- Izard, C. E. (1993). Four systems for emotion activation: Cognitive and non-cognitive processes. *Psychological Revue, 100*(1), 68–90.
- Jacobson, E. (1930). Electrical measurements of neuromuscular states during mental activities. *American Journal of Physiology-Legacy Content*, *94*(1), 22-34.

https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplegacy.1930.94.1.22

James, W. (1884). What is an emotion? *Mind*, *9*(34), 188-205.

https://doi.org/10.1093/mind/os-IX.34.188

Judith, A. (2017). Chakra yoga. ADA Editions, Incorporated.

Johnston, K. (2019). Introducing yungblud, the IDGAF face of gen-Z rock'n'roll. GQ.

Juslin, P. N., & Laukka, P. (2004). Expression, perception, and induction of musical emotions: A review and a questionnaire study of everyday listening. *Journal of New Music Research*, *33*(3), 217-238.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0929821042000317813

- Kelley, K., Clark, B., Brown, V., & Sitzia, J. (2003). Good practice in the conduct and reporting of survey research. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 15(3), 261-266. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzg031
- Kershaw, B. (2009). Practice as research through performance. In H. D. Smith (Ed.),
   *Practice-led research, research-led practice in the creative arts* (pp. 104-125). Edinburgh University Press.
- Kestenberg Amighi, J., & Loman, S. S. K. (2018). *The meaning of movement: Embodied developmental, clinical, and cultural perspectives of the Kestenberg Movement Profile*. Routledge.
- King, E., & Waddington-Jones, C. (2018). Performers' perspectives on 'feel' in music.In N. Reyland & R. Thumpston (Eds.), *Music, analysis, and the body:Experiments, explorations, and embodiments.* Peeters.
- Klimek, M. M. D., Obert, K. B., Steinhauer, K., & Think Voice International (2005). *Estill voice training system: Compulsory figures for voice control.* Estill Voice Training Systems International.
- Koch, S., Kunz, T., Lykou, S., & Cruz, R. (2014). Effects of dance movement therapy and dance on health-related psychological outcomes: A meta-analysis. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, *41*(1), 46-64.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aip.2013.10.004

- Kolb, D. (1984). *Experiential learning as the science of learning and development*. Prentice Hall.
- Kopacz. (2003). Color in three-dimensional design. McGrawHill.
- Laban, R. (1950). *The mastery of movement*. Macdonald & Evans.
- Laban, R., & Lawrence, F. C. (1947). *Effort*. Macdonald & Evans.
- Laban, R., & Ullmann, L. (1968). *Modern educational dance*. Praeger.
- Laban Bartenieff Institute. Research and development. Retrieved 1 March 2022, from

https://labaninstitute.org/what-we-do/research-development/

- Laban Bartenieff Institute. *Rudolf Laban*. Retrieved 28 February 2022, from <u>https://labaninstitute.org/about/rudolf-laban/</u>
- Laird, J. D. (1974). Self-attribution of emotion: The effects of expressive behavior on the quality of emotional experience. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 29(4), 475-486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0036125</u>
- Laws, C. (2015). Embodiment and gesture in performance: Practice-led perspectives. In D. Crispin & B. Gilmore (Eds.), *Artistic experimentation in music: An anthology.* Leuven.
- Laws, C. (Ed.). (2020). Performance, subjectivity, and experimentation. Leuven.
- LeBorgne, W. (2018). Vocal health for the contemporary commercial music (CCM) singer. In M. Hoch (Ed.), *So you want to sing CCM: A guide for performers* (pp. 51-71). Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.
- Lee, H. (2019). *The perceived effects of specified singer gestures on singers' vowel production.* [PhD Thesis, Texas University].
- Lewin, K. (1946). Action research and minority problems. *Journal of Social Issues*, 2, 34–46.
- Liao, M.-Y., & Davidson, J. W. (2016). Enhancing gesture quality in young singers. *Music Education Research*, *18*(3), 283-294. https://doi.org/10.1080/14613808.2015.1060953
- Likert, R. (1932). A technique for the measurement of attitudes. *Archives of Psychology*, *22(140)*, 5-55.
- Linklater, K. (2006). Freeing the natural voice: Imagery and art in the practice of voice and language. Nick Hern.
- Loui, P., Bachorik, J., Li, H., & Schlaug, G. (2013). Effects of voice on emotional arousal. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *4*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00675</u>
- LoVetri, J. L., & Weekly, E. M. (2003). Contemporary commercial music (CCM) survey: Who's teaching what in nonclassical music. *Journal of Voice*, *17*(2), 207-215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0892-1997(03)00004-3</u>
- LoVetri, J. L., & Weekly, E. M. (2009). Follow-up contemporary commercial music (CCM) survey: Who's teaching what in nonclassical music. *Journal of Voice*, *23*(3), 367-375.
- Luckenchuk, A., & Kolich, E. (2013). Paradigms and educational research: Weaving the tapestry. *Counterpoints*, *436*, 61-87.
- Marrington, M. (2016). Frameworks and methods. In J. A. Williams & K. Williams

(Eds.), *The Cambridge companion to the singer-songwriter* (pp. 265-304). Cambridge University Press.

- Martin, K. A., & Hall, C. R. (1995). Using mental imagery to enhance intrinsic motivation. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, *17*(1), 54-69.
- McCormick, A., Meijen, C., & Marcora, S. (2015). Psychological determinants of whole-body endurance performance. *Sports Medicine*, *45*(7), 997-1015. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-015-0319-6
- McCoy, S. (2014). Singing pedagogy in the twenty-first century: A look toward the future. In S. D. Harrison & J. O'Bryan (Eds.), *Teaching singing in the 21st century* (pp. 13-20). Springer.

McIntyre, P. (2001). The domain of songwriters. Perfect Beat, 5(3), 100-111.

- McLeod, J. (2012). *Colours of the soul: Transform your life through colour therapy*. O-Books.
- McLeod, J. (2016). Colour therapy A-Z. Troubador.
- Michael Chekhov Acting Studio. *Michael Chekhov technique*. Retrieved 21 November 2021, from http://michaelchekhovactingstudio.com/philosophy.html
- Michaels, S. (2009, 17 March 2009). UK live music more profitable than record sales. *The Guardian*.
- Middleton, R. (1990). *Studying popular music*. Open University Press.
- Miller, R. (1996). On the art of singing. Oxford University Press.
- Moir, Z., & Hails, J. (2019). Sleepwalkers, beware: Toward a post-structuralist critique of popular music in higher education. In Z. Moir, B. Powell, & G. D. Smith (Eds.), *The Bloomsbury handbook of popular music education: Perspectives and* practices (pp. 203-218). Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Moir, Z., & Medbøe, H. (2015). Reframing popular music composition as performancecentred practice. *Journal of Music, Technology and Education,* 8(2), 147-161.
- Moore, A. (2002). Authenticity as authentication. *Popular Music*, 21(2), 209-223.
- Moore, A. F. (2010). The track. In A. Bayley (Ed.), *Recorded music: Performance, culture and technology* (Vol. 28, pp. 232-234). Cambridge University Press.
- Munroe-Chandler, K. J., & Guerrero, M. D. (2017) Psychological imagery in sport and performance. *Oxford research encyclopedia of psychology.* Retrieved 23 February 2021, from

https://oxfordre.com/psychology/view/10.1093/acrefore/9780190236557.001.0001 /acrefore-9780190236557-e-228.

Munzert, J., Lorey, B., & Zentgraf, K. (2009). Cognitive motor processes: The role of

motor imagery in the study of motor representations. *Brain Research Reviews*, *60*(2), 306-326. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresrev.2008.12.024</u>

- Nelson, R. (2013). *Practice as research in the arts: Principles, protocols, pedagogies, resistances.* Palgrave Macmillan.
- New York Times (1996, 19 May 1996). B. Meribeth-Jones dance therapist. *New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/1996/05/19/nyregion/b-meredith-jones- dance-therapist-87.html
- Newham, P. (1998). *Therapeutic voicework: Principles and practice for the use of singing as a therapy*. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Newlove Society. *Jean Newlove Biography*. Retrieved 9 March 2021, from https://www.jeannewlove.com/biography.php
- Noland, C. (2009). *Agency and embodiment: Performing gestures/producing culture*. Harvard University Press.
- O'Connor, Z. (2011). Colour psychology and colour therapy: Caveat emptor. *Color Research & Application*, 36(3), 229-234.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/col.20597

Office for National Statistics. *Student Health and Wellbeing*. Retrieved 20 February 2022, from

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/h ealthandwellbeing/bulletins/coronavirusandhighereducationstudents/england2 0novemberto25november2020

- Oram, D. (2015). Research and practice in voice studies: Searching for a methodology. *Voice and Speech Review*, 9(1), 15-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23268263.2015.1059674</u>
- Oram, D. (2020). The expressive voice in performance: Chekhov's techniques for voice and singing. In C. Fleming & T. Cornford (Eds.), *Michael Chekhov technique in the twenty-first century: New pathways.* Bloomsbury.
- Parker, S., Bharati, S. V., & Fernandez, M. (2013). Defining yoga-nidra: Traditional accounts, physiological research, and future directions. *International Journal of Yoga Therapy*, *23*(1), 11-16.
- Pawlak, R., Magarinos, A. M., Melchor, J., McEwen, B., & Strickland, S. (2003).
  Tissue plasminogen activator in the amygdala is critical for stress-induced anxiety-like behavior. *Nature Neuroscience*, *6*(2), 168-174.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/nn998
- Pears, D. (1972). What is knowledge? Essays in philosophy. Allen and Unwin.

Performance Science Centre for Performers' Health. Retrieved 20 February 2022, from https://performancescience.ac.uk/performershealth/

Petit, L. (2009). The Michael Chekhov handbook: For the actor. Taylor & Francis.

PEVOC. PEVOC. Retrieved 24 July 2021, from http://www.pevoc.org/about.php

- Pipe, E. (2018). The role of gesture and non-verbal communication in popular music performance, and Its application to curriculum and pedagogy.
   [PhD Thesis, University of West London].
- Pipe, L. (2019). 'I see you baby...': Expressive gesture in popular music pedagogy.
  In Z. Moir, B. Powell, & G. D. Smith (Eds.), *The Bloomsbury handbook of popular music education: Perspectives and practices* (pp. 321-326). Bloomsbury Publishing.

Polanyi, M. (2009). The tacit dimension. University of Chicago Press.

Powers, M. (1991). Michael Chekhov's chart for inspired acting. In M. Chekhov (Ed.), On the technique of acting (pp. ix-xliv). Harper Collins.

Preston-Dunlop, V. *Rudolf Laban*. Retrieved 23 February 2022, from https://www.trinitylaban.ac.uk/about- us/history/rudolf-laban/

- Project Hope. *The global mental health crisis*. Retrieved 20 February 2022, from https://www.projecthope.org/the-global-mental-health-crisis-10-numbers-to-note/10/2020/
- Rebay-Salisbury, K. (2013). *Embodied knowledge: Historical perspectives on belief and technology*. Oxbow.
- Redhead, S. (2019). *The end-of-the-century party: Youth, pop and the rise of Madchester*. Manchester University Press.
- REF. (2015). Research excellence framework 2014: Overview report by main panel D and sub-panels 27 to 36.

https://www.ref.ac.uk/2014/media/ref/content/expanel/member/Main%20Panel %20D%20overview%20report.pdf

- Reinhert, K. (2019). Singers in higher education: Teaching popular music vocalists. In
  Z. Moir, B. Powell, & G. D. Smith (Eds.), *The Bloomsbury handbook of popular music education: Perspectives and practices* (pp. 127-140). Bloomsbury Academic.
- Robson, C. (1996). *Real world research: A resource for social scientists and practitioner-researchers.* Blackwell.
- Rodenburg, P. (2015). *The right to speak: Working with the voice* (2nd ed.). Bloomsbury.

- Rubidge, S. (1996). Does authenticity matter? The case for and against authenticity in performing arts. In P. Campbell (Ed.), *Analysing performance* (pp. 219- 233).Manchester University Press.
- Rushe, S. (2019). *Michael Chekhov's acting technique: A practitioner's guide*. Bloomsbury Academic.

Sanchez-Colberg, A. (2012). Living philosophies: The dance-theatre legacy of Kurt Jooss and Pina Bausch [conference, Laban-fest]. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/236631310\_Living\_Philosophies\_the\_danc e-theatre legacy of Kurt Jooss and Pina Bausch

- Scherer, K. R., Sundberg, J., Fantini, B., Trznadel, S., & Eyben, F. (2017). The expression of emotion in the singing voice: Acoustic patterns in vocal performance. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *142*(4), 1805-1815. https://doi.org/10.1121/1.5002886
- Scherer, K. R., Sundberg, J., Tamarit, L., & Salomão, G. L. (2015). Comparing the acoustic expression of emotion in the speaking and the singing voice. *Computer Speech & Language*, 29(1), 218-235. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csl.2013.10.002</u>
- Schindler, M. (2014). The conservatorium environment: Reflections on the tertiary vocal setting past and present. In S. D. Harrison & J. O'Bryan (Eds.), *Teaching singing in the 21st century* (pp. 353-366). Springer Netherlands.
- Sell, K. (2017). *The disciplines of vocal pedagogy: Towards an holistic approach*. Taylor & Francis.
- Shafir, T. (2015). Movement-based strategies for emotion regulation. In M. L. Bryant (Ed.), Handbook on emotion regulation: Processes, cognitive effects and social consequences (pp. 231-249). Nova Science.
- Shafir, T., Taylor, S. F., Atkinson, A. P., Langenecker, S. A., & Zubieta, J.-K. (2013).
  Emotion regulation through execution, observation, and imagery of emotional movements. *Brain and Cognition*, *82*(2), 219-227.
  https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2013.03.001
- Shafir, T., Tsachor, R. P., & Welch, K. B. (2016). Emotion regulation through movement: Unique sets of movement characteristics are associated with and enhance basic emotions [Original Research]. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6(2030). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.02030</u>
- Shams, L., & Seitz, A. R. (2008). Benefits of multisensory learning. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *12*(11), 411-417.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2008.07.006

- Shimosako, H., & Ohgushi, K. (1996). Interaction between auditory and visual processing in impressional evaluation of a piano performance. *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, *100*, 2779-2779.
- Simos, M. (2017). The performing songwriter's dilemma. In J. A. Williams & K.Williams (Eds.), *The singer-songwriter handbook* (pp. 17-34).Bloomsbury Academic.

Slimani, M., Chamari, K., Boudhiba, D., & Chéour, F. (2016). Mediator and moderator variables of imagery use-motor learning and sport performance relationships: A narrative review. *Sport Sciences for Health*, *12*, 1-9. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4974856/

Smith, G. D., Moir, Z., Brennan, M., Rambarran, S., & Kirkman, P. (2017). *The Routledge research companion to popular music education*. Taylor & Francis.

- Somekh, B. (2006). *Action research: A methodology for change and development.* Open University Press.
- Spatz, B. (2015). *What a body can do: Technique as knowledge, practice as research.* Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Stanislavski, C. (2013). Creating a role. Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Stanislavski, K. (1988). An actor prepares (E. Reynolds, Trans.). Methuen Drama.
- Steinhauer, K. A. (2017). *The Estill voice model: Theory & translation.* Estill Voice International.
- Stewart, J. M., Karman, C., Montgomery, L. D., & McLeod, K. J. (2005). Plantar vibration improves leg fluid flow in perimenopausal women. *American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology*, 288(3), 623-629. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00513.2004</u>
- Strasberg, L. M. E. (1987). *A dream of passion: The development of the method.* Little Brown.
- Symon, G., & Cassell, C. (2012). *Qualitative organizational research: Core methods and current challenges*. SAGE Publications.
- Tanaka, S. (2011). The notion of embodied knowledge. In J. C. P. Stenner, J. Motzkau, J. Yen, Y. Haosheng (Eds.), *Theoretical psychology: Global transformations and challenges* (pp. 149-157). Captus Press.

Taylor, T. (1997). Global pop: World musics, world markets. Psychology Press.

Thomas, G. (2009). *How to do your research project: A guide to students in education and applied social sciences*. SAGE.

- Till, R. (2016). Singer-songwriter authenticity, the unconscious and emotions (feat. Adele's 'Someone Like You'). In J. A. Williams & K. Williams (Eds.), *The Cambridge companion to the singer-songwriter* (pp. 291-304). Cambridge University Press.
- Trinity Laban conservatoire of music and dance, *Marion North*. Retrieved 9 March 2021, from https://www.trinitylaban.ac.uk/about-us/history/marion-north/
- Tsachor, R. P., & Shafir, T. (2017). A somatic movement approach to fostering emotional resiliency through Laban movement analysis. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, *11*(410). <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2017.00410</u>
- University of York. *The University of York code of practice and principles for good ethical governance*. Retrieved 30 November 2021, from

https://www.york.ac.uk/staff/research/governance/research-policies/ethics-code/

- University of York. *The University of York code of practice on research integrity.* Retrieved 30 November 2021, from
  - https://www.york.ac.uk/staff/research/governance/research-policies/researchcode/#:~:text=The%20Code%20sets%20out%20the,fulfilment%20of%20appropri ate%20ethics%20procedures.
- Vadoa, E. A., Hall, C. R., & Moritz, S. E. (1997). The relationship between competitive anxiety and imagery use. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, *9*(2), 241-253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10413209708406485</u>
- Weinberg, R. (2008). Does imagery work? Effects on performance and mental skills. Journal of Imagery Research in Sport and Physical Activity, 3(1). <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.2202/1932-0191.1025</u>
- Whitney, B. (2021). William Forsythe. In *Encyclopedia Britannica*. online. https://www.britannica.com/biography/William-Forsythe
- Wiggins, J. (2007). Authentic practice and process in music teacher education. *Music Educators Journal*, *93*(3), 36-42. https://doi.org/10.1177/002743210709300318
- Williams, J. A., & Williams, K. (2017). *The singer-songwriter handbook.* Bloomsbury Academic.
- Willis, J. (2007). The neuroscience of joyful education. *Educational Leadership*, 64(9), 1-5.
- Wills, P. (2013). *Colour healing manual: The complete colour therapy programme Revised Edition*. Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Winter, D. *Lovetri*. Retrieved 2 May 2021, from <u>http://thevoiceworkshop.com/lovetri-bio/</u>

Yāj C\*¦ÉËÖĖĖÚ∕+;{;{ a); & A&; a&; @ 3\*ĚÜ ^ děl ç^å áFJÁT æ ÁČE }; }; / ÙÈCEČÉ ( Á <u>@ a] • KED; a&; [ :\ • @ ] ÈS; È \ Ð æË; [ ~^ • •ā; } æ‡Ë; | æcã&AË[ ^!-; -[ ^!-; 4]; a; & AËS; a&; @ 3\*Ë; !Ë ] ^!-; -[ ^!-; 4]; { ā; \* Éæcã; • ÉÁ</u>

- Y [[å^ælåÊÉÔÈÁÇGEFFDÈÉÒ¢] [[¦ð]\*Ás@Ás@¦æ]^`œ&A^~^&e^A[\*æbè)åÁse Ásælðjã£Át[Á ð]&¦^æ•^Á`ædaĉÁ[ÁAã^ÈÓQ¢'}}æaa[}ædAF?[`}ædA[~ÄŸ[\*æbÈA(ÇEDÉÁJÉ IÈÁ @cd]•KBBà[ðě;¦\*BF=BÈEJĨHÉË F=HBEJĨ HÉË FH=FÈLÍIÌÍÁ
- Y¦ði@EÁRHÉAOE;[ĭ¦ðiÆÁOHÉAOI[•OEÁT HÉABÁP[~{ að}}ÉAÚEÁQCEGEQEDÁAÚĭ]][¦dði\*Áæ&ææå^{ 88.Á √^^å[{ Áæe ÁæÁ@ { aði Áði @HAÓ @ade|^}\*^•ÁæðiåÁ\*[|ĭdāi}•Áði Áæ&ææå^{ 88.Áj`à|ãi @ði\* ÉAV@OÁ Ø,c^¦}ææði}}adeAfaŢĭ¦}ædAfa(AP`{ aði AŰði @reÊACÎ OF;€EDÉAFÏI FEFÏÎ €EÁ <u>@cd</u>•HEDAS[<u>84</u>‡;<u>\*</u>EFFEÉ] €EEFHÎ IGUÌÏÊCE€CEDEEÌÌÍ GE</u>ÁÁ